
Forde House
Newton Abbot
Telephone No: 01626 215112

Contact Officer Trish Corns
E-mail: comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk

12 January 2018

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Dear Councillor

You are invited to a meeting of the above Committee which will take place on Tuesday, 
23rd January, 2018 in the Council Chamber, Forde House, Brunel Road, Newton Abbot, 
TQ12 4XX at 10.00 am

Yours sincerely

NEIL AGGETT
Democratic Services Manager

Distribution: Councillors Smith (Chairman), Kerswell (Vice-Chairman), Austen, 
Bullivant, Clarance, Colclough, Dennis, Fusco, Hayes, 
Mrs Hook (was Brodie), Jones, Keeling, Mayne, Nutley, Orme, 
Parker, Pilkington, Prowse, Rollason, Winsor and Connett (Reserve)

Substitutes:  Councillors Dewhirst, Golder, Haines, Hocking, Russell and Thorne

The Members of the Planning Committee as named below:
A link to the agenda on the Council's website is emailed to:
(1) All other Members of the Council
(2) Representatives of the Press 
(3) Requesting Town and Parish Councils 

If Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination or interests in items 
on this Agenda, please contact the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A 

PART I
(Open to the Public)

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Confirmation of the Minutes of the previous meeting 

3. Agreement of the Meeting between Parts I and II. 

4. Matters of urgency/report  especially brought forward forward with the permission of 
the Chairman. 

5. Declarations of Interest. 

6. Public Participation - the Chairman to advise the Committee on any requests 
received from members of the public to address the Committee. 

Note: A public participation feedback survey will be available at the meeting. Public 
speakers are invited to complete and return this form. The survey form is also 
available by contacting comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk 
 

7. Planning Applications for Consideration 

Note: On 6 May 2014 the Council adopted the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013–2033.  
The Local Plan now has full development plan status and applications must be 
determined in accordance with the Local plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.

Members are reminded that on 15 January 2012 Section 143 of the Localism Act 
2011 came into force.  This section provides that when determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities shall have regard to: 

(a)  The provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application; 
(b)  Any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application; and 
(c)  Any other material considerations.  

In this context ‘local finance considerations’ means grant or other financial 
assistance that has been, or will or could be provided by central Government or 
sums that a relevant authority, such as Teignbridge District Council has received, or 
will or could receive in payment of Community Infrastructure Levy.

On 13 October 2014 the Council introduced the Community Infrastructure Levy (or 
CIL) following the approval of the CIL Charging Schedule by the Independent 
Examiner in April 2014 and adoption by Full Council on 31 July 2014.  CIL replaces 
Section 106 Agreements for the funding of infrastructure requirements arising from 
retail and residential developments.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) came into effect on 27 March 

mailto:comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk


2012 and its provisions constitute material considerations which carry weight in the 
determination of planning applications.  However the Local Plan was prepared in 
accordance with the NPPF and accordingly there should not be significant 
divergence between the policies of the Local Plan and the NPPF.  Again, the Local 
Plan has primacy in determining applications.
 
Each report will give details of the relevant Local Plan policies and the relevant 
material considerations and the weight to be given to them.

 Any representations received after the preparation of the reports will be included in 
the late representations update sheet which has a deadline of noon on the Friday 
before Committee.

All planning documents can be viewed at  www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningonline.
a) NEWTON ABBOT 17/02793/FUL, Waste Bulking Station, Brunel Road - 

Demolition of existing pre-cast concrete silo and erection of new portal framed 
unit to house new sort line and baler equipment (Pages 1 - 6)

b) TEIGNMOUTH - 17/02668/FUL - 44 Higher Brimley Road - Change of use of 
dwelling to HMO (House in Multiple Occupation) (Pages 7 - 14)

c) STARCROSS 17/02632/FUL, 9 Royal Way - Two storey extension and 
conversion of integral garage into a study (Pages 15 - 20)

d) STARCROSS 17/02727/FUL - Brickhouse Farm Barn, Mamhead - Conversion 
of storage barn to wedding/function venue including new access track, 
associated parking and landscaping (Pages 21 - 36)

e) STARCROSS 17/02759/LBC - Brickhouse Farm Barn, Mamhead - Conversion 
works to storage barn to use as wedding/function venue including new access 
track, associated parking and landscaping (Pages 37 - 48)

f) WOODLAND 17/02827/FUL, Chardonnay - Extension to existing authorised 
gypsy site to provide two additional, pitches (Pages 49 - 60)

8. Adoption of Criteria for Assessment of Local Heritage Assets - Register for Local 
Heritage Assets (Pages 61 - 70)
To consider the adoption of Criteria for Assessment for Local Heritage Assets and to 
commence preparation of a Register for Local Heritage Assets

9. Appeal Decisions (Pages 71 - 72)

10. Teignbridge Residential Design Guide (Pages 73 - 260)
To consider the draft Teignbridge Design Guide SPD and to approve it for
consultation purposes.

PART ll (Private)
Items which may be taken in the absence of the Public and Press on grounds that 
Exempt Information may be disclosed.

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planningonline


FOR INFORMATION:
Future meetings of the Committee 
26 September, 24 October, 21 November, 19 December 2017.
23 January, 20 February, 20 March, 17 April, 15 May 2018. 

Dates of site inspections 
Team 1 - 5 October 2017, 4 January, 29 March 2018
Chairman, Vice Chairman and Cllrs: Bullivant, Colclough, Hayes, Nutley, Price and 
Rollason

Team 2 - 12 November 2017, 1 February, 26 April, 2018
Chairman, Vice Chairman and Cllrs: Brodie, Dennis, Jones, Mayne, Orme, Parker 

Team 3 - 7 September, 30 November 2017, 1 March, 24 May 2018
Chairman, Vice Chairman and Cllrs: Austen, Clarance, Fusco, Keeling, Pilkington, 
Prowse and Winsor

APPENDIX 1
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972
(Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985)

List of Background Papers relating to the various items of reports as set out in 
Part I of the Agenda

As relevant or appropriate:
1. Applications, Forms and Plans.
2. Correspondence/Consultation with interested parties.
3. Structure Plan Documents.
4. Local Plan Documents.
5. Local/Topic Reports.
6. Central Government Legislation.



PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT
23 January 2018
CHAIRMAN:  Cllr Dennis Smith

APPLICATION FOR
CONSIDERATION:

NEWTON ABBOT - 17/02793/FUL - Waste Bulking Station,
Brunel Road - Demolition of existing pre-cast concrete silo
and erection of new portal framed unit to house new sort
line and baler equipment

APPLICANT: Teignbridge District Council

CASE OFFICER Ian Perry

WARD MEMBERS: Councillor J Hook
Councillor Hayes

Bushell

VIEW PLANNING FILE: https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-
details/?Type=Application&Refval=17/02793/FUL&MN

1

Agenda Item 7a



Based upon Ordnance Survey Material with Permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Teignbridge District Council 100024292

1:1,250Scale:

17/02793/FUL WASTE BULKING STATION BRUNEL ROAD
NEWTON ABBOT TQ12 4AG

´ 2



1. REASON FOR REPORT

Teignbridge District Council is the applicant.

2. RECOMMENDATION

PERMISSION BE GRANTED subject to the following conditions:
1. Standard 3 year time limit for implementation
2. Development to proceed in accordance with the approved plans

3. DESCRIPTION

3.1 The site is located on the Brunel Industrial Estate and forms part of the bulking and
recycling centre. The particular part of the facility under consideration is to the left
of the access road and relates to a series of largely open silos. Each silo is used for
a different recyclable material.

3.2 At present only silo number 4 which is double width and houses card is covered.

3.3 The proposal seeks the extension of the area of covered silo to include bay 5. This
is shown in the proposed section below:

3.4 This will allow for the introduction of a new baler and sorting equipment which can
be kept under cover and protected from the elements.

3.5 The new structure will be at the same height as the existing which is 6.8 metres
from slab to highest point and has a floor area that measures 5.5 metres x 18.5
metres.

3.6 Some re-use of existing materials will occur with any new materials needed
matching the existing which is metal portal frame with corrugated roofing and metal
vertical cladding.

3.7 Visually there will be some additional impact from extending the covered area but
this is largely only visible from within the site and the adjacent car park which
serves Forde House. It is not considered that the proposals would have an impact
upon the setting of Old Forde House. On balance the visual impact is not
considered to be significant and is acceptable. The application has not attracted
any objection from consultees nor the Town Council.

3



3.8 An objection has been lodged by a member of the public in relation to the potential
for the site to house bats or be used by bats. Following consultation with the
Council’s Biodiversity Officer it is concluded that the proposals are unlikely to have
a negative impact on wildlife.

3.9 The area is completely built up with the affected silo and shed being built of cast
concrete and sheet metal providing no bat roosting opportunities and there is no
vegetation around the site that could generate insect prey. In addition light sensitive
species, such as greater horseshoe bats, are likely to be deterred from using this
area by the current level of lighting here. No additional lighting is proposed, so there
will be no impact on the darkness of the Aller Brook corridor.

3.10 It is therefore considered that the proposals would have a limited impact upon the
character of the area and are acceptable.

4. POLICY DOCUMENTS

Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033
S1 (Sustainable Development Criteria)
S2 (Quality Development)
S5 (Infrastructure)
EN8 (Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement)

National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Practice Guidance

Newton Abbot Neighbourhood Plan
NANDP2 - Quality of Design
NANDP3 - Natural Environment and Biodiversity

5. CONSULTEES

Environmental Health (Contaminated Land) - No objections

Biodiversity Officer – This area of the industrial estate has minimal potential to
provide bat habitat or roosting. It is considered the proposal is unlikely to have any
negative impact on bats or other wildlife.

6. REPRESENTATIONS

To date one letter of representation has been received which notes that the
development may have implications for bats

7. TOWN COUNCIL’S COMMENTS

No objections

8. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

The CIL liability for this development is Nil as the CIL rate for this type of
development is Nil and therefore no CIL is payable.

4



9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Due to its scale, nature and location this development will not have significant
effects on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA Development.

Business Manager – Strategic Place

5



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT
23 January 2018
CHAIRMAN:  Cllr Dennis Smith

APPLICATION FOR
CONSIDERATION:

TEIGNMOUTH - 17/02668/FUL - 44 Higher Brimley Road -
Change of use of dwelling to HMO (House in Multiple
Occupation)

APPLICANT: Dr O Nawoj

CASE OFFICER Estelle Smith

WARD MEMBERS: Councillor Eden
Councillor Orme

Teignmouth Central

VIEW PLANNING FILE: https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-
details/?Type=Application&Refval=17/02668/FUL&MN

7

Agenda Item 7b



Based upon Ordnance Survey Material with Permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Teignbridge District Council 100024292

1:1,250Scale:

17/02668/FUL 44 HIGHER BRIMLEY ROAD
TEIGNMOUTH TQ14 8JU

´ 8



1. REASON FOR REPORT

Councillor Orme has requested that this application be considered by Planning
Committee for the reasons set out in the Town Council's comments.

2. RECOMMENDATION

PERMISSION BE GRANTED subject to the following conditions:
1. Standard 3 year time limit for commencement
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with approved plans
3. Precise details of all boundary treatments to be agreed
4. Maximum of 9 residents including a resident manager to occupy the property at any

one time
5. Bin storage and management details in accordance with refuse strategy statement

3. DESCRIPTION

3.1 Teignbridge Local Plan Policy S1A (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development) sets the criteria against which all proposals will be expected to
perform well.  It advises that the Local Planning Authority should take into account
whether the adverse impacts of granting permission would outweigh the benefits of
the development.

3.2 Members may be aware that a previous application, reference 17/01117/FUL
(Change of Use from dwelling to HMO (house in multiple occupation)) was refused
under delegated powers on 17 July 2017 for the following reasons:

1. The proposal fails to demonstrate suitable waste management arrangements for the
site, which could lead to adverse impact on the streetscene and consequently the
setting of the adjoining listed building, contrary to Policies S1 (Sustainable
Development Criteria), S2 (Quality Development) and EN5 (Heritage Assets) of the
Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033; and,

2. The proposal would fail to secure a good standard of amenity for the future
occupiers of the site and of existing adjacent occupiers at 42 and 46 Higher Brimley
Road contrary to paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy Framework and
Policies S1 (Sustainable Development Criteria) and S2 (Quality Development) of
the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033.

This application seeks to overcome these reasons for refusal.

3.3 The application site is a three storey, mid-terraced house, set in row of three
residential properties.  The adjoining dwelling to the south is Grade II listed. Both
adjoining dwellings are two storey. The site is not within a Conservation Area but it
is within the defined Settlement Limit wherein residential development is supported
in principle.

3.4 The proposal seeks to convert this large property to a House in Multiple Occupation
(HMO) with 9 letting rooms.  The supporting statement advises that whilst no
parking is proposed it is in a sustainable location, within walking distance of public
transportation (rail, bus and taxi services) and within walking and cycling distance of
the Town Centre of Teignmouth with its services and amenities.  No external

9



alterations are proposed and private amenity space is available on site within which
no new structures are proposed. Therefore its outward appearance will not
change, only be enhanced through refurbishment.

3.5 The internal layout of the property is unconventional, having a front door (shown on
the “Street Level Plan") leading directly onto a staircase which runs down into the
lower ground floor accommodation (Ground Floor Plan) which in turn gives access
from a utility room and also a kitchen room out into the garden and another
staircase giving access to all three floors. A revised plan has been received
showing a rear access route which runs between the attached house to the north
and its neighbour down to the garden level and through an existing outbuilding
shown as a bicycle store into the garden proper.

3.6 The garden area is relatively small, smaller than the footprint of the application
building: however, a large tree, which previously covered approximately half of that
available garden area, has been removed since the previous application was
determined.

3.7 The proposed 9 letting rooms comprise:

 Three bedrooms on the ground floor, 2 of which have their own w.c.s and one has
use of a separate w.c..  All three have cooking facilities.

 Two rooms on the first floor which are en-suite and there is a separate
kitchen/dining area and a separate shower room.

 Four bedrooms on the second floor, one of which is en-suite, together with a
separate shower room.

3.8 The application has been revised since submission and is now also supported by a
Street Level Plan which illustrates a bin storage area accessed through the front
doorway, which is not proposed to be altered. A layout/block plan showing the
extent of the site and position of the side access lane is also included, together with
a signed Certificate giving notice to the landowner of 48 Higher Brimley Road.

3.9 It is considered that the waste management issues have been addressed. The
application includes a Refuse Strategy Statement that identifies that the
responsibility to ensure that the bins are taken to and returned from a collection
point each week would that of the resident Property Manager.  It has been
demonstrated that the site can store the requisite waste wheelie bins and boxes
and the proposed new facility is supported by the Council’s Waste Management
section.

3.10 It is considered that the amenity space issues have in part been addressed as the
rear garden area is no longer dominated or overshadowed by the large tree which
existed at the time of the last application and, in addition, this application is now
supported by a block plan which shows a rear access point, existing outbuildings
for storage and cycle storage and sufficient space for washing lines as well as
sufficient outside amenity space for its occupants within the terraced garden area.

3.11 A 1.7 metres high rear fence is proposed which will prevent the occupants of
properties to the rear being overlooked at close quarters from the rear garden area,
and side neighbours are unlikely to be detrimentally affected due to the position of
those existing outbuildings and boundary walls. However, a condition is
recommended to further protect and enhance the boundaries to prevent noise and

10



any overlooking issues from the garden. It should be noted that the occupiers of
the neighboring properties are overlooked to some extent by the rear windows at
present.

3.12 It should be noted that, as the site is in a sustainable location with regard to access
public transport, shops and services, no off-street parking would be required for the
proposal.

3.13 It is considered that this application has overcome the previous reasons for refusal
and that planning permission should therefore be granted.

4. POLICY DOCUMENTS

Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033
S1A (Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development)
S1 (Sustainable Development Criteria)
S2 (Quality Development)
S21A (Settlement Limits)
EN5 (Heritage Assets)

National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Practice Guidance

5. CONSULTEES

Cleansing and Market Services (Waste) - Following additional information being
provided by the developer of this site, I am happy that the waste and recycling
requirements are now being met for the site.

Housing Services - Since I responded to the original Planning Consultation on the
15 June 2017 there would appear to have been a few amendments to the scheme
to ensure that the room sizes comply with our minimum adopted space standard of
10 square metres for bed-sitting rooms with no communal lounge area and the
addition of a sprinkler system covering the kitchen area and means of escape.

Generally, having a means of escape through a room of 'high risk' such as a kitchen
is not deemed acceptable, however the installation of the sprinkler system may
partly mitigate this and would be reflected in the fire risk assessment for the
building. However, I would suggest that you consult Devon and Somerset Fire and
Rescue Service and get their comments on this issue.

I trust that this explains the situation from a housing perspective for a property that
would require a mandatory licence as a House in Multiple Occupation and would
therefore ask that you keep me informed of progress with this application.

Fire Safety Officer (South Devon Group) - We have no objections in principle to the
change of use of the building to a HMO, however we await the full Building
Regulations application to comment on the suitability of the scheme in regards to
compliance with the Approved Document B and the Regulatory Reform (Fire
Safety) Order 2005.

11



Tree Officer - There are no arboricultural objections to the application as no
significant trees within or adjacent to the proposal will be adversely affected.

Devon County Council (Highways) - Comments awaited.

6. REPRESENTATIONS

23 objections received raising the following points:
1. Lack of existing parking in road
2. Area already congested
3. Unsuitable for young professionals (lack of private bathrooms, small rooms,

communal areas small)
4. Overdevelopment of site
5. No provision of a fire escape
6. Overbearing effect of so many occupiers on immediate neighbours
7. Noise impacts
8. Bin storage proposals on highway unhygienic and detrimental to visual amenity
9. Existing residents' parking scheme has not been successful
10.Should be 3 flats
11.Outside the residents' parking area
12.More cars will restrict access for emergency vehicles
13.Overlooking to rear
14.Light pollution
15.Fire risk – lack of clear evacuation route
16.Pavement too narrow
17.How will in-house property manager manage the house?
18.Use is out of character with area
19.Not much change since previous refusal
20.No more than hostel accommodation
21. Impact on adjoining listed building (forms part of it)
22.Poor access
23.Does not conform to Fire Regulations/Building Regulations
24.Not sustainable development
25.Poor standard of amenity for occupants
26.Recycling problems (lack of recycling leading to unemptied bins)
27.Should be a planning condition regarding an on-site caretaker
28.Should be a temporary use
29.Permitted Development Rights should be removed for replacement windows, etc.
30.Should be housing for key workers
31.Double units (18 residents) is too high a density
32.Does not meet minimum standards

7. TOWN COUNCIL’S COMMENTS

After considerable discussion the Committee recommended that the case officer
and Teignbridge District Council Planning Committee refuse this application
because:

1. In proposed drawings 27-02-17 (ground floor No. 2017-HB02-04/ (first floor No.
2017- HB02-05)/ (second floor No. (2017-BH02-06) all show the studio rooms
with double beds measuring 1525 x 1980.  This indicates that the applicant is
expecting up to 18 residents within the property at any given time.

12



2. An e-mail with the application document mentions (10 October 2017 and 26
October 2017) “for a HMO for 9 residents, we would look to supply 2 x 180 litres
bins, 2 x 55 litres green boxes, 2 x 55 litres black boxes and 2 x 23 litres food
waste caddies”.

3. The Committee are disappointed that a discrepancy in the likely number of
residents in the premises and the request for information regarding waste bin
containers for only 9 residents appear to be misleading.  The proposed drawing
(2017-HB02-04) showing the bin store would be totally inadequate for this
application.

The committee strongly recommends refusal

8. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

The CIL liability for this development is Nil as the CIL rate for this type of
development is Nil and therefore no CIL is payable.

9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Due to its scale, nature and location this development will not have significant
effects on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA Development.

Business Manager – Strategic Place

13



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT
23 January 2018
CHAIRMAN:  Cllr Dennis Smith

APPLICATION FOR
CONSIDERATION:

STARCROSS - 17/02632/FUL - 9 Royal Way - Two storey
extension and conversion of integral garage into a study

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs M Pallant

CASE OFFICER Anna Mooney

WARD MEMBERS: Councillor Connett Kenton With Starcross

VIEW PLANNING FILE: https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-
details/?Type=Application&Refval=17/02632/FUL&MN

15

Agenda Item 7c



Based upon Ordnance Survey Material with Permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Teignbridge District Council 100024292

1:1,250Scale:

17/02632/FUL 9 ROYAL WAY STARCROSS EX6 8EQ

´ 16



1. REASON FOR REPORT

Councillor Connett due has requested Committee determination as the extension
will change the street scene of this ‘stepped’ development overlooking the A379
and Exe Estuary. In addition, it includes the conversion of the existing garage space
with the potential (either for the current occupants or future residents) to require on-
street parking in an area where there is limited on street capacity.

2. RECOMMENDATION

PERMISSION BE GRANTED subject to the following conditions:
1. Standard 3 year time limit for commencement
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with approved plans
3. Unsuspected contamination

3. DESCRIPTION

3.1 The application site falls within the settlement limit for Starcross, as depicted on the
Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033 Proposals Map.

3.2 The application seeks planning permission for a two storey extension to the rear
(south east) and conversion of the integral garage.

3.3 The key issues in the consideration of this application relate to:
 Sustainability/principle of the development
 Design/visual impact of the development on the immediate and wider

locality
 The effect of the proposal on residential amenity
 Impact on the setting of Listed Buildings
 Parking/highway safety

Sustainability/principle of the development

3.4 Policies S1A, S1, and WE8 of the Teignbridge Local Plan are permissive of
domestic extensions on existing residential properties, subject to policy criteria
being met. Therefore the principle of development can be acceptable, subject to
compliance with other relevant Local Plan policies.

Design/visual impact of the development on the immediate and wider locality

3.5 The application site is situated in a prominent location at the junction of Royal Way
with the main highway through Starcross.  The rear of the application dwelling, in
common with its attached neighbours, is very visible at this junction.  The proposed
rear extension (south east) will be similarly visible.

3.6 The application dwelling and its near neighbours presents a unified appearance,
when viewed from the highway to the east, despite mixed design styles and heights.
This unified appearance is to a large extent achieved by the use of matching
materials.

17



3.7 The proposed rear extension is considered to blend in with the mixed design style
and will adhere to materials to match the existing dwelling and the neighbouring
dwellings.  The proposals are therefore considered to be in keeping with the style
and appearance of the existing dwelling and the character of the area.

3.8 Materials are specified as:
 Brick to the front elevation to match existing dwelling
 Brick to the ground floor of the rear extension to match existing dwelling
 Render to the first floor of the extension to match existing dwelling
 Roof tiles and brown UPVC windows, both to match the existing dwelling

Residential amenity

3.9 A letter of representation has raised concerns about overlooking of 7 Royal Way.
Windows in the proposed extension will necessarily project further to the rear.
However, with rear windows and with no side-facing windows, the fenestration
continues to be that typical of terraced housing and is not considered to give rise to
any unacceptable overlooking to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings.

3.10 Whilst it is acknowledged that the garden area will be reduced, the remaining
garden area is considered to be of sufficient size and similar to many nearby
dwellings that have a relatively small garden area.

3.11 The proposals are not considered to constitute overdevelopment.

3.12 Overall, with the benefit of the planning conditions, the proposals are considered to
comply with Policy WE8 (Domestic Extensions, Ancillary Domestic Curtilage
Buildings and Boundary Treatments) of the Teignbridge Local Plan.

Impact upon setting of listed buildings

3.13 In coming to this decision the Council must be mindful of the duty as set out in
section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the listed building, its setting
and features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and
have given it considerable importance and weight in the planning balance.

3.14 Policy EN5 (Heritage Assets) of the Teignbridge Local Plan required the protection
and enhancement of the area’s heritage.

3.15 There is a terrace of listed buildings (Grade II, Alexandra Terrace) approximately 65
metres to the north.  Due to the distance to these listed buildings the proposals are
not considered to have any unacceptable adverse impact on the setting of these
listed buildings. The proposals are therefore considered to comply with the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy EN5 of the
Teignbridge Local Plan.

Parking/Highway safety

3.16 The proposals include the conversion of the integral garage to living
accommodation. No changes are proposed to the current off-road parking to the
front (north/west) of the dwelling.  At the time of the site visit this area was

18



accommodating two vehicles which is considered to be an adequate provision for
the dwelling. The loss of the garage would not therefore leave the dwelling with
insufficient car-parking facilities.

3.17 No changes are proposed to the highway access.

Summary and conclusion

3.18 The Planning Act, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Policy S1A
of the Teignbridge Local Plan require that applications for planning permission must
be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

3.19 It is considered that this proposal complies with Policies WE8 and EN5 and is not
considered to be contrary to other relevant policies within the Local Plan. It is
therefore concluded that the proposal is acceptable and the application should be
approved subject to the recommended conditions.

4. POLICY DOCUMENTS

Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033
S1A (Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development)
S1 (Sustainable Development Criteria)
S2 (Quality Development)
WE8 (Domestic Extensions, Ancillary Domestic Curtilage Buildings and Boundary
Treatments)
EN5 (Heritage Assets)

National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Practice Guidance

5. CONSULTEES

South West Water - Informative required.

Environmental Health - Unsuspected contamination condition required.

6. REPRESENTATIONS

One letter of objection received raising the following points:
1. Design not in keeping with the character of the existing dwelling
2. Design not in keeping with area/adversely impacts appearance of street scene
3. Proposal represents overdevelopment
4. Overlooking to garden of neighbour to the south/west (7 Royal Way)
5. Loss of garden space
6. Loss of off-road parking

7. PARISH COUNCIL’S COMMENTS

Starcross Parish Council has no objections to this application. However, members
wish to make the observation that the car parking spaces for this property will be
reduced from two to one and that this property is on a flood plain.

19



8. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

This development is not liable for CIL because it is less than 100m2 of new build
that does not result in the creation of a dwelling.

9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Due to its scale, nature and location this development will not have significant
effects on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA Development.

Business Manager – Strategic Place

20



PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT
23 January 2018
CHAIRMAN:  Cllr Dennis Smith

APPLICATION FOR
CONSIDERATION:

STARCROSS - 17/02727/FUL - Brickhouse Farm Barn,
Mamhead - Conversion of storage barn to
wedding/function venue including new access track,
associated parking and landscaping

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Szczepura

CASE OFFICER Claire Boobier

WARD MEMBERS: Councillor Connett Kenton With Starcross

VIEW PLANNING FILE: https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-
details/?Type=Application&Refval=17/02727/FUL&MN

21

Agenda Item 7d



Based upon Ordnance Survey Material with Permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Teignbridge District Council 100024292

1:2,500Scale:

17/02727/FUL & 17/02759/LBC BRICKHOUSE FARM BARN
 MAMHEAD EX6 8HP

´ 22



1. REASON FOR REPORT

Councillor Connett has requested that the application be referred to Planning
Committee if the Case Officer is recommending refusal.

The reason given for this request is that the proposal supports the rural economy, is
compatible with the rural environment, and supports a developing local business
with the potential to create additional employment.  The application provides a use
for currently under-used/redundant former farm buildings.

2. RECOMMENDATION

PERMISSION BE REFUSED for the following reason:

The proposed development would be likely to result in a material increase in the
volume of traffic entering and leaving the Class C County Road through a junction
which does not provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles, contrary
to paragraph 32 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S1A and
S1 of the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033.

3. DESCRIPTION

The Site

3.1 The site relates to the Grade II* Listed property Brick House and the adjacent
Grade II Listed barn (the subject of this application).

3.2 The house is situated on land rising from the Exe Estuary approximately 3km to the
east of Great Haldon.  Exeter is approximately 10km to the north.  The closest
defined settlements in the Teignbridge Local Plan to the site are Kenton to the north
east and Starcross to the west.  The site lies within an Area of Great Landscape
Value.

3.3 Brickhouse has a substantial history and is of great historic merit.  The house was
built in the early years of the 18th century and was a feature of many paintings by
Reverend John Swete.

3.4 The house is built across a relatively steep hill and faces south onto a lawned
garden on a terrace built up in front of the house.  The property of Oakridge Farm
lies to the north, whilst the property of Home Farm Cottages lie to the far west.  The
house and grounds are predominantly surrounded by open countryside, with an
existing access track situated to the immediate south.  The existing driveway
passes by the east side of the garden and the east side of the house, continuing to
flatter land a short distance north of the house.

3.5 A large 18th century brick barn (the subject of this application) is built down the
hillslope along the west side of the top end of the drive.  This forms the east side of
a former farmyard a short distance to the rear of the house.  This is now a cobbled
yard, which is enclosed on three sides by stone rubble and brick walls, and with a
gateway in the south side alongside the barn.

23



3.6 Previously planning permission and listed building consent was granted under
consent reference 16/01299/FUL and 16/01300/LBC for replacement side and rear
extensions and the conversion of the barn to two units of holiday accommodation.
At the time of the Case Officer's visit the works to the building which were granted
consent under these applications was being undertaken.

Proposal

3.7 The Planning Statement submitted with this application sets out that the owners
have now reconsidered their business plan and have decided to focus on the
vineyard and expansion of their events business at the site, rather than investing in
holiday accommodation.  The proposal in this application is sought to complement
the use of the attached round house development and seeks to complement the
use of the round house (horse gin) attached to the barn which was granted a
change of use under consent 16/02646/COU for a change from agricultural use to a
venue for wine tasting and food courses and this consent also included an increase
in the size of the existing parking area.

3.8 This application seeks consent for the conversion of the barn to a wedding/function
venue including new access track, associated parking and landscaping.

Principle of Development

3.9 The application site is located outside a designated settlement on land designated
as Countryside in the Teignbridge Local Plan.  The relevant policies in relation to
the principle and sustainability of the proposed change of use and associated new
access track, parking and landscaping works are S1A, S1, S22 and EC3 of the
Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033.

3.10 Under Local Plan Policy S22, development in open countryside is to be strictly
managed but it does allow for business and leisure and tourist uses which will
support a resilient rural economy.  This is subject to account being taken of matters
such as the distinctive characteristics and landscape qualities of the area and
impact on travel patterns arising from the scale of development proposed.

3.11 Policy S1 sets out various sustainability criteria which such proposals should be
assessed against.  This reflects the thrust of government policy set out in the
National Planning Policy Framework to support sustainable rural tourism and
leisure developments that benefit businesses in rural areas, communities and
visitors, and which respect the character of the countryside.

3.12 Policy EC3 (Rural Employment) is intended to support the rural economy by
allowing business development in open countryside where this involves a change of
use or conversion of a permanent and soundly-constructed building.  This is
provided that:

 The scale of employment is appropriate to the accessibility of the site by public
transport, cycling and walking and the standard of highways, and would improve the
balance of jobs to working age population within the immediate vicinity.

 Proposals respect the character and qualities of the landscape and the setting of
any affected settlement or protected landscape and include effective mitigation
measures to avoid adverse effects or minimise them to acceptable levels.

24



 Changes to an existing building of historic interest or character sensitively retain its
interest, character and appearance.

3.13 The proposal is for a change of use of the barn to a wedding/events venue
including new access track, associated parking and landscaping.

3.14 The principle of the development is considered to comply with the above policies
subject to the development being shown to not have an adverse impact on overall
travel patterns as required by Policy S22 and subject to compliance with other
relevant Local Plan policies which will be considered below:

Impact on listed building

3.15 In coming to a decision the Council must be mindful of the duty as set out in section
66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have
special regard to the desirability of preserving the listed building, its setting and
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and have
given it considerable importance and weight in the planning balance.

3.16 Policy EN5 (Heritage Assets) of the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033 states that:
‘To protect and enhance the area’s heritage, consideration of development
proposals will take account of the significance, character, setting and local
distinctiveness of any affected heritage assets, including…Listed Buildings …,
particularly those of national importance.’

3.17 In principle, it is considered that the proposed conversion to enable the building to
be used as an event/wedding venue is supported as it has many advantages over
the previously approved scheme 16/01300 which would have seen its conversion to
holiday accommodation as the proposal the subject of this application will maintain
the interior space in a more open manner than the previously-approved scheme
and therefore better reveal the interior of the building and its use as an
events/wedding venue will ensure that people get to appreciate the aesthetics of
the building.

3.18 However, there are some areas of the scheme which would harm the listed building
and should be altered. It is proposed to install a canopy above the first floor window
on the north elevation.  This element of the scheme would cause damage to the
brickwork by fixing the canopy to the barn and is not a feature which is
complimentary to this barn as it is out of character with its agricultural character.  If
minded to approve, a condition is recommended to state that notwithstanding the
submitted drawing, this element of the scheme shall not be installed.  With this
condition in place it is considered that the internal and external works to the building
to enable its conversion subject to details can be undertaken without harm being
caused to the listed building.

3.19 To ensure that the detailing preserves the listed building conditions are
recommended to be applied if minded to approve for a sample of the corrugated
iron to be used for the barn roof; a door schedule for new doors to be installed; a
detailed specification of materials and sections for rainwater goods and new
external steps. It is also recommended that a condition be applied for no works to
commence until a method statement to ensure the preservation of the Daisy
Wheels in the plasterwork has been approved and until an appropriate programme
of historic building recording and analysis has been secured and implemented in

25



accordance with a written scheme of investigation which shall first have been
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  It is considered that these
conditions are necessary to ensure that detailing of new additions to the building
are appropriate and to ensure that the work is executed in a manner which
preserves the listed building.

Impact on the character and amenity of the area and setting of the listed building

3.20 There is no objection in principle to the proposed external works on the wider site to
facilitate the change of use, including the provision of a new track, parking to serve
the development, landscaping of the walled garden, new terrace to the round house
and service vehicle access and associated hard and soft landscaping works being
provided. However, concerns are raised about the execution of these landscaping
works, in detail, and their adverse impact on the setting of the listed building.

3.21 The site lies in a part of the District where there are a number of high status country
estates and designed landscapes.  The hierarchical status of property is an
important aspect of the character of the area.  The concern is that, largely in the
execution of some details, the proposed development will over-gentrify the status of
Brickhouse Farm and erode the subtle layers of status represented in the
landscape.  Of particular concern is the treatment of the entrance, the drive, the
hard landscaping detailing around the barn and the landscape treatment in the
walled garden.

3.22 Regarding the entrance, it is considered that the granite gateposts are
inappropriate to the character of the area and the status of the property.  It is
suggested that square oak posts are used instead.  The tops of which could be
chamfered off and capped with lead but otherwise embellishments should be
avoided.  Likewise, an appropriate gate would be a simple wooden field gate, which
could also be made of oak, and should reflect the local style.  Whilst the scale of
the entrance and treatment of the hedge on the entrance is considered acceptable,
the entrance has close connection with the public realm and therefore it is important
that the details of the type of gate and gate posts to be used reflects the status of
the property.  It is considered that this concern with the use of the granite gate
posts and lack of detail about the gate to be used can be overcome by way of
condition, it is recommended that, if minded to approve, a condition be added to
state that the granite gate posts shown on the submitted plans are not approved
and to secure agreement to an appropriate gate and gate post detail by way of
condition to ensure that these treatments are appropriate in the context of the
status of the building within the wider landscape in order to ensure that the detail
does not undermine the setting of the listed building.

3.23 Regarding the drive, it is considered that the proposed character for the new
access drive is of too high a status, being set too far from the existing hedge with
the processional planting suggesting an avenue which undermines the setting of
the listed building and the hierarchical status of the building in the wider landscape.
It is recommended that a more appropriate access drive that would preserve the
setting of the listed building and its status within the wider landscape would be to
move the access drive closer to the hedge, but still at a sufficient distance from it to
avoid root damage to the hedge and for standard trees to be positioned within the
existing hedge at irregular spacing rather than processional.  A native species
hedge bank on the south side of the track could be planted if containment of the
track is desired without undermining the wider landscape.  It is considered,

26



therefore, that there is an appropriate solution to overcome the concern about the
setting, and therefore, if minded to approve, a condition is recommended to be
applied to state that the access drive and associated passing bays and landscaping
works shown on the submitted plans are not approved and to secure agreement to
an alternative track position and landscaping treatment which would be more
appropriate to protect the setting of the listed building and its status within the wider
landscape.

3.24 Regarding the hard detailing around the barn, no objection is raised to the parking
layout, however the use of Grasscrete as proposed for the bays is considered to be
overly urban in character. It is considered that a more suitable material to be used
in a rural location such as this to preserve its rural character would be bound
crushed stone, bituminous macadam or similar.  It is considered that a more
appropriate material can be found to overcome this concern and therefore, if
minded to approve, it is recommended that a condition be applied for an alternative
material for the parking bays to be agreed to ensure that the setting of the listed
building is preserved.

3.25 Regarding the stone terrace to the front of the barn and the service vehicle access,
it is considered that the sandstone paving proposed for these areas is of too high a
status, over-domestic in character and unsympathetic to the character of the listed
building.  It is suggested that the use of rich materials be restricted to using stone at
thresholds only and that bound stone, hoggin or similar would be more sympathetic
to the curtilage of the listed building.  It is also recommended that an additional
screen be provided in the form of a dropped hedgebank positioned along the
eastern perimeter of the track/parking/terrace to hide the lowest parts of the
elevation and conceal the cars and changed activities from view in the wider
landscape as well as resolving the change in level.  These alternative materials and
additional hedge planting, it is considered, would preserve the setting of the listed
building.  As it is considered that a more appropriate material/additional planting
could be used to address the setting concern raised, if minded to approve,
conditions are recommended to be applied to secure details of an additional hedge
to be planted and to secure agreement to alternative material(s) for the stone
terrace and service vehicle access.

3.26 Regarding the walled garden, notwithstanding the submitted drawings it is difficult
to agree whether the existing cobbles should be lifted and re-laid as proposed
without seeing the existing exposed.  Landscaping of the courtyard area should be
as much as possible, in principle, a reinstatement of whatever was there originally
rather than a new design.  It is therefore recommended that whilst in principle no
objection is raised to landscaping works within the walled garden, that the
landscaping works proposed not be agreed and, if minded to approve, a condition
be applied for the topsoil and no other works within the walled garden to be
removed and site inspection to be carried out by the Council's Conservation Officer
prior to the submission and agreement of an appropriate landscape scheme for this
area to ensure that the landscape scheme proposed is informed by the existing
cobble design and that the cobbles are only lifted and re-laid where necessary.

3.27 With the above recommended conditions in place, it is considered that safeguards
would be in place to ensure that the setting of the listed building would not be
compromised by the proposed conversion works.

27



Residential Amenity Considerations

3.28 Due to the distance to neighbouring dwellings, the proposals are not considered to
give rise to any unacceptable loss of amenity to the occupiers of neighbouring
dwellings.

Noise Nuisance Considerations

3.29 Environmental Health have been consulted and have raised no objection to the
proposal subject to conditions that doors and windows must be closed while playing
amplified music and when using a PA system and that amplified music shall cease
at 00:00hrs and that there shall be no amplified music played in the courtyard.  If
minded to approve, it is recommended that these conditions be applied.

Highway Considerations

3.30 Devon County Council Highways have been consulted on this application and
advise that the proposed access will be off an unclassified road which is restricted
to 60 m.p.h. although the actual speeds in this area are likely to be lower due to the
width of the road in places and forward visibility.  Therefore the proposal for the
access in to the venue shown on drawing number 1710-02A is deemed acceptable.

3.31 This road then after 900 metres leads to the Black Forest Lodge crossroad which is
a junction on a C Classified County Road which is also restricted to 60 m.p.h.
Devon County Council Highways report that this road is a fast road and the visibility
at this junction is poor and because of this there is a Stop Sign and Stop solid white
line in situ.

3.32 This application as originally submitted set out in the Transport Advisory Note that
the venue could hold up to 120 guests which could attract 78 vehicle movements.
Devon County Council Highways advised that this amount of trips on what is
already a junction with poor visibility would not be safe or suitable and
recommended refusal of this application.

3.33 To seek to address the concern a revised Transport Advisory Note was submitted
which stated that the maximum number of guests would be 80 and car parking
spaces would be reduced to 25 as was shown on drawing 1710-02B to seek to
address the highways concerns.

3.34 Devon County Council Highways were consulted on this revised Transport Advisory
Note and advise that although this is a reduction in vehicle movements and trips
from that previously considered, it does not overcome the poor visibility at the Black
Forest Lodge junction, and no mitigation has been presented to make this safe and
suitable for the additional trips that this proposal could generate.  Therefore the
recommendation for refusal remains.

3.35 It is recommended that, as no mitigation can be provided to make the Black Forest
Lodge junction safe within the control of the applicant, that the application be
refused on the highway experts' advice that the proposed development would be
likely to result in a material increase in the volume of traffic entering and leaving the
Class C County Road through a junction which does not provide adequate visibility

28



from and of emerging vehicles, contrary to paragraph 32 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Impact on ecology/biodiversity

3.36 The barn supports a bat roost, including a maternity roost for brown long-eared bats
as identified in the bat report submitted with this application.

3.37 All bats, their roosts and their accesses to their roosts are legally protected and
long-eared bats are particularly light-averse.

3.38 Without mitigation, the proposed opening up of the building to roof level, by removal
of most of the existing internal ceiling and conversion works to the building, would
destroy most of the roost area and may destroy bat access points to the roof.
Furthermore, subsequent use of the building is likely to cause disturbance to any
remaining bats from noise/odour, especially reception music, PA systems, light and
cigarette smoke.

3.39 The bat report submitted with this application recommends a suite of measures to
ensure that the bats can continue to use the roost and surrounding areas.

3.40 The Council’s Biodiversity Officer recommends that the measures set out in the bat
report, if minded to approve, should be conditioned including provision of further
detail on the delivery of these measures and is suggesting a condition that prior to
commencement of works to the building a Bat Mitigation Scheme shall be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall detail all
measures that will be incorporated and followed to ensure that impacts on bats are
avoided.  The scheme shall be developed in consultation with an experienced bat
consultant, a sound engineer and a lighting engineer.  The scheme shall:

 Set out when works to the building may and may not be undertaken, to minimise
risk of disturbance to roosting and hibernating bats.  Before work commences a bat
worker will explain bat and nesting bird issues to building contractors.

 Detail when a licensed bat worker will be present to oversee works that might harm
bats and to relocate or exclude bats if necessary.

 Show how an adequately-sized bat roost shall be maintained within the barn, by
retention of part of the existing floor and installation of an end wall.  A roost access
hatch shall be included to permit maintenance and bat monitoring.  The bat roost
shall include an adequate range of ‘perch’ and crawl spaces for bats.

 Show how at least one free-flight bat access point and a range of crawl-in bat
access points will be retained or created to allow long-eared and pipistrelle bats to
access the retained roost area.  The free-flight access and some of the crawl-in
access points shall be on the northern gable end of the barn.

 Give detail of sound-proofing that will be installed around the bat roost to prevent
loud music and other noise from disturbing the bats.  Additional sound-proofing may
be needed in association with the loft hatch.

 Specify the materials to be used in the roost, including roof lining materials and any
timber treatment substances, and that these shall be appropriate for use in a bat
roost.

 Discuss the value of incorporating a seasonal bat 'incubator' in this roost and detail
provision if it is appropriate.

29



 Show how visitors will be kept away from the northern elevation of the building,
which contains the main bat access points, to avoid cigarette smoke entering the
roost and minimise noise disturbance.  The exclusion method should be designed
to help to create a dark, quiet, smoke-free area at this end of the building, for
instance a tall wall.

 Show how light levels no greater than 0.5 lux will be achieved at a distance of 5
metres from the bat entry points, features used by the bats to navigate away from
the building and existing hedge(s) along the access track and beside the car
parking area.  Address lighting from all sources including windows; external building
lights; access track lighting; car headlights, etc.

 Detail the range of measures to achieve appropriate light levels, for example:
o avoid windows and glazed doors on the northern elevation of the barn;
o limit numbers and size of windows/glazed doors on other elevations;
o use glazing with limited light transmittance;
o locate and direct internal lighting to limit the level of spill from

windows/glazed doors;
o internally and externally use only narrow-spectrum, warm wavelength

emitting low-luminance bulbs;
o limit external lighting to PIR motion-activated security lights on short timers (2

minutes maximum), mounted at low heights and fitted with appropriate
directional cowling/baffles to direct light.

 Include isolux maps showing the pre-commencement and operational stage lighting
levels.

 Detail a monitoring and revision programme that will ensure that the success of the
mitigation measures is monitored and that additional compensatory measures are
put in place if the original mitigation measures prove to be inadequate.  The results
of monitoring and any additional measures shall be copied to the Local Planning
Authority.

Once approved the development shall be delivered in accordance with the
approved Bat Mitigation Scheme and the bat mitigation measures shall be
maintained thereafter.

3.41 With the above condition in place the Council’s Biodiversity Officer is satisfied that,
if minded to approve the development, it can proceed subject to an appropriate bat
mitigation scheme being agreed without any adverse impact on ecology.

Conclusion

3.42 It is recommended that, as no mitigation can be provided to make the Black Forest
Lodge junction safe within the control of the applicant, that the application be
refused on the highway expert's advice that the proposed development would be
likely to result in a material increase in the volume of traffic entering and leaving the
Class C County Road through a junction which does not provide adequate visibility
from and of emerging vehicles, contrary to paragraph 32 of the National Planning
Policy Framework and Policies S1A and S1 of the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-
2033.

4. POLICY DOCUMENTS

Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033
S1A (Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development)

30



S1 (Sustainable Development Criteria)
S2 (Quality Development)
S22 (Countryside)
EC3 (Rural Employment)
EN2A (Landscape Protection and Enhancement)
EN5 (Heritage Assets)
EN8 (Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement)
EN9 (Important Habitats and Features)
EN11 (Legally Protected and Priority Species)
EN12 (Woodlands, Trees and Hedgerows)

National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Practice Guidance

Historic England Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)_Act 1990

5. CONSULTEES

Devon County Council (Highways) - The proposed access will be off an unclassified
County Road which is restricted to 60 m.p.h. although the actual speeds in this area
will likely be lower due to the width of the road in places and forward visibility.
Therefore the proposal for the access into the venue would be acceptable shown
on drawing number 1710-02A.

There is no street lighting in the area or footways.  In this area there has been no
personal injury collisions reported to the police between 1 January 2010 and 31
December 2015.

This road then after 900 metres leads to the Black Forest Lodge crossroad which is
a junction on a C Classified County Road which is also restricted to 60 m.p.h. This
road is a fast road and the visibility at this junction is poor, and because of this
there is a Stop Sign and Stop solid white line.

Additional information submitted states that the maximum amount of guests will be
80 and car parking spaces will be reduced to 25.

This reduction in vehicle movements and trips from that previously considered,
does not overcome poor visibility at the Black Forest Lodge junction, and no
mitigation has been presented to make this safe and suitable for the extra trips that
this proposal could generate.  Therefore the recommendation is for refusal for the
following reason:

The proposed development would be likely to result in a material increase in the
volume of traffic entering and leaving the Class C County Road through a
junction which does not provide adequate visibility from and of emerging
vehicles, contrary to paragraph 32 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Environmental Health (Contaminated Land) - No objections.

31



Historic England - Brickhouse Farm is a Grade II* listed building.  Dating from 17th
century, it is an extremely unusual artisan mannerist style with robust red brick
detailing.

The proposals relate to the associated barn, listed at Grade II, which includes the
former horse engine house.  18th century in date, also in brick, it has a simple
rectangular form with a corrugated roof.

The building has a prior approval for conversion into holiday accommodation;
however, the plan is now to convert the building into a wedding and events venue.
Historic England’s remit relates to the setting of the Grade II* listed house and any
substantial demolition to the Grade II.

In terms of demolition, the current proposal is for the removal of the first floor within
the central portion of the building and the re-opening of the two former threshing
doors on the west elevation.  The Council need to be satisfied that there will be no
adverse impact on the significance of the heritage asset by undertaking these
works.  We would suggest that you seek advice from your heritage professionals in
terms of the potential impact.

In terms of reinstatement, although this falls outside our remit, we would like to
draw your attention to Historic England’s suite of guidance on farm buildings.  This
may be of assistance in developing the scheme and considering some of the
detailing.

The setting to the highly graded asset, there is some concern raised about the
relationship between the car parking to the south of the site, which will form a new
utilitarian feature within views from the principal building.  We would ask whether
alternative locations have been considered by which to avoid the potential impact in
principal views from the main house.

Design & Heritage - In principle I am supportive of the proposed conversion which
has advantages over the approved previous scheme (16/01300) as it maintains the
interior space in a more open manner.  There are areas which should be altered.
The canopy above the first floor window north elevation should be removed as the
brickwork will be damaged in fixing it and it is not a feature complimentary to this
barn.

A proposed door schedule should be provided to confirm that the internal doors are
appropriate in character.  I would recommend simple timber plank doors with latch
ironmongery.

Suggested Conditions:

 Prior to commencement of external works to the barn a schedule of all
external joinery details for the barn (with cross sections at 1:5 scale) shall be
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The work
shall proceed in accordance with the approved schedule.

 Prior to the commencement of the proposed external works to the barn, a
sample of the corrugated iron to be used on the barn shall be approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

32



 Prior to the commencement of external works a detailed specification of
rainwater goods to be used including materials and sections and external
steps shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

 No works to which this consent relates shall commence until a method
statement to ensure the preservation of the Daisy Wheels in the plasterwork
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

 No works to which this consent relates shall commence until an appropriate
programme of historic building recording and analysis has been secured and
implemented in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the
approved scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Devon County Council (Archaeology) - The proposed development involves the
conversion of an 18th century barn and horse engine house that is protected as a
Grade II listed building, ref: 1169071. The proposed conversion works will have an
impact upon the fabric and appearance of this designated heritage asset, and
previous consents granted for this site have been conditional upon a programme of
historic building recording being undertaken in mitigation for this impact.

For this reason and in accordance with paragraph 141 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (2012) I would advise that any consent your Authority may be
minded to issue should carry the condition as worded below, based on model
Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95 and English Heritage
guidance as set out in ‘Understanding Historic Buildings: Policy and Guidance for
Local Planning Authorities - 2008’, whereby:

“No works to which this consent relates shall commence until an appropriate
programme of historic building recording and analysis has been secured and
implemented in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.”

The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the
approved scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: 'To ensure that an appropriate record is made of the historic building
fabric that may be affected by the development'

I would envisage the programme of work as taking the form of an appropriate
record of the historic building as well as any architectural features, fixtures and
fittings affected by the development. This work would be undertaken in advance of
any construction/conversion works and supplemented, if required, by observations
made during the development. The results of the historic building recording work
and any post-excavation analysis undertaken would need to be presented in an
appropriately detailed and illustrated report.

33



Natural England - Based upon the information provided, Natural England advises
the Council that the proposal is unlikely to affect any statutorily protected species or
landscapes.

RSPB - The RSPB has concerns about impacts on habitat that may be used by cirl
buntings and on the active bat roost.  We recommend that any permission includes
conditions on timing of removal of the two sections of hedgerow (for the vehicle
entrance to the east and the southern boundary) to avoid March to mid-September
inclusive.  This will avoid risk of disturbance/damage to cirl buntings.

We note that new lengths of hedgerow will be planted with native species but no
information was provided on species – we recommend these include hazel,
hawthorn, dogwood and field maple, and are plants grown in UK from native seed.
Management of retained and new hedges should be to produce tall (2 metres
minimum), dense hedges that can be used by nesting birds and also commuting
and foraging bats.

The ecological information is the same as provided with the previous application
17/01816/FUL and, though it contains many recommendations and examples of
how replacement bat roosts and new nesting opportunities for birds could be
provided, it is not clear what actions will be taken should this application be
permitted to avoid any harm to bats or loss of suitable roost space.  We recommend
that your authority obtain this information before granting any permission.

Bats are European Protected Species and, in addition to work that may disturb
roosting bats or destroy an active roost requiring a European Protected Species
(EPS) licence prior to works, Teignbridge District Council does need to be satisfied
that the ‘three tests’ set out in Regulation 53 of The Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2010 can be met.

It was not possible to read the text on some of the elevation drawings but there did
not appear to be any details of when, how and where replacement roost sites would
be provided, and how timing would avoid or minimise disturbance of bats during
conversion and ensure long term suitability of replacement roost when the barn is
used as a wedding/function venue.  There was no information on how light
disturbance to bats would be avoided during conversion and operation, e.g. lighting
design and location to prevent spill at and near current and replacement roost
entrances.  We recommend that this information be provided before determination
of the application.

In our view, these recommendations accord with the guidance in the National
Planning Policy Framework and Teignbridge Local Plan.

Biodiversity Officer - The barn supports a bat roost, including a maternity roost for
brown long-eared bats.  All bats, their roosts and their accesses to their roosts are
legally protected.  Long-eared bats are particularly light-averse.

Without mitigation, the proposed opening up of the building to roof level, by removal
of most of the existing internal ceiling conversion works to the building would
destroy (most of) the roost area and may destroy bat access points to the roof.
Subsequent use of the building is likely to cause disturbance to any remaining bats
from noise (especially from reception music), light and cigarette smoke.

The bat report recommends a suite of measures to ensure that the bats can
continue to use the roost and surrounding areas.  These measures should be
conditioned, as should provision of further detail on their delivery.

34



Landscape Officer - I have no objection to the principle of the proposed
development on landscape terms, however I have concerns that the execution of
the landscape works, in detail, will have an adverse impact on the character of the
area and the curtilage/setting of the listed building.

The site lies in a part of the District where there are a number of high status country
estates and designed landscapes. The hierarchical status of property is an
important aspect of the character of the area. My concern is that, largely in the
execution of some details, the proposed development will over-gentrify the status of
Brickhouse Farm and erode the subtle layers of status represented in the
landscape.

I am in particular concerned about the treatment of the entrance, the drive and the
hard landscape detailing around the barn.

Site entrance

Regarding the entrance, I am of the opinion that granite gateposts are inappropriate
to the character of the area and the status of the property. I suggest that square oak
posts are used instead. The tops could be chamfered or capped with lead but
otherwise embellishment should be avoided. An appropriate gate would be field-
gate, made of oak, of a local style - further research (old photographs are a source)
may reveal a good solution. I am happy with the scale of the entrance and the
treatment of the hedge. The entrance has close connection with the public realm
and details of the type of gate and gate posts proposed are necessary.

The proposed use of the site, as a venue for wedding receptions, is likely to need a
sign positioned at the entrance. It would be helpful if the appearance of this could
be addressed.  One small, high quality sign that tried to reflect a rural context with a
sense of rich time depth would be appropriate.

Drive

The proposed character is of too high a status, being set too far from the existing
hedge with the planting suggesting an avenue. I suggest moving the route closer to
the hedge (but at sufficient distance to avoid root damage to the hedge) and for
standard trees to be positioned within the hedge – their spacing should be irregular
and not processional. A hedge bank on the south side of the track would be
acceptable if some containment was desired.

Hard detailing around the barn

I am happy with the parking layout, however in my opinion Grasscrete used for the
bays is overly urban in character and should be avoided.  Bound crushed stone, in
situ concrete or bituminous macadam would be more appropriate solutions.

Regarding the stone terrace to the front of the barn. This solution is of too high a
status, over-domestic in character and unsympathetic to the character of the listed
building. I would suggest restricted use of rich materials, using stone at thresholds
only. Bound stone, hoggin or similar would be more sympathetic to the curtilage of
the listed building. Hedge planting in the form of a dropped hedgebank, positioned
along the eastern perimeter of the track/parking/terrace would help to hide the
lowest parts of the elevation and conceal the cars and changed activities from view,
as well as resolving the change in level. The hedge could be of native species but
flailed or regularly clipped, providing a transition between the domestic area and
agricultural landscape.

35



Wales & West Utilities - Wales & West Utilities have no objections to these
proposals, however their apparatus may be at risk during construction works and
should the planning application be approved then they require the promoter of these
works to contact them directly to discuss their requirements in detail.  Should
diversion works be required these will be fully chargeable.

6. REPRESENTATIONS

No representations received.

7. PARISH COUNCIL’S COMMENTS

No comments received.

8. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

The CIL liability for this development is Nil as the CIL rate for this type of
development is Nil and therefore no CIL is payable.

9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Due to its scale, nature and location this development will not have significant
effects on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA Development.

Business Manager – Strategic Place

36



PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT
23 January 2018
CHAIRMAN:  Cllr Dennis Smith

APPLICATION FOR
CONSIDERATION:

STARCROSS - 17/02759/LBC - Brickhouse Farm Barn,
Mamhead – Conversion works to storage barn to use as
wedding/function venue including new access track,
associated parking and landscaping

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Szczepura

CASE OFFICER Claire Boobier

WARD MEMBERS: Councillor Connett Kenton With Starcross

VIEW PLANNING FILE: https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-
details/?Type=Application&Refval=17/02759/LBC&MN

37

Agenda Item 7e



Based upon Ordnance Survey Material with Permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Teignbridge District Council 100024292

1:2,500Scale:

17/02727/FUL & 17/02759/LBC BRICKHOUSE FARM BARN
 MAMHEAD EX6 8HP

´ 38



1. REASON FOR REPORT

Councillor Connett has requested that the application be referred to Planning
Committee if the Case Officer is recommending refusal.

The reason given for this request is that the proposal supports the rural economy, is
compatible with the rural environment, and supports a developing local business
with the potential to create additional employment.  The application provides a use
for currently under-used/redundant former farm buildings.

Whilst the Case Officer's recommendation is for approval in relation to the works
required for the conversion of the listed building in this application, the Officer's
recommendation for the associated planning application is for refusal
(17/02727/FUL) for the change of use and therefore the Business Manager has
referred this case to Planning Committee for determination in order for it to be
considered alongside the linked planning application 17/02727/FUL.

2. RECOMMENDATION

LISTED BUILDING CONSENT BE GRANTED subject to the following conditions:
1. Standard 3 year time limit for commencement;
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with approved plans;
3. Notwithstanding the submitted plans the canopy above the first floor window

north elevation shall not be installed;
4. Door schedule shall be provided and approved prior to installation of doors to

ensure doors are appropriate in character;
5. Notwithstanding condition 2 above, the soft and hard landscaping works for the

walled garden shown on drawing 1710-02B is not approved.  With the exception
of removing the topsoil within the walled garden to expose the existing cobbles,
no works shall take place in this area until such time as the promoter/developer
has contacted the Local Planning Authority to arrange a site inspection of the
existing cobbles, and following the site inspection the promoter/developer has
submitted to the Local Planning Authority and the Local Planning Authority has
agreed a soft and hard landscaping scheme for the walled garden;

6. Prior to the commencement of the proposed external works to the barn, a
sample of the corrugated iron to be used on the barn shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by Local Planning Authority;

7. Notwithstanding condition 2 above, the use of granite for the new gate posts is
not approved, prior to installation of the new entrance gate and posts, details of
an alternative material for the gate posts and elevation details of the proposed
gate and associated posts shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  Only the approved gate and posts shall be installed;

8. Notwithstanding condition 2 above, the use of Grasscrete for the construction of
the parking bays is not approved. Prior to the construction of the parking bays
an alternative material for the parking bays shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Only the approved material shall be
used in the construction of the parking areas;

9. Notwithstanding condition 2 above, alternative material(s) for the terrace marked
on drawing 1710-02B as ‘round house terrace’ and the ‘service vehicle access’
marked on the same plan shall be submitted and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  Only the approved material(s) shall be used in the
creation of the service vehicle access and terrace;

39



10. Prior to the barn being brought into use as an events/wedding venue a
landscaping scheme detailing an additional hedge bank in the form of a dropped
hedgebank, positioned along the eastern perimeter of the track/parking terrace
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Once approved it shall be planted in the first available planting season following
approval and retained thereafter;

11.Landscaping scheme for all external planting shall be submitted and approved
in writing prior to the building being brought into use as a wedding/events venue
and shall once approved be planted in the first available planting season
following approval;

12.Notwithstanding condition 2 above, the new access drive, passing bays and
new sweet chestnut and beech trees shown adjacent to the new track on
drawing 1710-02B are not approved in the alignment shown with the exception
of the access point and visibility splays onto the highway. Prior to the
construction of the access drive a drawing shall be submitted to show a track
with passing bays which is positioned in closer proximity to the existing hedge
boundary and this drawing shall include details of the surface material of the
track and show soft landscaping works adjacent to the track to screen the drive
from wider views. These landscaping details shall include details of plant
species, positioning, and an implementation and management plan for the
landscaping works. Once approved only the approved drive and landscaping
works shall be implemented and retained as such thereafter;

13.Prior to the commencement of external works to the building in connection with
the hereby-approved change of use a detailed specification of rainwater goods
to be used including materials and sections, and materials and sections for any
new external steps shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.  Once approved works shall proceed in accordance with the
approved details and be retained as such thereafter;

14. No works to which this consent relates shall commence until a method
statement to ensure the preservation of the Daisy Wheels in the plasterwork has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Once approved works shall proceed in accordance with the approved method
statement;

15. No works to which this consent relates shall commence until an appropriate
programme of historic building recording and analysis has been secured and
implemented in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has
first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the
approved scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

INFORMATIVES

In relation to condition 7 it is recommended that the gate posts consist of wooden
posts and be kept free of embellishments other than tops that could be chamfered
or capped with lead and it is recommended that the gate take the form of a wooden
field gate.

In relation to condition 8 it is recommended that a suitable alternative material for
the parking bays to retain the rural character of the site could consist of bound
crushed stone, bituminous macadam or similar.

40



In relation to condition 9 it is recommended that the use of stone be restricted to
thresholds only and that bound stone, hoggin or similar be used as a more
sympathetic treatment for the service vehicle access and round house terrace
located within the curtilage of the listed building.

In relation to condition 12 it is recommended that the access drive be moved closer
to the hedge (but at sufficient distance to avoid root damage to the hedge) and for
standard trees to be irregularly spaced in the existing hedge and not processional.
A hedge bank on the southern side of the drive consisting of native species could
be used to add containment to the track.

3. DESCRIPTION

The Site

3.1 The site relates to the Grade II* Listed property Brick House and the adjacent
Grade II Listed barn (the subject of this application).

3.2 The house is situated on land rising from the Exe Estuary approximately 3km to the
east of Great Haldon.  Exeter is approximately 10km to the north.  The closest
defined settlements in the Teignbridge Local Plan to the site are Kenton to the north
east, and Starcross to the west.  The site lies within an Area of Great Landscape
Value.

3.3 Brickhouse has a substantial history and is of great historic merit.  The house was
built in the early years of the 18th century and was a feature of many paintings by
Reverend John Swete.

3.4 The house is built across a relatively steep hill, and faces south onto a lawned
garden on a terrace built up in front of the house.  The property of Oakridge Farm
lies to the north, whilst the property of Home Farm Cottages lie to the far west.  The
house and grounds are predominantly surrounded by open countryside, with an
existing access track situated to the immediate south.  The existing driveway
passes by the east side of the garden and the east side of the house, continuing to
flatter land a short distance north of the house.

3.5 A large 18th century brick barn (the subject of this application) is built down the
hillslope along the west side of the top end of the drive.  This forms the east side of
a former farmyard a short distance to the rear of the house.  This is now a cobbled
yard, which is enclosed on three sides by stone rubble and brick walls, and with a
gateway in the south side alongside the barn.

3.6 Previously planning permission and listed building consent was granted under
consent reference 16/01299/FUL and 16/01300/LBC for replacement side and rear
extensions and the conversion of the barn to two holiday accommodation units. At
the time of the Case Officer's visit, the works to the building which were granted
consent under these applications was being undertaken.

Proposal

3.7 The Planning Statement submitted with this application sets out that the owners
have now reconsidered their business plan and have decided to focus on the
vineyard and expansion of their events business at the site, rather than investing in

41



holiday accommodation.  The proposal in this application is sought to complement
the use of the attached round house development seeks to complement the use of
the round house (horse gin) attached to the barn which was granted a change of
use under consent 16/02646/COU for a change from agricultural use to a venue for
wine tasting and food courses and this consent also included an increase in the
size of the existing parking area.

3.8 This application seeks Listed Building Consent for the conversion works to the barn
to enable its use as wedding/function venue.

Impact on listed building

3.9 In coming to a decision on this application the Council must be mindful of the duty
as set out in section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the listed building,
its setting and features of special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses.

3.10 In principle, it is considered that the proposed conversion to enable the building to
be used as an event/wedding venue is supported as it has many advantages over
the previously-approved scheme 16/01300 which would have seen its conversion to
holiday accommodation as the proposal the subject of this application will maintain
the interior space in a more open manner than the previously-approved scheme
and therefore better reveal the interior of the building and its use as an
events/wedding venue will ensure that people get to appreciate the aesthetics of
the building.

3.11 However, there are some areas of the scheme which would harm the listed building
and should be altered. It is proposed to install a canopy above the first floor window
north elevation.  This element of the scheme would cause damage to the brickwork
by fixing the canopy to the barn and is not a feature which is complimentary to this
barn as it is out of character with the agricultural character of the barn.  If minded to
approve, a condition is recommended to state that notwithstanding the submitted
drawing, this element of the scheme shall not be installed.  With this condition in
place it is considered that the internal and external works to the building to enable
its conversion subject to details can be undertaken without harm being caused to
the listed building.

3.12 To ensure the detailing preserves the listed building conditions are recommended
to be applied for a sample of the corrugated iron to be used for the barn roof; a door
schedule for new doors to be installed; a detailed specification of materials and
sections for rainwater goods and new external steps. It is also recommended that a
condition be applied for no works to commence until a method statement to ensure
the preservation of the Daisy Wheels in the plasterwork has been approved and
until an appropriate programme of historic building recording and analysis has been
secured and implemented in accordance with a written scheme of investigation
which shall first have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  It is
considered that these conditions are necessary to ensure that detailing of new
additions to the building are appropriate and to ensure that the work is executed in
a manner which preserves the listed building.

42



Impact on setting of listed building

3.13 There is no objection, in principle, to the proposed external works on the wider site
to facilitate the change of use, including the provision of a new track, parking to
serve the development, landscaping of the walled garden, new terrace to the round
house and service vehicle access and associated hard and soft landscaping works
being provided. However, concerns are raised about the execution of these
landscaping works, in detail, and their adverse impact on the setting of the listed
building.

3.14 The site lies in a part of the District where there are a number of high status country
estates and designed landscapes.  The hierarchical status of property is an
important aspect of the character of the area.  The concern is that, largely in the
execution of some details, the proposed development will over-gentrify the status of
Brickhouse Farm and erode the subtle layers of status represented in the
landscape.  Of particular concern is the treatment of the entrance, the drive, the
hard landscaping detailing around the barn and the landscape treatment in the
walled garden.

3.15 Regarding the entrance, it is considered that the granite gateposts are
inappropriate in the character of the area and the status of the property.  It is
suggested that square oak posts are used instead.  The tops could be chamfered
off and capped with lead but otherwise embellishments should be avoided.
Likewise, an appropriate gate would be a simple wooden field gate, which could
also be made of oak, and should reflect the local style.  Whilst the scale of the
entrance and treatment of the hedge on the entrance is considered acceptable, the
entrance has close connection with the public realm and therefore it is important
that the details of the type of gate and gate posts to be used reflects the status of
the property.  It is considered that this concern with the use of the granite gate
posts and lack of detail with regard to the gate to be used can be overcome by way
of condition, it is recommended that, if minded to approve, a condition be added to
state that the granite gate posts shown on the submitted plans are not approved
and to secure agreement to an appropriate gate and gate post detail by way of
condition to ensure that these treatments are appropriate in the context of the
status of the building within the wider landscape in order to ensure that the detail
does not undermine the setting of the listed building.

3.16 Regarding the drive, it is considered that the proposed character for the new
access drive is of too high a status, being set too far from the existing hedge with
the processional planting suggesting an avenue which undermines the setting of
the listed building and the hierarchical status of the building in the wider landscape.
It is recommended that a more appropriate access drive that would preserve the
setting of the listed building and its status within the wider landscape would be to
move the access drive closer to the hedge, but still at a sufficient distance from it to
avoid root damage to the hedge and for standard trees to be positioned within the
existing hedge at irregular spacing rather than processional.  A native species
hedge bank on the south side of the track could be planted if containment of the
track is desired without undermining the wider landscape.  It is considered,
therefore, that there is an appropriate solution to overcome the concern about the
setting, and therefore, if minded to approve, a condition is recommended to be
applied to state that the access drive and associated passing bays and landscaping
works shown on the submitted plans are not approved and to secure agreement to
an alternative track position and landscaping treatment which would be more

43



appropriate to protect the setting of the listed building and its status within the wider
landscape.

3.17 Regarding the hard detailing around the barn, no objection is raised to the parking
layout, however the use of Grasscrete as proposed for the bays is considered to be
overly urban in character: it is considered that a more suitable material to be used
in a rural location such as this to preserve its rural character would be bound
crushed stone, bituminous macadam or similar.  It is considered that a more
appropriate material can be found to overcome this concern and therefore, if
minded to approve, it is recommended that a condition be applied for an alternative
material for the parking bays to be agreed to ensure that the setting of the listed
building is preserved.

3.18 Regarding the stone terrace to the front of the barn and the service vehicle access,
it is considered that the sandstone paving proposed for these areas is of too high a
status, overly domestic in character and unsympathetic to the character of the listed
building.  It is suggested that the use of rich materials be restricted to using stone at
thresholds only and that bound stone, hoggin or similar would be more sympathetic
to the curtilage of the listed building.  It is also recommended that an additional
screen be provided in the form of a dropped hedgebank positioned along the
eastern perimeter of the track/parking/terrace to hide the lowest parts of the
elevation and conceal the cars and changed activities from view in the wider
landscape as well as resolving the change in level.  These alternative materials and
additional hedge planting it is considered would preserve the setting of the listed
building.  As it is considered that a more appropriate material/additional planting
could be used to address the setting concern raised, if minded to approve,
conditions are recommended to be applied to secure details of an additional hedge
to be planted and to secure agreement to alternative material(s) for the stone
terrace and service vehicle access.

3.19 Regarding the walled garden, notwithstanding the submitted drawings it is difficult
to agree whether the existing cobbles should be lifted and re-laid as proposed
without seeing the existing exposed. Landscaping of the courtyard area should be
as much as possible, in principle, a reinstatement of whatever was there originally
rather than a new design.  It is therefore recommended that, whilst in principle no
objection is raised to landscaping works within the walled garden, the landscaping
works proposed shall not be agreed and, if minded to approve, a condition be
applied for the topsoil and no other works within the walled garden to be removed
and a site inspection to be carried out by the Council's Conservation Officer prior to
the submission and agreement of an appropriate landscape scheme for this area to
ensure that the landscape scheme proposed is informed by the existing cobble
design and that the cobbles are only lifted and re-laid where necessary.

3.20 With the above recommended conditions in place, it is considered that safeguards
would be in place to ensure that the setting of the listed building would not be
compromised by the proposed conversion works.

Conclusion

3.21 It is recommended that Listed Building Consent is granted for the proposal subject
to the above suggested conditions to ensure that no harm is caused to the fabric of
the listed building during the conversion works and to ensure that the associated
external site works to facilitate the use of the building as a events/wedding venue

44



can take place without harming the setting of the listed building. The proposal is
considered to accord with EN5 of the Teignbridge Local Plan and guidance
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework with regard to preserving
listed buildings and their setting.

4. POLICY DOCUMENTS

Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033
S1A (Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development)
S2 (Quality Development)
EN2A (Landscape Protection and Enhancement)
EN5 (Heritage Assets)

National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Practice Guidance

Historic England Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)_Act 1990

5. CONSULTEES

Design & Heritage - In principle I am supportive of the proposed conversion which
has advantages over the approved previous scheme (16/01300) as it maintains the
interior space in a more open manner.  There are areas which should be altered.
The canopy above the first floor window north elevation should be removed as the
brickwork will be damaged in fixing it and it is not a feature complimentary to this
barn.

A proposed door schedule should be provided to confirm that internal doors are
appropriate in character.  I would recommend simple timber plank doors with latch
ironmongery.

Suggested Conditions

 Prior to commencement of external works to the barn a schedule of all
external joinery details for the barn (with cross sections at 1:5 scale) shall be
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The work
shall proceed in accordance with the approved schedule.

 Prior to the commencement of the proposed external works to the barn, a
sample of the corrugated iron to be used on the barn shall be approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

 Prior to the commencement of external works a detailed specification of
rainwater goods to be used including materials and sections and external
steps shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

 No works to which this consent relates shall commence until a method
statement to ensure the preservation of the Daisy Wheels in the plasterwork

45



has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

 No works to which this consent relates shall commence until an appropriate
programme of historic building recording and analysis has been secured and
implemented in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the
approved scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Devon County Council (Archaeology) - The proposed development involves the
conversion of an 18th century barn and horse engine house that is protected as a
Grade II listed building, ref: 1169071. The proposed conversion works will have an
impact upon the fabric and appearance of this designated heritage asset, and
previous consents granted for this site have been conditional upon a programme of
historic building recording being undertaken in mitigation for this impact.

For this reason and in accordance with paragraph 141 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (2012) I would advise that any consent your Authority may be
minded to issue should carry the condition as worded below, based on model
Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95 and English Heritage
guidance as set out in ‘Understanding Historic Buildings: Policy and Guidance for
Local Planning Authorities - 2008’, whereby:

“No works to which this consent relates shall commence until an appropriate
programme of historic building recording and analysis has been secured and
implemented in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.”

The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the
approved scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: 'To ensure that an appropriate record is made of the historic building
fabric that may be affected by the development'

I would envisage the programme of work as taking the form of an appropriate
record of the historic building as well as any architectural features, fixtures and
fittings affected by the development. This work would be undertaken in advance of
any construction/conversion works and supplemented, if required, by observations
made during the development. The results of the historic building recording work
and any post-excavation analysis undertaken would need to be presented in an
appropriately-detailed and illustrated report.

Wales & West Utilities - Wales & West Utilities have no objections to these
proposals, however their apparatus may be at risk during construction works and
should the planning application be approved then they require the promoter of these
works to contact them directly to discuss their requirements in detail.  Should
diversion works be required these will be fully chargeable.

46



6. REPRESENTATIONS

No representations received.

7. PARISH COUNCIL’S COMMENTS

No comments received.

8. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

The CIL liability for this development is Nil as the CIL rate for this type of
development is Nil and therefore no CIL is payable.

9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Due to its scale, nature and location this development will not have significant
effects on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA Development.

Business Manager – Strategic Place

47



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT
23 January 2018
CHAIRMAN:  Cllr Dennis Smith

APPLICATION FOR
CONSIDERATION:

WOODLAND - 17/02827/FUL - Chardonnay - Extension to
existing authorised gypsy site to provide two additional
pitches

APPLICANT: Mr M Doran

CASE OFFICER Nicola Turner

WARD MEMBERS: Councillor Colclough
Councillor  Smith

Ambrook

VIEW PLANNING FILE: https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/forms/planning-application-
details/?Type=Application&Refval=17/02827/FUL&MN

49

Agenda Item 7f



Based upon Ordnance Survey Material with Permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Teignbridge District Council 100024292

1:1,250Scale:

17/02827/FUL CHARDONNAY WOODLAND TQ13 9JT

´ 50



1. REASON FOR REPORT

This report is brought to Planning Committee at the request of Councillor Smith,
who is concerned that this would constitute completely inappropriate and
unsustainable development on a greenfield site, in open countryside, in a location
with poor access to local services and amenities including education, health,
welfare and employment infrastructure.

2. RECOMMENDATION

PERMISSION BE GRANTED subject to the following conditions:
1. Standard three year time limit for commencement
2. Development to proceed in accordance with the approved plans
3. Occupation limited to persons of gypsy or traveller status, as defined in Annexe

1 of Communities and Local Government Planning Policy for Travellers Sites
August 2015

4. Height restriction 3.5 metres
5. No more than 4 caravans (2 static and 2 touring) to be stationed
6. No external storage of materials
7. New hedge to be planted along south east boundary
8. Details of any external lighting to be installed

3. DESCRIPTION

Planning History of Site and Adjacent Site

3.1 17/01064/FUL – Extension to authorised gypsy site to provide two additional
pitches, comprising parking, dayroom, tourer pitch and static unit – Refused by
Planning Committee on 24 October 2017 contrary to Officer recommendation for
the following reason:

The proposed development would result in danger to the occupants of the proposed
pitches, due to the proximity of the development to overhead power lines. This
danger would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the
development when assessed against the policies in the National Planning Policy
Framework taken as a whole.

17/01062/FUL - Proposed additional mobile home and touring caravan pitch at
authorised gypsy site – conditional approval – 16 August 2017

10/03918/VAR - Removal of conditions 2 and 3 of planning permission
05/01913/COU – Approved 2 February 2011

08/04479/FUL - Erection of dayroom/utility block – conditional approval for 8 metres
by 5 metres building to provide kitchen, washroom and toilet – 29 January 2009

05/01913/COU – Change of use of land to a private gypsy caravan site to include
the stationing of two mobile homes and two touring caravans – Approved 22 March
2006

51



02/02836/COU - Use of land as gypsy site to accommodate nine units – refused 8
August 2002

00/02612/OUT - Outline application for a dwelling to replace existing mobile home –
refused 27 October 2000 and appeal dismissed 2 October 2001

91/02136/COU - Change of use of land to private gypsy caravan site for 1 family –
refused 18 November 1991 - appeal allowed 1 September 1992

Site Description

3.2 The site lies outside any Settlement Limit and is within the Countryside,
approximately 2.5 kilometres south east of Ashburton, 3 kilometres north west of
Denbury and 650 metres north of Woodland. It comprises a rectangular piece of
ground, measuring approximately 30 metres by 40 metres, which forms part of a
larger field. The site is set adjacent to an existing gypsy and traveller site, which
provides three pitches with a total of six caravans (3 static and 3 touring), along
with a dayroom, toilet and store. This revised proposal is separated by a distance
of 30 metres from the southern boundary of the existing site.

3.3 The land is enclosed by mature hedging along the north east (lane-side) and south
west boundaries and by a combination of fencing and hedging along the north west
boundary with the existing site. National Grid power lines cross above the field
adjacent to this site.

3.4 The site is within 5km of a great crested newt record, is within a strategic bat flyway
and a public footpath crosses the field to the south west.

Proposal

3.5 The application seeks to use the site to provide two gypsy and traveller pitches,
each comprising a static caravan, a touring caravan and a day room. The site
would be accessed via an existing field gate from the existing authorised site, which
is accessed via a splayed entrance from the lane. The proposal is the same as the
previous application presented to Members on 24 October 2017, other than the
revised site location, which avoids the overhead wires that led to Committee’s
reason for refusal.

Supporting Information

3.6 The agent for the applicant provided a supporting statement with the previous
application explaining that the applicants require additional accommodation for their
extended family in order to provide a base in the West Country to serve their needs
and that the proposed additional two pitches are required to provide
accommodation for the children (and their partners/children) of the occupiers of the
adjacent existing/authorised gypsy and traveller site.

3.7 The agent’s supporting statement, which accompanies the planning application,
also says:

“The Council recognises that suitable and available sites for gypsy’s use are difficult
to locate and acquire and often will be extensions to family-owned sites. It is
accepted, therefore, that the on-going maintenance of a five-year supply of land will

52



be difficult and that suitable opportunities to increase the supply should be taken.
This is particularly relevant in the current case as the nearest gypsy site at Chipley,
Bickington (A383) has recently closed with the loss of 3 pitches. The proposed
development will make compensatory provision within the same local area.

The Council’s published (draft) Affordable Housing SPD 2015 advocates that small
clusters of 3 to 6 pitches can be highly successful, particularly when designed for
use by one extended family group, as is the case with these proposals.

Part of the Council’s proposals include 24 pitches at Houghton Barton, Newton
Abbot and 24 pitches as part of the proposed urban extension to the South-West of
Exeter. Both of these proposals are a long way from fruition.

The application site meets the requirement to be within 30-minute cycling distance
of Denbury Primary School.

Occupation will be limited to members of the applicant’s extended family who all
fulfil the definition of travellers provided in national policy.

There is no business use carried out from, or proposed from, the site.

Although the site lies close to a Strategic Bat Flyway in the South Hams SAC, the
limited scale of the development that proposes no removal of hedgerows or trees
would not be detrimental to interests of nature conservation.

The applicant would be willing to accept conditions of approval to maintain low-level
lighting although it should be pointed out that no such restriction applies to the
authorised site”.

Principle of the development/sustainability

3.8 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out a three dimensional
approach to sustainable development, balancing economic, social and
environmental considerations. It also contains a presumption in favour of
sustainable development.

3.9 The Teignbridge Local Plan follows this approach. Policy S1A reiterates the
presumption in favour of sustainable development and Policy S1 sets out criteria for
assessing the sustainability of development.

The principle of the development is further informed through Policy S22, which sets
out the limited circumstances where development in the countryside will be
supported. The policy allows for gypsy and traveller pitches, where account is taken
of the following criteria:

f) the distinctive characteristics and qualities of the Landscape Character
Area;
g) the integrity of green infrastructure and biodiversity networks;
h) impact on overall travel patterns arising from the scale and type of

development proposed; and,
i) the need to ensure that development in the countryside does not have an

adverse effect on the integrity of the South Hams SAC.

53



Policy WE6 of the Local Plan refers specifically to homes for the travelling
community. It seeks provision of at least 70 pitches for gypsies and travellers from
2013-2033 and permits additional gypsy and traveller pitches, or travelling show
people plots in the open countryside, subject to the following criteria:

a) in the case of Gypsy and Traveller pitches, there is not a five year supply of
permitted or allocated pitches;

b) in the case of Travelling Showpeople plots, there is a proven need;
c) the proposed site is within approximately 30 minutes travel by means of public

transport, walking or cycling of a primary school. Exceptions should be clearly
justified;

d) occupation is limited to those meeting the definition of Gypsies and Travellers
and Travelling Showpeople in the relevant national planning policy;

e) any business use proposed within the development does not exceed 50% of the
developed area of the site, excluding storage requirements of travelling
showpeople; and,

f) it can be demonstrated that the site is in a location that will not affect the
integrity of the South Hams SAC.

3.10 With regard to Policy WE6, the site lies within a 30 minutes cycle journey from
Ashburton, which provides a good level of services, facilities, education and
employment opportunities and within a 30 minutes cycle journey from Denbury,
which has a primary school. The proposed pitches would be occupied by persons
meeting the definition of Gypsies and Travellers and no business use is proposed to
be carried out from the site. The proposed enlargement of the site for the
accommodation of the extended family of gypsies/travellers would not result in harm
to the South Hams SAC, subject to the creation of a new hedge along the south
east boundary.

3.11 The proposed development would not comply with criterion (a) as the Council has
a 5 year supply of gypsy and traveller sites. However, it is notoriously difficult to
find suitable sites for the gypsy and traveller community. The adjacent site has
been established for approximately 25 years and the proposed extension of the
existing site is considered to be an appropriate way of providing two additional
pitches in a sustainable location. The additional sites would provide
accommodation for family members of the occupiers of the adjacent site.
Furthermore, as the figures provided by the Spatial Planning and Delivery team
show, the recent creation of 3 sites since April 2017 has taken the Council’s supply
of sites from 4.4 years to over 5 years. Conversely, should there be a loss of a
small number of existing sites, the Council would fall below the target 5 years
supply.

3.12 Therefore, whilst the proposed development does not strictly comply with Policy
WE6, due to the Council’s current 5 year supply of gypsy and traveller pitches,
weight is attached to the benefits of providing two additional pitches in this relatively
accessible location, adjacent to an existing site, which is occupied by family
members.

Impact upon the character and visual amenity of the area/open countryside

3.13 With regard to environmental considerations and, in addition to criterion f) of Policy
S22, Policy EN2A seeks to ensure that development conserves and enhances the

54



qualities, character and distinctiveness of the area and protects features that
contribute to local character.

3.14 The proposed extension to the existing site would be screened from views along the
lane by existing mature hedging and trees and from views to the north west by the
adjacent existing gypsy and traveller site and its hedging enclosure. There is
hedging along the south west boundary of the site and a condition is attached (in
the interests of ecology) to create a new hedged boundary along the south east.
Therefore, views of the site would be extremely limited and would be restricted to
views from part of the public footpath that crosses the adjacent field.

3.15 The qualities, character and distinctiveness of the area would be conserved and the
development would not affect any features that contribute to local character and the
proposal would comply with Policies S22 and EN4.

Impact on residential amenity of the occupiers of surrounding properties

3.16 The nearest residential properties are situated approximately 300 metres from the
site and there are no impacts upon residential amenity of any nearby properties.

Impact on ecology/biodiversity

3.17 The site lies within a strategic flyway area used by bats and would involve the loss
of a small area of pasture and therefore foraging area for the bats and has the

potential to increase light levels, which may adversely affect the movement of
greater horseshoe bats. However, providing that lighting levels are controlled and
that a new section of hedgebank is created to compensate for the loss of the
pasture, the Council’s Biodiversity Officer has no objections to the proposal, which
would comply with the objectives of Policies EN8, EN9, EN10, EN11 and EN12.
The agent has confirmed that the applicant would be willing to accept a restriction
on lighting levels.

Impact upon setting of listed buildings and the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area

3.18 There are no impacts on the setting of any Listed Building, the nearest being
approximately 1 kilometre away. In addition, the nearest Conservation Areas lie
approximately 3 km away at Ashburton and 3.5 km away at Denbury and are
unaffected by the proposal.

Land drainage/flood risk

3.19 The site would dispose of foul drainage to an existing septic tank and surface water
directed to an existing soakaway.

Highway safety

3.20 The County Highway Authority is satisfied with the proposal, which would use the
existing vehicular access to the adjacent site as the access to the site has good
visibility in both directions. The Highway Authority raises no objections to the two
additional pitches.

Conclusion

55



3.21 The proposed development comprises a small extension to an existing modest
gypsy and traveller site. The existing site accommodates two pitches (with a third
recently granted planning permission) and the enlargement of the site would be in
order to accommodate two additional pitches, each comprising a static caravan,
touring caravan and dayroom, to be used by members of the family occupying the
adjacent site.

3.22 It is accepted that it is often difficult to provide sites for members of the gypsy and
travelling community and weight is given to the benefits of providing two additional
pitches. The location of the existing site has been accepted to be relatively
sustainable, given its relative proximity to services, education and employment, and
the same must be considered of the proposed extension. In the absence of any
resulting harm to the character and appearance of the landscape, heritage
interests, wildlife interests, highway safety or residential amenity, on balance the
proposed development is considered acceptable now that the site location has been
addressed to overcome the only previous reason for refusal.

4. POLICY DOCUMENTS

Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033
S1A (Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development)
S1 (Sustainable Development Criteria)
S2 (Quality Development)
S22 (Countryside)
WE6 (Homes for the Travelling Community)
EN2A (Landscape Protection and Enhancement)
EN8 (Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement)
EN9 (Important Habitats and Features)
EN10 (European Wildlife Sites)
EN11 (Legally Protected and Priority Species)
EN12 (Woodlands, Trees and Hedgerows)

National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Practice Guidance

DCLG Planning Policy for Traveller Sites, August 2015

5. CONSULTEES

Biodiversity Officer - The application site is within a Strategic Flyway associated
with the greater horseshoe bats of the South Hams Special Area of Conservation.
Greater horseshoe bats follow linear features such as hedges to navigate the
landscape. They are very light-averse and increases in light levels can stop them
using traditional flyways.

The proposal will involve the loss of a small amount of pasture where the bats may
feed and will introduce additional light into the remaining pasture. To minimise
these impacts, a new hedge should be created along the south east boundary of
the extension area, and lighting should be carefully controlled. I welcome the
statement that the applicant would be willing to accept conditions to maintain low-
level lighting.

56



I acknowledge that no such restriction applies to the authorised site, but my aim is
not to increase the level of lighting over existing levels.

The Biodiversity Officer also requires the following conditions to be attached to any
planning permission:

Prior to first occupation of the new units, a new hedge shall be created along the
south east boundary of the extension site. The hedge shall comply with details
previously submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The hedge
shall be on a Devon hedge bank and shall consist of locally-occurring native tree
and shrub species. The hedge shall be managed thereafter at a height of 2 or more
metres.

REASON: For the benefit of bats of the South Hams SAC.

Prior to installation of any external lighting, plans showing the detail of the external
lighting shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Such
external lighting shall be restricted to PIR motion-activated lamps on a short (2
minute) timer; shall be low height and low intensity, emitting warm spectrum
wavelengths only; and shall be directed downwards and away from boundaries,
using cowls or baffles to prevent light falling on boundary hedges. Once approved,
the lighting plans shall be complied with.

REASON: For the benefit of bats of the South Hams SAC.

National Grid - There was correspondence between the National Grid and previous
Case Officer as the previous proposal lay directly underneath overhead power
lines. An engineer from the National Grid reviewed the details and the Case Officer
advised the National Grid that none of the structures would exceed 3.5 metres in
height, either in situ or when being delivered to the site. This was confirmed by the
agent, who agreed to the use of a height restriction condition.

The National Grid commented on the previous application as follows:

National Grid has no objections to the above proposal which is in close proximity to
a High Voltage Transmission Overhead Line.

Devon County Council (Highways) - The site is accessed off a C Classified County
Route which is restricted to 60 m.p.h. The access to the site has good visibility in
both directions, and the additional two pitches would not be a severe impact on the
highway network. Therefore the County Highway Authority would have no
objections.

Spatial Planning and Delivery – The Case Officer has discussed this with the
Spatial Planning Officer with regard to the new application and the response is the
same as previously:

The development proposal covers two pitches, provided as an extension to an
authorised gypsy site to the west for family members not already resident on the
authorised site.

The land at Chardonnay is located in the open countryside east of Ashburton.

57



There are no protective designated policy areas for the land such as area of great
landscape value or conservation area.

In terms of supply of traveller pitches in relation to Policy WE6 (item (a)) of the
Teignbridge Local Plan, at the last counting period for year to 1 April 2017 there
was a site supply for 4.4 years. Since then, an additional site has received
permission (for 3 pitches) so the plan area currently has a full supply of deliverable
sites for the five year period from April 2017–April 2022. (As shown in the attached
statement for Gypsy and Traveller – Five year supply of available pitches (at May
2017)).

6. REPRESENTATIONS

A site notice was posted on 11 December 2017.

20 letters of objection have been submitted, raising the following concerns:
1. Contrary to the Local Plan;
2. Roads unsuitable for children to walk/cycle to school;
3. The number of gypsies and travellers within Woodland Parish community

would be disproportionately high in relation to the population of the parish;
4 Precedent for future expansion;
5 Development in green field site in open countryside;
6 Allows developers to get out of their responsibility for providing gypsy

traveller sites and social housing within a new housing estate;
7 Already a five year supply of pitches, so no need for additional pitches;
8 No public transport
9 Lack of infrastructure and facilities for residents so site is not sustainable
10 Impact of light, noise, people and dogs on local wildlife habitat
11 Roads and access unsuitable for additional traffic resulting in increased

highway danger
12 Harm to visual beauty of the local area

7. PARISH COUNCIL’S COMMENTS

The application for two additional pitches (TDC Ref. 17/01064/FUL) at this green
field location, in open countryside, was refused at the Teignbridge Planning Meeting
on 24 October 2017.

For additional background information (including comments) please refer to
17/01064/FUL.

The Parish supported the application for an additional traveller's unit on the existing
site (TDC Ref. 17/01062/FUL) which was approved on 16 August 2017.

Site Description

The Block Plan shows the position of the new green field site. The site is located on
gently rising pasture land in open countryside and is detached from the existing site.
No vehicle access is shown.

58



This Application states that no new vehicle access is required. By using the
existing site's vehicle access, the whole field will be opened up as there are no
defensible boundaries shown. The area between the two sites will just become one
big parking/working/play area (visual pollution).

The attached Google Satellite photograph illustrates the point.

The block plan also indicates that the area for the additional 2 traveller's units is
larger than the existing site which has approval for 3 units.

Policy Considerations

The reason for the objection is that the application is not consistent with the
established policies laid out in the Teignbridge Local Plan as follows:

• The proposal is for development of a new greenfield site in the open
countryside: Paragraph S22 of the Teignbridge Local Plan stipulates that “in
open countryside development will be strictly managed”

• Paragraph WE6 of the Teignbridge Local Plan restricts proposals for gypsy
and traveller pitches in the open countryside to those that satisfy specific
criteria.

• This proposal fails to satisfy the first criterion as the planning officer’s
report in response to application 17/01064 confirmed that there is a
five year supply of pitches available.

• This proposal is in direct conflict with WE6 (c) as there is no public
transport, the site is more than thirty minutes’ walk from a school and
there is no suitable route to cycle to a school.  No responsible person
could consider sending a primary school child to cycle along the single
track derestricted lane to Denbury in opposition to the commuting
traffic from Channings Wood, Denbury and Ipplepen.  This criterion
requires that exceptions be clearly justified.  There is no possible
justification for this case.

The existence of the adjacent site does not justify additional pitches
outside the present boundaries to be approved. No exception is
justified.

This application does not meet the Sustainable development Criteria of S1 of
the Teignbridge Local Plan.

Taking the strict management provisions of S22 together with the failure to
satisfy the criteria of WE6 and S1 together it is clear that this proposal is not
in accordance with the policies of the Local Plan.

No justification for making an exception to the established policies has been
advanced in support of this application.  On the contrary there are clear
reasons that justify the strict application of the policy:

59



Approval of the proposal will open the gates to a process of incremental
expansion of the site as has happened at the neighbouring site over its
development history;

Combined with the existing adjacent site this proposal will increase the
number of gypsy and traveller sites in Woodland to a level that is
disproportionate to the small size of the community.

Conclusion

Woodland Parish does not accept the suggestion made by the applicant’s agent
that the refusal of application 17/01064 creates a precedent for the approval of
application 17/02827.

Woodland Parish requests that Teignbridge District Council apply the established
policies of the Teignbridge Local Plan in a consistent and objective manner and
refuse this application.

8. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

The CIL liability for this development is Nil as the CIL rate for this type of
development is Nil and therefore no CIL is payable.

9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Due to its scale, nature and location this development will not have significant
effects on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA Development.

Business Manager – Strategic Place

60



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT
23 January 2018
CHAIRMAN:  Cllr Dennis Smith

REPORT OF: Business Manager – Strategic Place

ITEM: Adoption of Criteria for Assessment of Local Heritage Assets.

SUBJECT Register for Local Heritage Assets

RECOMMENDATION

The Committee is recommended to approve:

 The adoption of Criteria for Assessment for Local Heritage Assets and to
commence preparation of a Register for Local Heritage Assets.

1. REASON FOR REPORT

1.1.To inform the Committee of the work that is to be carried out on the Register of
Local Heritage assets and seek approval of the criteria for assessment of entries to
the list.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Teignbridge District Council does not currently have a register of non-designated
heritage assets ‘local lists’ although around half of local authorities in England
currently maintain such lists. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states
that a heritage asset is: “A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape
identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning
decisions, because of its heritage interest. Heritage asset includes designated
heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including local
listing)”. A local list is a list of buildings, structures or sites which are recognised for
their contributions to the local character and distinctiveness. They are locally
significant heritage assets which add to the quality of the local environment by
enhancing and sustaining a sense of place and distinctiveness but have not been
designated at national level.

2.2 The Teignbridge Local Plan 2013 - 2033 includes polices that aim to protect and
enhance heritage assets. Policy EN5 Heritage Assets refers:-

“To protect and enhance the area’s heritage, consideration of development proposals
will take account of the significance, character, setting and local distinctiveness of

61

Agenda Item 8



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

any affected heritage asset, including Scheduled Monuments, Listed Buildings,
Conservation Areas, Historic Parks and Gardens, other archaeological sites and
other assets on the Register of Local Assets, particularly those of national
importance.”

2.3 Policy EN5 will act with Policy S2 to ensure that new development takes full
account of historic and heritage assets affected by it. The aim will be to incorporate
such assets within development in a positive manner, although the weight to be
attached to them will reflect their significance, and the positive benefits that come
with the development being proposed.

2.4 Paragraph 5.19 of the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013 - 2033 states the Council will
act to positively manage the heritage assets and will consider the preparation of a
Heritage Strategy, further Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans, a
Register of Local Assets and a local Buildings at Risk Register. By commencing the
preparation of a register of Local Heritage Assets the Council supports the policy
within the Teignbridge Local Plan to protect and enhance Heritage Assets

2.5 A set of selection criteria has been drawn up to be used in assessing the merits
of assets for inclusion in the Local List.  The criteria follow the guidance published by
Historic England.  When an asset is proposed for inclusion on the list it will then form
part of a public consultation and the owner will be contacted as part of this
consultation process.  Local listing will be considered on a parish basis rather than
district basis. Following the consultation the information will be reviewed and the
final draft assets for the parish will be presented to the committee for approval to be
included on the register.

2.6 The adoption of a Local List will not, in itself, provide extra protection for
buildings, structures, landscapes or other assets on the List.  Only national listed
buildings, registered parks and gardens, those in Conservation Areas or scheduled
monuments enjoy statutory protection.  However inclusion in a Local List would be a
material consideration in planning decisions, as set out in the NPPF (para 135) and
the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-33.

3. CONSULTEES

The selection criteria and register will be a technical guidance note for developers,
their consultants, town and parish councils and Local Planning Authority Officers.
Town and parish Councils have been consulted on their views on the selection
criteria.

4. POLICY DOCUMENTS

Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-33
EN5 Heritage Assets
S2 Quality Development

National Planning Policy Framework para 135

62



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

5. APPENDICES

Appendix 1
Selection Criteria for Non-designated Heritage Assets.

Appendix 2
Schedule of representations.

63



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

LOCAL LIST CRITERIA

The following criteria have been developed with the criteria for national listing in
mind, but focussing on local character and distinctiveness. The National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) defines a heritage asset as “a building, monument, site,
place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of significance meriting
consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. Heritage asset
includes designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning
authority (including local listing).” It defines significance as “the value of a heritage
asset to this and future generations because of its heritage interest. That interest
may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic.” Conservation Principles
defines heritage value as aesthetic, communal, historic and evidential. The following
criteria represent an attempt to summarise these values and enable the definition of
locally distinctive and valued heritage assets.

A. Architectural Interest
A1. Does the building reflect the character of the area in terms of style or the use of
local materials?
A2. Does the building contain particular features typical of a local building style?
A3. Does the building/group of buildings reflect a historic development pattern for the
local area?
A4. Does the building represent a rare or unusual style, or a unique survival of one
that was formerly common in Teignbridge?
A5. Would the character of the local area be diminished by the loss of the building or
site?
A6. Is the building the work of an architect with an established local, regional or
national reputation?
A7. Does the building enhance the local townscape by its location, age and setting?
A8. Is it an important feature of a locally or regionally important designed landscape?
A9. Is it a good example of an innovative construction technique and/or use of
material?
A10. Is the building an example of an important architectural style?

B. Historic Importance
B1. Is the building shown on 1st edition Ordnance Survey maps (1880s) or earlier?
B2. Does the building or site reflect a particular event in the area?
B3. Does the building or site have associations with particular well-known people?
B4. Is the building associated with a recognisable type of historic development, such
as the establishment and growth of particular industries?
B5. Does the building still hold evidence for former industrial uses?
B6. Is the building or site associated with a particular group or organisation?

65



B7. Does the building or structure have evidence for an earlier land use?
B8. Does the building or structure reflect the growth or historic layout of a place?
B9. Does the building feature in historic images or film of note?

C. Artistic Interest
C1. Does the building have particular artistic interest, such as carvings, paintings,
street art or other decoration?
C2. Is it a structure of particular artistic merit e.g. art installations, street furniture,
memorials?
C3. Is the work that of a well-known individual?
C4. Is the artwork located in an area otherwise devoid of such works?
C5. Is the artwork or structure of a temporary or permanent nature?

D. Archaeological interest
D1. Does the site contain evidence for surviving archaeological structures or
features, such as buildings, artefacts, intact stratification or a combination of these?
D2. Is there evidence for concentrations of particular types of artefacts (e.g. flint
scatters, pottery wasters)?

E. Community value
E1. Is the building or site regarded by the local or a wider community as an important
resource, as a place of collective memory or as somewhere which represents the
spirit of a place?
E2. Is the building a rare or unique example in the locality of a type of community
resource which has been well-used in recent times or is in current use and which
would be difficult or impossible to replace?

F. Other factors
F1. How complete is the building/structure/site?
F2. What is its current condition?
F3. How rare is this building or site type?
F4. Does it have aesthetic appeal?
F5. How typical of Teignbridge is it?

Age The age of an asset may be an important criterion and the range
can be adjusted to take into account distinctive local
characteristics

Rarity Appropriate for all assets, as judged against local characteristics
Aesthetic value The intrinsic design value of an asset relating to local styles,

materials or any other distinctive local characteristics
Group value Groupings of assets with a clear visual, design or historic

relationship

66



Evidential value The significance of a local heritage asset of any kind may be
enhanced by a significant contemporary or historic written
record

Historic
association

The significance of a local heritage asset of any kind may be
enhanced by a significant historical association of local or
national note, including links to important local figures

Archaeological
interest

This may be an appropriate reason to designate a locally
significant asset on the grounds of archaeological interest if the
evidence base is sufficiently compelling and if a distinct area can
be identified.

Designed
landscapes

Relating to the interest attached to locally important designated
landscapes, parks and gardens

Landmark status An asset with strong communal or historical associations, or
because it has especially striking aesthetic value, may be
singled out as a landmark within the local scene

Social and
communal value

Relating to places perceived as a source of local identity,
distinctiveness, social interaction and coherence; often residing
in intangible aspects of heritage contributing to the “collective
memory” of a place

67



This page is intentionally left blank



PARISH RESPONDENT COMMENTS OFFICER RESPONSE

Newton Abbot Helen Wills
Town Councillor

Ask to include an extra question “Is the structure in danger of being
lost by either man made or natural means?”

Also, old structures which have lost their 'within living history' and no-
one recognises them for what they were, also are in danger of being
lost, especially here in Devon where every other structure within the
open countryside is now being converted or razed to the ground.

This is not a criteria for
listing only for providing a
quick response but can
be included in an online
form.

This is a comment for the
development
management process.
No change required.

Chudleigh Andrew & Helen
Turnbull
CADAS

This covers the very issues that CADAS has been grappling with for
the last 2 years… we have been unable to make further progress on
drawing up a list

We have been unable within our Society to identify anyone who has
the specific expertise necessary and who has the time available to
assist. As I previously indicated to you, the collection of this data
requires considerable time and expertise and may also need the help
of the Chudleigh History Group to provide a historical input. This is
currently beyond the scope of CADAS and its limited resources
although we would wish to help in any way that we can.

CADAS still has the photographic exhibit highlighting features of the
Conservation Area that was mounted in the Parish Church during
Chudfest 2017 should the Councillors wish to view it.

No change required

69



Exminster Jill Daw
Parish Clerk

Can you please pass on Exminster Parish Council’s support for this
project

No change required

Whitestone David Friend I would like to comment about the Locally Listed Building consultation
rather than the actual issue raised. At present there does not appear
to be any effective enforcement action taken by TDC. For instance
applicants for conversion of cobb walled buildings which are in poor
condition are granted permission to build a structure inside it.
Magically the old cobb walls fall down and are replaced with a
conventional structure.
Permission for a barn without any landscaping is granted. Magically
2000 tonnes of builders waste is dumped on the site and rolled flat to
make a surface 2 metres higher than the surrounding land and TDC
says it is all legal.
I would dearly like to see suitable buildings preserved and reused
however, without enforcement, all this seems futile. Determining what
is suitable, as this consultation aims to achieve, is beyond my
capabilities but I wish you all the best.

No change required

70



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE
CHAIRMAN:  Cllr  Dennis Smith

DATE: 8 January 2018

REPORT OF: Business Manager – Strategic Place

SUBJECT: Appeal Decisions

1 17/00052/REF DAWLISH - La Falaise 9 Old Teignmouth Road 
Appeal against refusal of three dwellings
APPELLANT: Mr & Mrs Korzenietz

APPEAL ALLOWED -  (OFFICER RECOMMENDED 
APPROVAL – COMMITTEE OVERTURNED)

2 17/00040/NOND
ET

DAWLISH - Branscombe Farm  Branscombe Lane 

Appeal against Non-Determination of Planning 
Application 17/00104/FUL - Agricultural storage building
APPELLANT: Mrs M Carter

APPEAL DISMISSED -  (OFFICER RECOMMENDED 
APPROVAL – COMMITTEE OVERTURNED)

3 17/00059/REF CHUDLEIGH - Woodlands Farm Chudleigh 
Appeal against the refusal of application for Prior 
Approval 17/01025/NPA - Application for Prior Approval 
under Part 3 Class Q (a) and (b) and paragraph W of 
the GPDO for change of use of an agricultural building 
from agricultural use to a dwelling
APPELLANT: Mr G Gill

APPEAL ALLOWED (DELEGATED REFUSAL)

71

Agenda Item 9



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

4 17/00056/FAST DAWLISH - Innisfree Smugglers Lane 
Appeal against refusal planning permission 16/01719 
for New pitched roof on main roof to create additional 
accommodation,  balcony on existing flat roof, single 
storey extension, replacement conservatory and 
replacement cladding
APPELLANT: Mr J Buckley

APPEAL DISMISSED (DELEGATED REFUSAL)

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE FULL TEXT OF THESE APPEAL DECISIONS IS
AVAILABLE ON THE COUNCIL'S WEBSITE

72



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE
CHAIRMAN:  Cllr Dennis Smith

DATE: 23rd Jan 2018

REPORT OF: Business Manager – Strategic Place

SUBJECT: Teignbridge Design Guide

RECOMMENDATION

Planning Committee is recommended to:

Resolve

1. That the draft Teignbridge Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) and supporting documents is approved for consultation with a view to a
final version being approved at a future Executive.

1. PURPOSE

To consider the draft Teignbridge Design Guide SPD and to approve it for
consultation purposes.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The draft Teignbridge Design Guide SPD has been prepared in order to
provide a framework and reference point to achieve high quality development
within Teignbridge. It will therefore be based upon the Teignbridge Local Plan
2013 - 2033 and National Planning Policy Framework.

2.2 Members will recall an informal presentation of selected early sections of the
guide in November by the Urban Design Officer which provided an overview of
the overall content, structure, and presentation of the guide and at the same time
members were introduced to some of the specific content.

2.3 The guide is structured to provide a series of design codes and design
guidance to cover a range of scales from the design of entire new
neighbourhoods to detailed design that create interesting and attractive places at

73

Agenda Item 10



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

a human scale. A key emphasis of the document is to encourage development
that reinforces local character and distinctiveness.

2.4 A primary aim is to provide real value for developers, agents and others
working up potential development schemes, as the guide sets out the design
quality benchmarks that Teignbridge will refer to when assessing schemes. It is
guidance that roundly accords with the TDC Council Strategy in terms of ‘Great
Places to live and Work’ programme as a whole and in particular the first action.

2.5 Members will receive some additional content from the draft Design Guide
with the Update Sheet prior to the committee meeting.

3 MAIN IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The draft Teignbridge Design Guide contains amplifications and refinement of
design related policies within the Teignbridge Local Plan which are clearly
explained in the guidance.

3.2 The core content is included within 5 main sections:

 Principal Layout Strategies – sets out the principle design rules at the
scale of large new areas of development such as new neighbourhoods
and includes legibility, movement networks and residential density.

 Urban Structures – sets out the principles at the scale of development
blocks including parking court, Mews Lane and back-to-back blocks.

 Green Structures – sets out the principles for the design of open
spaces, including greenways and wildlife corridors, urban parks and
community open spaces.

 Streets and movement. – sets out the principles for the design of
highway areas and parking

 Building design - sets out the principles for the design of buildings
including construction materials and common building styles of
Teignbridge.

3.3 The draft Design Guide provides a detailed interpretation of Policy S2 –
Quality Development, (an intention emphasised in The Plan under para 2.5). It is
therefore firmly based on the Teignbridge Local Plan and National Planning Policy
Framework (section 7 priority of requiring good design)

3.4 As a whole, the guide therefore carries important implications for those
involved in the development process and as a material consideration for future
planning applications particularly for residential and employment schemes.

74



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Supporting Documents

3.5 A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening Statement of the
draft Design Guide is attached as Appendix A to this report and will be available
for consultation alongside the draft Design Guide. The screening concludes that
there are no new significant effects likely to arise through the implementation of
the draft Design Guide that have not previously been identified through the full
SA/SEA of the Teignbridge Local Plan.

3.6 A Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening Assessment of the draft
Design Guide is attached as Appendix B to this report and will also be available
for consultation alongside the draft guide. The assessment concludes that there
will be no likely significant effect on a European wildlife site from the draft Design
Guide.

4 GROUPS CONSULTED

4.1 Design related policies (such as Policy S2 – Quality Development) were
subject to public consultation and independent examination for the preparation of
the now adopted Teignbridge Local Plan.  Discussions have since been held with
Councillors, with technical advice from Devon County Council and other specialist
officers in the preparation of this draft SPD.

4.2 The work has been undertaken in close cooperation between officers across
the Council including in particular the Design & Heritage, Development
Management and Spatial Planning & Delivery teams.

4.3 The draft guide will be subject to formal public consultation over a 6-week
period in accordance with Local Planning Regulations (The Town and Country
Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2012). Amongst other consultees, views
will be sought from local development industry representatives and government
agencies.

5 TIMESCALE

5.1 Following the consultation, a responses report will be prepared, including any
recommended amendments to the draft Design Guide which will be reported back
to members during the Spring and the final version subsequently approved as a
Supplementary Planning Document by Executive Committee.

6 JUSTIFICATION

6.1 The main reasons are to make planning guidance for all forms of development
consistent with the adopted Local Plan and national planning policy and where
possible simplify in order to help users. In addition, to fulfil a corporate plan
action.

Nick Davies   Business Manager, Strategic Place

75



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Wards affected All outside Dartmoor National Park

Contact for any more information Mark Harris Urban Design Officer 01626 215750
Background Papers (For Part I reports only) Teignbridge Local Plan 2013 – 2033

National Planning Policy Framework (Section 7)

Planning Practice Guidance – Design

Building for Life 12 (Third edition) Design Council Jan
2015

Appendices attached: A:  SEA – Screening Statement of Teignbridge Design
Guide SPD
B:  HRA – Screening Assessment of Teignbridge
Design Guide SPD
etc

76



APPENDIX A

Strategic Environmental Assessment - Screening Statement

Teignbridge Design Guide Supplementary Planning
Document

1. Background and Context

1.1 The draft Teignbridge Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
has been prepared in line with the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033.

1.2 The draft Design Guide SPD contains:
 Policy context based upon the Teignbridge Local Plan regarding design with

particular focus on:
- setting standards and parameters for the design of land;
- providing a reference point for character and identity of settlements

within the district; and
- setting expectations for information that influences design quality.

 Advice and guidance on: Principal Layout Strategies, Urban Structures,
Streets and Movement, Green Structures and Building Design.

1.3 The draft Design Guide SPD provides detail on the implementation of Policy
S1, S2 and WE4 as set out in the Teignbridge Local Plan 2013-2033. As such
these policies have already been subject to a higher level of Strategic
Environmental Assessment, Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulation
Assessment.

2. SEA Screening

2.1Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is a process to identify likely
significant effects of a plan or policy on the environment.  The requirement to
assess certain plans and programmes is set out in the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004, which transpose the
European Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive (2001/42/EC). An SEA
is required where plans, may have significant environmental effects.  Schedule 1
of the regulations set out the criteria for determining whether an SEA is required
and these are considered below:

77



“1. The Characteristics of plans and programmes, having regard, in particular, to –

a) the degree to which the plan or programmes sets a framework for projects
and other activities, either with regard to the location, nature, size and
operating conditions or by allocating resources;

b) the degree to which the plan or programme influences other plans and
programmes including those in a hierarchy;

c) the relevance of the plan or programme for the integration of environmental
considerations in particular with a view to promoting sustainable development;

d) environmental problems relevant to the plan or programme; and
e) the relevance of the plan or programme for the implementation of Community

legislation on the environment (for example, plans and programmes linked to
waste management or water protection).

2. Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having regard,
in particular, to -

a) the probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of the effects;
b) the cumulative nature of the effects;
c) the transboundary nature of the effects;
d) the risks to human health or the environment (for example, due to

accidents);
e) the magnitude and spatial extent of the effects (geographical area and size

of the population likely to be affected);
f) the value and vulnerability of the area likely to be affected due to –––

i. special natural characteristics or cultural heritage;
ii. exceeded environmental quality standards or limit values; or
iii. intensive land-use; and

g) the effects on areas or landscapes which have a recognised national,
community or international protection status.”

2.2 The draft Design Guide SPD sets out additional detail on the implementation of
Local Plan policies S1 (Sustainable Development Criteria), S2 (Quality
Development) and WE4 (Inclusive Design and Layout) which have already been
subject to Strategic Environmental Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal. The
Local Plan assessment took account of the environmental characteristics of the
area, which have not changed since those assessments were prepared. The draft
Design Guide SPD concentrates on providing a framework and reference point to
achieve high quality development within Teignbridge. Therefore, whilst setting out
details in relation to the implementation and requirements of these policies, this is
within the reasonably detailed framework already set by the Local Plan.

2.3 The draft SPD will not influence other plans in a hierarchy, but is itself highly
influenced by the Local Plan, which has already been subject to Strategic
Environmental Assessment. Its room for manoeuvre is relatively limited. It

78



clarifies and adds detail to the process of ensuring that appropriate mitigation is
taken when considering a wide range of environmental impacts arising from
development; but does not go beyond the Local Plan requirements. Where there
are minor variations from the Local Plan in detail, these are set out and justified,
but there is no indication that these will have a significantly different
environmental impact compared with the Local Plan policies.

2.4The SA/SEA Report 2012 accompanying the Proposed Submission Local Plan
assessed the potential environmental impacts of policies S1, S2 & WE4. The
following tables demonstrate any implications or variations which have arisen
from the draft Design Guide SPD and which may require further SEA.

79



Table 1: Local Plan SA/SEA conclusions - Policy S1 (Sustainable Development Criteria)

SA/SEA Factor SA/SEA Comment
(summarised) Relevant SPD Details Implications of SPD Further SEA

required?

A. Natural
Environment

The policy ensures that all
development proposals take
account of biodiversity and
natural environment issues.

In particular Green Structures
chapter/advice, including
individual design codes,
parameters & principles on
Landscape Character,
Greenways & Wildlife Corridors,
Semi-Natural Green Space.

Moderate benefits for this
SA/SEA factor with no
additional implications than
those identified in full SA/SEA
of Local Plan.

No

B. Built
Environment

The policy ensures that all
development proposals take
account of built environment
issues including the quality of
the built environment.

Design Guide (DG) sets out a
framework and reference point to
achieve high quality
development. All sections of the
guide provide fitting advice for the
built environment, including
layout strategies, urban structure
& building design.

Clear benefits for this SA/SEA
factor with no additional
implications than those
identified in full SA/SEA of
Local Plan.

No

C. Climate
Change

Appropriate accessibility by
foot, cycle and public transport
is a key policy requirement.

DG clarifies and adds detail to the
process of ensuring that
appropriate mitigation is taken
when considering a wide range of
environmental impacts arising
from development.

No additional implications than
those identified in full SA/SEA
of Local Plan. DG does not
provide environment policy in
its own right.

No

80



In particular Principal Layout
Strategies, Streets and

Movement chapters, including
individual design codes on
Movement Networks, Land Use &
Street Design Parameters.

D. Resource
Use

The impact on minerals,
agricultural production, and
measures to reuse
construction waste are to be
considered in all development
proposals.

In particular Urban Structure,
Green Structures and Building
Design chapters with specific
reference to waste and recycling,
Suds and construction materials
codes.

Moderate benefits for this
SA/SEA factor with no
additional implications than
those identified in full SA/SEA
of Local Plan.

No

E. Jobs and
Local
Economy

The economic benefits of a
proposal should be taken into
account in all development
proposals

DG provides relevant advice
concerning layout requirements
for employment/business
development schemes under
Principal Layout Strategies
chapter with particular reference
to non-residential uses land use
code.

No additional implications No

F. Town Centres

The economic benefits of a
proposal should be taken into
account in all development
proposals.

In particular Streets and
Movement chapter, including
individual design codes on street

Positive benefits for this
SA/SEA factor. No

81



design parameters, civic spaces
& paving materials.

G. Housing

The social benefits of a
proposal, which encompasses
new housing should be taken
into account. The impacts of
development on existing
residents is also a
consideration.

DG sets a reference point for
character and identity of
settlements within the district
which is an important starting
point for new housing integration.
Building Design chapter provides
holistic approach for factors.

Positive benefits for this
SA/SEA factor. No

H. Health

The social benefits of a
proposal, which encompasses
new housing should be taken
into account. The impacts of
development on existing
residents is also a
consideration.

DG provides important points to
ensure a network of routes
allowing direct, safe and
attractive movement from place
to place against a Movement
Network Code and value of well-
designed open space under
codes within the Green
Structures section.

There will be clear benefits for
this SA/SEA factor, with no
additional implications than
those identified in the full
SA/SEA of Local Plan.

No

I. Infrastructure
The need for infrastructure is
referred to within the policy.

Infrastructure aspects are
comprehensively covered within
all sections of the guide.

Positive benefits for this
SA/SEA factor. DG is not
however the only or main
source of guidance on
infrastructure related issues.

No

82



Table 2: Local Plan SA/SEA conclusions - Policy S2 (Quality Development)

SA/SEA Factor SA/SEA Comment
(summarised) Relevant SPD Details Implications of SPD Further SEA

required?

A. Natural
Environment

The protection of key
environmental assets and the
requirement to respect the
landscape character of the
area will ensure natural
environment benefits.

The DG advocates a clear design
process which involves a detailed
site appraisal to identify
environmental context of the site.
In particular Green Structures
chapter contains advice through
design codes, parameters &
principles on Landscape
Character, Greenways & Wildlife
Corridors, Semi-Natural Green
Space.

Clear benefits for this SA/SEA
factor with no additional
implications than those
identified in full SA/SEA of
Local Plan.

No

B. Built
Environment

The policy will ensure that
design of new developments is
of a high quality and heritage
assets are protected. The
policy will help make the built
environment accessible to all,
including people with
disabilities.

The DG contains important
design parameters and principles
to guide future schemes. All
sections of the guide provide
fitting advice for the built
environment including layout
strategies, urban structure &
building design.

Positive benefits for this
SA/SEA factor with no
additional implications than
those identified in full SA/SEA
of Local Plan.

No

83



C. Climate
Change

References to the importance
of movement by walking,
cycling and public transport will
support reductions in carbon
emissions. The reference to
SuDs will ensure climate
change mitigation
infrastructure is in place.

DG clarifies and adds detail to the
process of ensuring that
appropriate mitigation is taken
when considering a wide range of
environmental impacts arising
from development. In particular,
Principal Layout Strategies
chapter contains code advice on
Movement ‘to provide publicly
accessible connections between
existing and proposed
development areas for
pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles
at intervals that create a well -
connected network.’ Green
Structures chapter contains code
advice on Sustainable urban
Drainage Systems – ‘SuDs are to
be designed as an integral part of
new development in order to
reduce the impact of upstream
and downstream flooding and
bring about wider environmental
and amenity benefits …’

Positive benefits for this
SA/SEA factor with no
additional implications than
those identified in full SA/SEA
of Local Plan.

No

D. Resource
Use

The most efficient and effective
use of the site will help to
minimise land take.

Guidance for Residential Density
(within Principal Layout
Strategies) stresses aim ‘to help
ensure that land is well used’.

Moderate benefits for this
SA/SEA factor. No additional
implications to those identified

No

84



Other chapters for Urban
Structures, Green Structures, and
Building Design contain specific
reference to waste and recycling,
SuDs and construction materials
codes.

in the full SA/SEA for Policy S2
of the Local Plan.

E. Jobs and
Local
Economy

No impact

Limited relevance. Codes on
residential density and
neighbourhoods do though
provide strong context for places
to shop, work and live with
associated merits for local
economy.

No additional implications. No

F. Town Centres

Policy objectives including
good quality design, public
safety and ensuring
accessibility for all will help to
support the town centres.

In particular Principal Layout
Strategies chapter, including
individual design codes on
legibility and residential density
provide relevant details about
value of living in town centres and
related mixed uses.

Positive benefits for this
SA/SEA factor. Codes for
Principal Layout Strategies
provide a strong framework for
enhancing connection between
new development schemes
and centres.

No

G. Housing
The policy will ensure that
design, quality and safety of
new housing developments is
of a high quality although this

Building Design chapter provides
holistic approach for factors.
Principal Layout Strategies
section in terms of design codes
on Legibility, Movement Networks

Positive benefits for this
SA/SEA factor. Relevant
Codes within the DG to ensure
that development will deliver a
high quality design.

No

85



will in part depend on further
more detailed guidance.

& Neighbourhoods provide
practical guidelines for helping
create balanced places with
access to an appropriate mix of
services and facilities. The latter
Code states from the first:
‘Development in Teignbridge is to
be arranged to function as
walkable neighbourhoods with
options to access facilities, goods
and services, jobs and public
transport’ (with x5 related
conditions)

H. Health

The policy refers to
accessibility for different age
groups and people with
disabilities, which will support a
healthier more accessible
environment.  Extra physical
activity arising from more
cycling and walking provision
will improve health generally.

DG provides important points to
ensure a healthier more
accessible environment.
Individual codes on Movement
prioritise people on foot and
those with disabilities when
planning new development; urban
parks to ‘ be designed as a
component of the wider network
of spaces contributing to the full
range of uses, including informal
active or passive recreation and
socialising and sports facilities’
incorporation amongst other
facilities. Defined links to Active
Places context.

There will be clear benefits for
this SA/SEA factor, with no
additional implications than
those identified in the full
SA/SEA of Local Plan.
Relevant Codes within the DG
to ensure that development
must deliver well designed
urban parks, sports facilities
and play areas amongst
others. Together with layout
strategies for such aspects as
‘green and blue space’ to cater

No

86



for valuable networks within
urban areas.

I. Infrastructure No impact
Infrastructure aspects are
comprehensively covered within
all sections of the guide.

Positive benefits for this
SA/SEA factor. The DG details
a range of infrastructure items;
such as green structures &
street facilities that will all have
a positive impact on the
provision of services and
facilities.

No

87



Table 3: Local Plan SA/SEA conclusions - Policy WE4 (Inclusive Design and Layout)

SA/SEA Factor SA/SEA Comment
(summarised) Relevant SPD Details Implications of SPD Further SEA

required?

A. Natural
Environment No impact

In particular Green Structures
chapter contains advice through
design codes, parameters &
principles on Landscape
Character, Greenways & Wildlife
Corridors, Semi-Natural Green
Space.

Clear benefits for this SA/SEA
factor with no additional
implications than those
identified in full SA/SEA of
Local Plan.

No

B. Built
Environment

The proposal will allow for
better more inclusive layouts
and design.

The DG contains important
design parameters and
principles to guide future
schemes. In particular Urban
Structure & Building Design
chapters, including individual
design codes on Block Design,
Parking Court Blocks and Good
Building Design amongst others.

Positive benefits for this
SA/SEA factor with no
additional implications than
those identified in full SA/SEA
of Local Plan.

No

C. Climate Change No impact None None No
D. Resource Use No impact None None No
E. Jobs and Local

Economy
No impact None None No

F. Town Centres No impact None None No

88



G. Housing

No impact
Building Design chapter provides
holistic approach for factors.
Principal Layout Strategies
chapter, in terms of design code
on Neighbourhoods details
practical guidelines for helping
create balanced places with
access to an appropriate mix of
services and facilities.

Clear benefits for this SA/SEA
factor with no additional
implications than those
identified in full SA/SEA of
Local Plan.

No

H. Health

Inclusive design and layout
should support efforts to
reduce crime and increase
social cohesion, with benefits
for health

DG places a strong emphasis on
high quality design and layout
and value of well-designed open
space under Codes within the
Green Structures chapter. Other
relevant chapters include
Principal Layout Strategies and
Urban Structure.

Positive benefits for this
SA/SEA factor with no
additional implications than
those identified in full SA/SEA
of Local Plan.

No

I. Infrastructure No impact None None No

89



3. Variations

3.1 The SEA screening should assess any variations to the relevant policies that
the SPD has introduced. In this case, whilst the draft SPD has added
considerable detail to frame delivery of high quality designed development; it
has not made any variations which would result in environmental impacts
needing to be identified that would not have already been picked up in the
Local Plan SA/SEA.

4. Conclusion

4.1 Accordingly, the SEA Screening (as set out in Section 2) indicates the draft
version of the Teignbridge Design Guide SPD contains no new significant
negative effects on the environment likely to arise through implementation of the
guide. Therefore a Strategic Environmental Assessment of the Teignbridge
Design Guide SPD is not required.

90



Habitats Regulations Assessment of the ‘Urban Design Guide - Committee Draft’ Screening Assessment Undertaken January 2018

Page 1 of 5

APPENDIX B

HRA Screening Matrix
to Identify the Likelihood of Significant Effects

from the

Teignbridge District Council
Design Guide

Committee Draft

January 2018

Assessment undertaken by Teignbridge District Council

91



Habitats Regulations Assessment of the ‘Urban Design Guide - Committee Draft’ Screening Assessment Undertaken January 2018

Page 2 of 5

Habitat Regulations Assessment
European wildlife sites receive special protection under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitat
Regulations). Section 61 of the Habitat Regulations states that:

61.—(1) A competent authority, before deciding to undertake, or give any consent, permission or other authorisation for, a
plan or project which—

(a) is likely to have a significant effect on a European site or a European offshore marine site (either alone or in
combination with other plans or projects), and
(b) is not directly connected with or necessary to the management of that site, must make an appropriate assessment
of the implications for that site in view of that site’s conservation objectives.

Section 102 of the Habitat Regulations clarifies that this requirement extends to land use plans as well as other types of plan.  Local
Plans, Supplementary Planning Documents and Development Frameworks qualify as such Plans.

When read in conjunction with the Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Teignbridge Local Plan, this document constitutes
the Habitat Regulations Assessment of Teignbridge District Council’s January 2018 Draft Urban Design Guide. The Local Plan HRA
details the European sites, explores the issues associated with all Local Plan policies and allocations, considers in-combination
proposals and proposes mitigation where required.

European wildlife sites in or near Teignbridge, which might be affected by Teignbridge plans are:
- South Hams Special Area of Conservation (SAC);
- Exe Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA), Ramsar site and European Marine site;
- Dawlish Warren SAC;
- East Devon Pebblebed Heaths SPA and SAC;
- Dartmoor SAC;
- South Dartmoor Woods SAC; and
- Lyme Bay to Torbay candidate SAC.

Links to key documents:
http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/localplan (Local Plan)
http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=37947&p=0 (HRA of Local Plan)
http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=37949&p=0 (Screening Matrix for HRA of Local Plan)
http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/hra (Exe Estuary, Dawlish Warren and Pebblebed Heaths Joint Approach)
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/media/1747/ne-south-hams-sac-planning-guidance-nov-2011.pdf (Natural England’s South Hams
SAC Planning Guidance)

92



Habitats Regulations Assessment of the ‘Urban Design Guide - Committee Draft’ Screening Assessment Undertaken January 2018

Page 3 of 5

The Design Guide
The Design Guide aims to provide a framework and reference point to achieve high quality development within the Teignbridge
district. The Design Guide does not: include development policies; allocate land for development; or facilitate development, except in
that it recommends how applicants can best design their proposals to be acceptable in design terms.
It is intended to adopt the Design Guide as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).  If approved by committee, the current draft
of the Design Guide will be subject to public consultation, prior to revisions and return to committee.

Habitat Regulations Assessment of the Design Guide
This document screens the January2018 draft Design Guide for any likely significant effects on European wildlife sites. Further
Habitat Regulations Assessment of the revised version will be undertaken, before returning to committee for adoption. Natural
England’s 2006 guidance recommends assessing plans against the following checklist:

Checklist of Reasoning to determine likelihood of a negative effect on a European site
from draft English Nature guidance 2006

No negative effect 0.  The development would occur away from the European site and would have no direct or indirect effects
1. The policy will not itself lead to development (i.e. it relates to design or other qualitative criteria for development, or it is not a land use planning
policy)
2. The policy makes provision for a quantum/type of development, but the location is to be selected following considerations of options in other
LDD’s or is discussed in later policies in this LDD.
3. No development could occur through this policy alone, because it is implemented through subordinate policies which are more detailed and
therefore more appropriate for AA
4. Concentration of development in urban areas will not affect European site and will help steer development and land use change away from
European Site and associated sensitive areas
5. The policy will help to steer development away from European Site and associated sensitive areas
6. The policy is intended to protect the natural environment, including biodiversity
7. The policy is intended to conserve or enhance the natural, built or historic environment, and enhancement measures will not be likely to have any
effect on a European site.

Potential negative
effect

8. The policy steers a quantum or type of development towards, or encourages development in, an area that includes a European Site or an area
where development may indirectly affect a European site

Likely to have a
significant effect

9. The policy makes provision for a quantum, or kind of development that in the location(s) proposed would be likely to have a significant effect on a
European Site.  The proposal must be subject to Habitats Regulations Assessment to establish, in light of the site’s conservation objectives, whether
it can be ascertained that the proposal would not adversely affect the integrity of the site.

93



Habitats Regulations Assessment of the ‘Urban Design Guide - Committee Draft’ Screening Assessment Undertaken January 2018

Page 4 of 5

The draft Urban Design Guide will not itself lead to development, but seeks to improve the quality of developments facilitated by
other Plans by encouraging better design.  Some of the design principles encourage design sympathetic to the built, historic and
natural environments, including designing green infrastructure beneficial to biodiversity.

Screening Matrix to Identify the Likelihood of Significant Effects
The findings of the current assessment are presented in the Screening Matrix below.

Screening Matrix

Document Likely
Significant

Effect
Screening

Likely Significant Effect on
SACs and SPAs

Outcome of the Screening Can Counteracting Measures
Be Applied Through

Modification of the Plan?

So
ut

h
H

am
s

D
aw

lis
h

W
ar

re
n

Ex
e

Es
tu

ar
y

Pe
bb

le
be

d
H

ea
th

s
D

ar
tm

oo
r

SA
C

s

Ly
m

e 
B

ay

Design Guide
January 2018 Draft

1, 7 No LSE anticipated None required

Key to Screening Matrix
Traffic lights system
Green Site or policy that will have no likely adverse significant effect

Amber Action may have an effect but not significant (minor residual)

Red Action likely to have significant effect

94



Habitats Regulations Assessment of the ‘Urban Design Guide - Committee Draft’ Screening Assessment Undertaken January 2018

Page 5 of 5

Conclusion

This assessment concludes that there will be no likely significant effect on a European wildlife site from the provisions of the
January 2018 Draft Design Guide. However, future changes to this document will require further assessment.

95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Guide

Urban
Design

legibility

movement networks

residential density

neighbourhoods

green and blue space

self build
construction materials

tradi  onal materials
building styles

Storey Heights
community facilities

edge blocks

block design

private frontages

waste and recycling Daylighting

Street Design

design parameters

 trees

bicycles

Civic Spaces

Paving Materials Street Ligh  ng

street alignments

Character TypesParking

urban parks

community open spaces

semi-natural green space

Allotments Community Gardens

sports facilities

Play Areas

suds
Materials

building types

development principles

topography

Bicycles
090118  Consulta  on Dra  

97



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

This page is inten  onally blank 

98



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

2

Prepared and published by Teignbridge District Council, Forde House, 
Brunel Road, Newton Abbot TQ12 4XX

With special thanks to:
LHC Architects 

InspiraƟ on from The Prince’s FoundaƟ on for Building Community

If you would like this informaƟ on in another format please email 
info@teignbridge.gov.uk or call  01626 361 101

All relevant maps based on Ordnance Survey Material with permission of Ordnance 
Survey  on behalf of the controller of her Majesty’s StaƟ onary Offi  ce (C) Crown Copyright. 
Unauthorised reproducƟ on infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecuƟ on or civil 

proceedings. Teignbridge District Council 100024292.

99



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

3

Weight in Decision Making

Securing good design is central to good planning 
and place-making. The appearance of a proposed 
development and its relaƟ onship to its surroundings 
are material planning consideraƟ ons.

All planning decisions within the district must be 
made in accordance with the Development Plan, 
which includes the Local Plan. Once adopted, as 
a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) the 
Teignbridge  Design Guide will become a material 
consideraƟ on to guide decisions relaƟ ng to planning 
applicaƟ ons and will be a vital planning tool for 
shaping new development in line with the policies 
set out in the Local Plan, including Policy S2: Quality 
Development. 

Prior to its adopƟ on, including during and aŌ er the 
consultaƟ on period, the Teignbridge Design Guide 
SPD carries planning weight that may be material 
for consideraƟ on by developers and decision 
makers when preparing and determining planning 
applicaƟ ons for new development. 

Process and Next Steps:
The broad Ɵ metable below sets out when we are aiming to consult upon and fi nalise the draŌ  Design 
Guide SPD (in line with The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) RegulaƟ ons 2012)

Timetable

Produce and publish draŌ  SPD document
Publish chapters of the guide as early draŌ s onto the Teignbridge 
District Council’s Web site.  Invite comments to develop content

September 2016 onwards

AdverƟ se and consult widely on the complete Design Guide SPD 
for at least 6 weeks (RegulaƟ ons 12, 13 and 35)

January/Febuary 2018

Publish a ‘RegulaƟ on 12 Statement of Public ParƟ cipaƟ on’, seƫ  ng 
out the consultaƟ on process, a summary of main issues raised and 
how those issues were addressed

March 2018

Agreement to adopt by Teignbridge Council and PublicaƟ on of 
fi nal Design Guide SPD and AdopƟ on Statement

April 2018

This document aims to provide a framework 
and reference point to achieve high quality 
development within Teignbridge district by:

 seƫ  ng standards and parameters for the 
design of land.

 providing a reference point for character and 
idenƟ ty of seƩ lements within the district.  

 seƫ  ng expectaƟ ons for informaƟ on that 
infl uences design quality.

 supporƟ ng design related policies of 
Teignbridge Local Plan.

Aims of the Document

Version
09/01/18 ConsultaƟ on draŌ  

100



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

4

Contents
Design Guide Contents Local Plan Policy S2 links Other Plan 

Policies
Page

Contents and Context
Aims of The Document 2

The Weight in Decision Making 3
Contents 4
Using the Guide 5
Process 6

Code ref Principal Layout Strategies
DG-LS1 Legibility S2 (E) (G) (J) (K) 10
DG-LS2 Movement Networks S1 (A) (B) S2 (D) (E) S9, S10 12
DG-LS3 ResidenƟ al Density S2 (A) (B) (E) (G) (H) (I) 14
DG-LS4 Scale of the Built Form S2 (A) (B) (E) (G) (I) (K) 16
DG-LS5 Neighbourhoods S2 (B) (D) (E) (F) (G) (H) (I) WE4,S6 18
DG-LS6 Land Use  - Non-ResidenƟ al Uses 

CompaƟ ble with ResidenƟ al Land
S2 (B) (H) (I) (M) EC6, EC9, EC10 20

GD-LS7 Land Use  - Non-ResidenƟ al Uses Not 
CompaƟ ble with ResidenƟ al Land

S1 (E) (F) 22

DG-LS8 Land Use - Community FaciliƟ es S2 (B) (E) (H) 24
DG-LS9 Land Use - Green and Blue Space S2 (M) 26
DG -LS10 AcƟ ve Place S2 (B) (C) (H) (J) (K) (L) S5,6,9,14 

WE11,13, HT1,3
28

Code ref Urban Structure
DG-US1 Block Design  General Principles S2 (C) (D) (E) (F) (G) WE4, 32
DG-US1.1 Parking Court Blocks S2 (C) (D) (E) (F) (G) WE4, 34
DG-US1.2 Mews Lane Blocks S2 (C) (D) (E) (F) (G) WE4, 36
DG-US1.3 Back-to-Back Blocks S2 (C) (D) (E) (F) (G) WE4, 38
DG-US1.4 Edge Blocks S2 (C) (D) (E) (F) (G) WE4, 40
DG-US1.5 Wrap Around Blocks S2 (C) (D) (E) (F) (G) WE4, 42
DG-US1.6 Block Design and Topography S2(C) 44
DG-US2 Private Frontages S2 (C) (E) 46
DG-US3 Waste and Recycling S2(C) 56
DG-US4 Services and UƟ liƟ es Networks S2 (C) 58
DG-US5 Custom and Self Build S2 (I) WE7 60
DG-US6 Back to Back Arrangements S2(H) WE8 62
DG-US7 DaylighƟ ng S2(H) WE8 63

Code ref Streets and Movement S2(), HT1
Street Design S2 (A) (B) (C) (D) (E) (F) (G) (K) (L) EC9, WE7 TBC
Street Design Geneal Parameters S1 (B) (C) (D) (E) (F) (K) (L) WE7 TBC
Parking S2 (B) (F) (L) TBC

Not yet available

101



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

5

Other Plan 
Policies

Page

Green Structures
DG-GS1 Landscape Character S2 (A) (G) (K) EN2, S1 TBC
DG-GS2 Green Infrastructure S2 (A) (B) (C) (D) (E) (H) (J) (K) (L) 

(M)
TBC

DG-GS3 Urban Parks S2 (B) (C) (H) (J) (K) (M) (L) TBC
DG-GS4 Natural Green Space S2 (C) (H) (J) (K) (M) (L) TBC
DG-GS5 Green and Blue Corridors S2 (B) (C) (D) (F) (H) (K) (L) (M) TBC
DG-GS6 Children's and Young People's Space S2 (B) (C) (H) (J) (M) (L) TBC
DG-GS7 Allotments S2 (B) (C) (D) (M) (L) TBC
DG-GS8 SuDS S2 (B) (C) (H) (J) (M) (L) EN4 TBC
DG-GS9 Street PlanƟ ng S2 (A) (B) (C) (D) (H) (K) TBC
DG-GS10 Retained Green Features S2 (A) (B) (C) (H) (K) TBC
DG-GS11 Devon Hedgebanks S2 (A) (B) (C) (K) TBC
DG-GS12 Public Art S2 (A) (C) (E) (H) (J) TBC

Building Design
DG-BD1 Good Building Design S2 (A) (B) (C) (E) (G) (K) (L) WE4 TBC
DG-BD2 DomesƟ c Extensions S2 (A) (C) (G) (K) (L) TBC
DG-BD3 ConstrucƟ on Materials S2 (A) (C) (G) (K) WE8 TBC

Common Building Styles of Teignbridge S2 (A) (G) TBC
Materials and Details Standing Advice S2 (A) (G) TBC

DG-BD4 Shop Front Design S2 (A) (C) (E) (G) (L) TBC
DG-BD5 Building Types  - Detached Houses S2 (A) (B) (C) (E) (G) TBC

Appendix
A Streetscape Precedents TBC

102



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

6

Topic heading defi niƟ on 
descripƟ on

Advice and explanatory diagrams/
images/tables

Common mistakes and approaches 
to avoid/good examples

Design policy or important 
design parameters or  principals, 
expressed in text, tables or 
diagrams.

 Benchmarks/default posiƟ ons 
for the design of development. 
Tests for design quality.

 Statements can be used 
within planning applicaƟ ons to 
demonstrate commitment to 
design quality. 

Typical page layout:

Using the Document 

The guide is  divided into 6 main secƟ ons. Each 
provides guidance relaƟ ng to a diff erent area or 
scale of design 

Principal Layout Strategies: For proposals where large scale change to an area 
is anƟ cipated involving the seƫ  ng out of new 
neighbourhoods and the distribuƟ on of diff erent 
land uses.     

Urban Structures: Design criteria for diff erent aspects of master plans 
or large proposals.    

Streets and Movement: Design criteria for new streets, routes and civic 
areas.  

Green Structures: Design criteria for proposals that include open 
spaces, green and blue features, play and 
recreaƟ on.

Building Design:

      

Design criteria for locally disƟ ncƟ ve buildings 
including advice to homeowners preparing to make 
changes their property.

103



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

7

Process

Following  and evidencing a logical design process, 
similar to the diagram below, can help to ensure 
support of proposals when they are submiƩ ed.

Depending on the scale of development planned, 
developers/applicants should consult with Parish/
Town Councils, local people and neighbours to refi ne 
proposals.

Householder proposals are likely to be less complex 
than major planning applicaƟ ons, nevertheless 
following a logical design process can help to 
assemble a well considered  planning applicaƟ on.

Policy review

Site Survey appraisal. 
Community 
aspira  ons

Develop constraints 
and opportuni  es 

Concept layouts and 
feasibility

Layout, Block, Street  
and Parking Design

De
sig

n 
Re

vi
ew

  w
he

re
 

sig
ni
fi c

an
t

Building design and 
public realm design

Agree S106 Heads of 
Terms

Co
ns

ul
t a

nd
 a

gr
ee

 w
ith

 T
DC

Pr
ep

ar
e:

 D
es

ig
n 

an
d 

Ac
ce

ss
 St

at
em

en
t

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
fo

r L
ife

  S
ta

te
m

en
t, 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 St
at

em
en

t

If necessary, 
agree Planning 
Performance 

Agreement (PPA) 
for determina  on 
of applica  on with 

TDC

Submit Planning 
Applica  on

Policy Review
Show how  planning policies and other regula  ons would 
support or control development of the land. 
Iden  fy parameters and  standards to be achieved.

Survey and Appraisal
Assess and appraise the site’s social and environmental 
context. Go beyond only recording data to draw out 
priori  es, principles and objec  ves for development.

Constraints and Opportuni  es
Iden  fy and illustrate the constraints and opportuni  es. 
Demonstrate how the appraisal work fi ndings interact 
and would infl uence future proposals. 
Consult with Town and Parish Councils.

Concept and Feasibility
Develop concept op  ons based on the constraints 
and opportuni  es to test feasibility and develop ideas. 
Consult with local people.

EI
A

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t

Assembling a Planning Applica  on

Sec  on on 106  (where applicable)
Applicants should have agreed Sec  on 106 Heads of 
Terms with the Council prior to the submission of a 
planning applica  on.

Later Design Stages
The later design stages must refi ne the ini  al layout 
ideas and add layers of detail as the scale of the 
components within the layout diminishes from blocks, 
to streets, to the design of buildings and spaces.  
Outline applica  ons as a minimum, must set 
parameters for the design of Reserved Ma  ers.

104



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

8

Principal Layout 
Strategies

105



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

9

Legibility
Policies and guidance to ensure that places are easily 
understood and memorable for residents and visitors.

Movement Networks
From footpaths to link roads, the policies and 
guidance that ensures that a network of routes 
allows direct, safe and aƩ racƟ ve movement from 
place to place.

Residen  al Density
Guidance to help ensure that land is well used, that 
neighbourhoods funcƟ on well, whilst supporƟ ng 
public transport, and local faciliƟ es.

Scale of the Built Form
Principals and parameters for guiding the heights of 
buildings so that their scale is appropriate for their 
locaƟ on.

Neighbourhoods
Guidance to help ensure that places to shop, work, 
live, and go to school are located within reach.

Landuse:
Non-Residen  al Uses Compa  ble with 
Residen  al Land
Guidance for combining compaƟ ble non-
residenƟ al and residenƟ al uses within areas of 
new development.

Non-Residen  al Uses Not Compa  ble 
with Residen  al Land
Guidance for shaping non-residenƟ al uses within 
new areas of development.

Community Facili  es
Guidance for community faciliƟ es within new 
neighbourhoods.

Green and Blue Space
Overarching guidance for open space and water 
based infrastructure.

Ac  ve Place
Design principles for embedding physical, 
psychological and social well being into the design of 
places.

Principal Layout Strategies
The strategies and guidelines that are to be used in the design and layout of new areas of development.  

106



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

10

New development in Teignbridge is to be designed 
to have a legible structure through the following:
1. By arranging development to respond posiƟ vely 

to the disƟ ncƟ ve character, qualiƟ es and 
paƩ erns of natural and built environments that 
reinforce the local idenƟ ty of an area. 

2. Where notable landscape features exist and 
are to be retained, they are to be integrated 
to make a posiƟ ve contribuƟ on to a place’s 
legibility.

3. Visual links should be made between signifi cant 
exisƟ ng and proposed buildings, landmarks, 
landscape features and spaces and areas of new 
development. 

4. New development must not obscure, or have a 
negaƟ ve impact, on exisƟ ng or important view 
corridors.

5. Urban edges against areas of publicly accessible 
land must be designed to have a posiƟ ve outlook 
and have a strong and disƟ ncƟ ve character.

6. Buildings, streets and spaces of primary routes 
should be designed to create a network of 
disƟ nct and memorable routes and places.

7. Buildings, streets, and spaces of secondary 
and terƟ ary streets should be designed to be 
memorable at a local scale

8. Buildings which have civic and/or community 
roles must be located in visually prominent 
posiƟ ons such as at the corner of  a street, the 
terminaƟ on of a vista, on a public square or at  
key juncƟ ons.

9. ExisƟ ng buildings of disƟ ncƟ ve character that 
are worthy of retenƟ on should be integrated to 
make a posiƟ ve contribuƟ on towards an area's 
idenƟ ty. 

10. Design briefs for landmarks, key buildings  
and spaces should idenƟ fy principle physical 
aƩ ributes that meet legibility objecƟ ves.

11. Prominent side elevaƟ ons of buildings, 
parƟ cularly those located on street corners, 
are to be architecturally composed to create 
interest on the street and enhance safety 
and surveillance, for example, through the 

arrangement of materials and the placement 
and proporƟ oning of windows 

12. Buildings, streets and spaces must be arranged 
and designed to have a sense of hierarchy 
relaƟ ve to their locaƟ on within a seƩ lement, 
neighbourhood, route  or space. The highest 
order of design shall be applied to the most 
signifi cant locaƟ ons. (See sample Legibility 
Hierarchy Table overleaf).



Visual links of important landmarks form part of the 
paƩ ern of development within Teignbridge

Legibility is: the way in which a place is composed to be disƟ ncƟ ve, memorable, interesƟ ng  and of its place 
so that it is easy to navigate, is visually sƟ mulaƟ ng and disƟ ncƟ ve. 

Legibility

Code: DG-LS1 (legibility)

107



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

11

Avoid:

 TerminaƟ ng streets with views of 
garages, parking, bin stores, service 
areas, or sub staƟ ons.

 Designing blank or uninteresƟ ng 
prominent side elevaƟ ons.

 PresenƟ ng rear garden boundaries 
to areas that are publicly accessible 
including open spaces or exisƟ ng or 
proposed movement routes.  

A legibility diagram to illustrate how landscape and townscape features combine to create a memorable place. 

Primary streets designed for legibility

Secondary streets designed for 
legibility

Local streets and places and open 
spaces designed for legibility

Key buildings for legibility

Important local or wider views to 
highlight or to relate development to

Off  site landscapes, features and 
landmarks to relate to 

 

Primary Streets Secondary 
Sts Ter  ary Streets 

Highest Hierarchy  (1)                                                                           Lowest Hierarchy (3)
• Most embellished
• Most formal
• Best materials

• Least embellished
• least formal
• Simple materials

High Streets Major Urban 
Thoroughfares

Avenues/
Principal Sts

Secondary 
Link  Sts

Fine Grained 
Sts

Mews

Inside a village or 
neighbourhood centre 
boundary

1 1 1 2/3 2/3 3

Inside a town centre 
boundary

1 1 1 2 2/3 3

Outside a town or 
neighbourhood centre 
boundary but not adjacent 
to an open space

X 1 1 2 3 3

Adjacent to an open space 1 1 1 1 2 x
At places of signifi cance for 
legibility

1 1 1 1 1/2 x

Legibility Hierarchy 
Table

Ref policy DG-LS1.12. Sample hierarchy table suitable for a large outline planning applica  on showing a strategy for the design for 
buildings and spaces. Where 1 is the highest order of design and 3 is the lowest. The above to be applied rela  ve to the character of the 
exis  ng se  lement.

108



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

12

A Movement Network is: made up of the places between buildings and spaces where people move from one 
place to another. This typically includes routes for walking, cycling, travelling by public transport or in private 
vehicles.

Movement Networks

Code: DG-LS2 (Movement)
New development in Teignbridge must have movement 
networks that are permeable, interconnected, 
aƩ racƟ ve, safe and walkable that are designed as 
follows:
1. To have a clear hierarchy of primary, secondary, 

terƟ ary, and where appropriate, mews streets, 
together with other walking and cycling routes. 
The hierarchy is to be reinforced by a clear 
strategy and/or detailed design for:

1.1. Accessibility
1.2. ProporƟ on 
1.3. Materials 
1.4. Landscaping 
1.5. Tree planƟ ng
1.6. UƟ liƟ es and services
1.7. Street lighƟ ng 
1.8. Street furniture 

2. To prioriƟ se users in the following order:
2.1. People on foot  and those with disabiliƟ es,
2.2. People on bicycles
2.3. Public transport
2.4. Cars and other motorised vehicles

3. To provide a safe and aƩ racƟ ve environment 
predominantly edged by the fronts of 
development or well overlooked open spaces

4. To be interconnected, where there is the opƟ on 
for onward movement without the need for 
vehicles to u-turn such that streets are normally 
connected to other streets at intervals that 
create a walkable network

5. To provide publicly accessible connecƟ ons 
between exisƟ ng and proposed development 
areas for pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles at 
intervals that create a well connected network

6. To allow for future access needs to adjacent 
land in a way that does not frustrate future 
development potenƟ al and inter connecƟ vity

7. To exclude private drives that reduce public 
access adjacent to publicly accessible land and 
reduce the interconnected nature of the network

8. To have cross roads as the default juncƟ on type 
between blocks

9. To account for anƟ cipated traffi  c fl ows and 
environmental site factors

The following design criteria should be followed 
when designing the movement network:

Primary network streets are to:
 Pass though and connect neighbourhood centres
 Provide for prioriƟ sed segregated cycle 

movement, (including at side roads) 
 Provide for access to public transport
 Have design speeds of not greater than 30mph 

outside neighbourhood centre areas and not 
greater than 20mph inside neighbourhood centre 
areas

Secondary network streets are to:
 Provide effi  cient movement between primary 

routes and important desƟ naƟ ons
 Provide for safe on-road cycle movement
 Have design speeds of not greater than 20mph

Ter  ary network streets are to:
 Provide fi ne grained links between primary and 

secondary routes enabling  a walkable block 
structure

 Provide for safe on road cycle movement
 Have design speeds of not greater than 20mph

Mews streets are to:
 Be aƩ racƟ ve and safe streets upon which to live 

and pass through
 Be designed to be publicly accessible

Walking and cycling routes are to be:
 Safe, aƩ racƟ ve, appropriately lit, well overlooked 

and of suffi  cient width for the anƟ cipated 
numbers of users

 Direct and well connected to other exisƟ ng and 
proposed routes and well related to desire lines

109



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

13

Major development proposals are to show a movement network based on primary, secondary, terƟ ary, and dedicated walking and 
cycling routes. 

Primary Network
High Streets

Major Urban Throughfares

Avenues and Principal Streets

Secondary Network
Secondary Link Street

Ter  ary Network 
Minor Street
Mews street

Walking and Cycling routes

The Avenue, Newton Abbot is an aƩ racƟ ve primary route fronted by buildings, lined with trees, and terminated by the War Memorial and 
St Paul’s Church. The features create a memorable route with a clear sense of place that funcƟ ons for residents, pedestrians, cyclists and 
drivers. 

110



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

14

Residen  al Density is: measured as the number of dwellings per hectare (dph) and is used to esƟ mate the 
number of people living in any given area. Well designed areas of higher density enable more people to have, 
within a short walk, access to things that they need regularly, like shops, local faciliƟ es, public transport, cafés 
and restaurants. In turn, the faciliƟ es are more likely to be successful over Ɵ me as they have many more 
people within walking distance. 

Residen  al Density

Code: DG-LS3 (Density)

The distribuƟ on of density of new dwellings within 
Teignbridge is to be arranged to support the 
principles of walkable neighbourhoods as follows:

1. New development must be structured so that 
the areas of highest density are located to 
support local faciliƟ es and where there is good 
access to public transport.

2. Density ranges for Major Urban Thoroughfares 
and avenues/principal streets should be  
between 40-60dph however densiƟ es may be 
increased to up to 80dph in some areas for 
townscape reasons.

3. Density ranges for neighbourhood centres should 
be between 40-60dph.

4. Density ranges for town centre areas should be 
between 50-70dph.

5. Density ranges for park edges and other green 
spaces should be between 40-55dph.

6. Density ranges for all other areas should be 
between 35-50dph.

Density calculaƟ ons are to: 
 Include all private and communal space within the 

curƟ lage of an urban block
 Include all streets excluding the primary network 
 Include all play areas and small urban parks and 

spaces  situated in the secondary and terƟ ary 
street fabric

Exclude land associated with non-residenƟ al uses 
except where that use forms part of a mixed use 
building that is parƟ ally residenƟ al

The central area of Teignmouth, built at the higher 
density ranges, achieves well defi ned, high quality living 
environments close to local faciliƟ es 

DRAFT

111



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

15

Teignbridge residen  al densi  es: 

Major Thoroughfares/ Townscape 70+ dph

Semi-detached, terraces & some detached  35 - 50 dph

Town Centre 50 - 70 dph

Park Edge - Paired Villas as fl ats 40 - 55 dph

Neighbourhood Centre 45 - 60dph

Park Edge - Terrace houses 40 - 55 dph



40
0m

 ra
diu

s  t
o neighbourhood ctr (5 min walk)

Diagram to show an appropriate density distribu  on 
within a walkable neighbourhood 

Retained Green Infrastructure and Urban 
Parks

Park Edge density 40 - 55 dph

Neighbourhood Centre 40 - 60 dph

Major Urban Thoroughfares 40 - 60 dph

Other Urban Areas 35 - 50 dph

Major Urban Thoroughfare

Avenue/Principal Street

DRAFT

112



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

16

The Scale of the Built Form is: the height and overall size of buildings. Generally, taller buildings defi ne 
primary streets, mark important locaƟ ons for townscape reasons, edge and defi ne wider spaces, and are to be 
found in central areas of towns and villages and are oŌ en in areas of higher density.   

Scale of the Built Form

The scale of new development must clearly defi ne 
streets and spaces as follows:

1. Built form must be scaled to defi ne and 
enclose streets and spaces to create a legible 
environment that supports other layout 
strategies. 

2. Storey heights must be set in response to:

2.1. Local context
2.2. The hierarchy of routes (ref DG-LS2 and table 

the below)
2.3. The orientaƟ on to open spaces
2.4. The overall width of spaces to which they 

relate

2.5. Topography
2.6. The proximity to neighbourhood and town 

centres
2.7. landscape character and heritage assets
2.8. Townscape and legibility (ref DG - LS1) where 

storey heights:
2.8.1. Should be increased at the intersecƟ ons 

between principal streets as well as 
those of secondary streets

2.8.2. May be exceeded for key landmarks or  
to create specifi c points of emphasis.

3. Storey heights are to be taken from idenƟ fi ed 
ground fl oor slab levels, or development 
plaƞ orm levels for outline applicaƟ ons.

Building Storey Table:

Primary Network Secondary 
Network

Ter  ary Network

High Streets Major Urban 
Thoroughfares

Avenues/
Principal 
Streets

Secondary  
Link Streets

Fine Grained 
Streets

Mews

Inside a village or 
neighbourhood centre 
boundary

2.5 - 3.5 2.5 - 3.5 2- 3.5 2 - 3.5 2 - 3 2 - 2.5

Inside a town centre 
boundary

3 - 5 2.5 - 5 2.5 - 4 2.5 - 3 2 - 3 2 - 2.5

Outside a town or 
neighbourhood centre 
boundary but not 
adjacent to an open 
space

X 2.5 - 3.5 2 - 3.5 2 - 3 1 - 3 1 - 2.5

Adjacent to an open 
space

3 - 5 3 - 5 3 - 4 2.5 - 3 2 - 3 x

At places of signifi cance 
for legibility

3 - 5 3 - 5 3 - 5 2.5 - 4 2.5 - 3 x

Scale ranges derived from research of towns and villages within Teignbridge. (see appendix )

Buildings in new development should to be scaled using the table below as a guide. Storey heights are expressed 
as ranges in order to be responsive to local condiƟ ons ,design intent and the sense of enclosure required

Code:DG-LS4 (Scale)

113



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

17

Building heights are to increase relaƟ ve to 
street hierarchy, places of signifi cance for 
townscape reasons, or adjacency to open 
spaces

Taller buildings for townscape 
reasons

Taller scale buildings 

Smaller scaled buildings

Neighbourhood centre boundary



The main route through Chudleigh neighbourhood centre is defi ned by predominantly 2.5-3 storey buildings.

Courtenay Park, Newton Abbot is edged with 2.5-3 storey buildings. These frame the park edge and provide a sense of  overlooking that 
helps keep the park feeling safe.

Diagram to show how a strategy for building height could be expressed to reinforce to legibility and route hierarchy.  

114



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

18

A Neighbourhood is: a noƟ onal area of development that is local in scale and based around a nominal 5 minute 
walk or 400m distance where access to a range of local faciliƟ es, jobs, and public transport is possible. 

Neighbourhoods

Development in Teignbridge is to be arranged to 
funcƟ on as walkable neighbourhoods with opƟ ons 
to access faciliƟ es, goods and services, jobs and 
public transport. In order to achieve this:
1. Neighbourhoods are to be structured to accord 

with other Teignbridge Design Guide Layout 
Strategy policies

2. The majority of homes should have good access 
to a range of local jobs and faciliƟ es within 
approximately 400m distance or a 5 minute walk  
(see also DG-LS8)

3. Non-residenƟ al uses shall be clustered to create 
neighbourhood centres that contain a suitable 
mix of compaƟ ble residenƟ al and non-residenƟ al 
uses and faciliƟ es that complement those within 
the local area.

4. Major new proposals are to defi ne 
neighbourhoods and neighbourhood centre 
boundaries 

5. New neighbourhood centres shall:

5.1. Be located where good access to public 

transport is most likely,  such as on primary 
network streets with through traffi  c

5.2. Typically not be greater than 1.5 development 
blocks* deep from the primary thoroughfare 
and orientated around the intersecƟ ons of 
primary routes or primary with secondary 
routes

5.3. Be designed to create civic pride, be high 
quality,  have a clear approach to character, 
and be comfortable and safe for their users, by 
the:
5.3.1. Prominent posiƟ oning of civic buildings 

and community spaces
5.3.2. The inclusion of high quality materials 

of construcƟ on in public realm areas 
including; surfaces, landscaping, and for 
buildings

5.3.3. Designing for and prioriƟ sing pedestrian 
amenity and comfort over those of 
vehicles

5.3.4. Containing a mix of compaƟ ble uses at 
higher densiƟ es   

Neighbourhood
Core400m

Chudleigh, a walkable neighbourhood whose mixed use centre is clustered around the key juncƟ on of  a primary route. 

* Development blocks defi ned within Urban Structures chapter

Code: DG-LS5 (Neighbourhoods):

115



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

19

Neighbourhood 1

Neighbourhood 2

Neighbourhood 3

Avoid
OrientaƟ ng shops and community faciliƟ es in 

places that do not have suffi  cient residenƟ al criƟ cal 
mass away from the primary and secondary routes 
or neighbourhood and town centres.

Plan to cluster local faciliƟ es and compaƟ ble 
non-residenƟ al uses within mixed use 
neighbourhood centre areas. Residents will 
benefi t from good access to a variety of shops 
and faciliƟ es from each journey. 

 Isolated non-residenƟ al uses and faciliƟ es 
perpetuate single purpose desƟ naƟ on 
trips and are unlikely to create a walkable 
neighbourhood or support variety within the 
neighbourhood centre.

re
sid

en
Ɵ a
l only neighbourhood centre



community 
hall

business

M
ixed use neighbourhood ce

nt
re

primary 
school

primary 
school

corner 
shopcafe

hair 
saloncommunity 

hall

hhhhbb

village 
square

 New development proposals of suffi  cient 
scale are to defi ne neighbourhood areas 
and neighbourhood centre boundaries. Each 
neighbourhood is to be broadly based on a        
5 minute walk or about 400m distance from the 
defi ned neighbourhood centre.

400m walkable Neighbourhood

Neighbourhood Area Boundary

Neighbourhood Centre Boundary

ResidenƟ al areas

Mixed use area

116



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

20

Non-Residen  al Uses Compa  ble with Residen  al Land are: those land uses that are able to sit alongside 
the places where people live without having an adverse impact on residenƟ al amenity. The diff erent uses can 
co-exist to their mutual benefi t. 

Land Use - Non-Residen  al Uses Compa  ble with Residen  al Land

New proposals are to integrate compaƟ ble non-
residenƟ al and residenƟ al uses in a manner that 
supports walkable neighbourhoods as follows:

1. As  well as the areas defi ned within the Local 
Plan and Framework Plans for employment the 
neighbourhood centres are to be the focus for 
non-residenƟ al uses that are compaƟ ble with 
residenƟ al land. The uses within these centres 
is to be arranged to create easily accessible 
neighbourhood cores with a mix of uses that:

1.1. Are mixed both verƟ cally and horizontally
1.2. Front onto primary streets, or
1.3. Front onto primary or secondary streets at 

prominent locaƟ ons such as at corners and at 
urban squares

1.4. Are within areas with aƩ racƟ ve civic urban 
character 

1.5. Are supported by parking and public transport 
faciliƟ es

2. To allow for some degree of fl exibility in the 
locaƟ on of where non-residenƟ al uses may be  
delivered, some non-residenƟ al uses that are 
compaƟ ble with residenƟ al land could be located 
outside an idenƟ fi ed neighbourhood centre core 
boundary in locaƟ ons that:

2.1. Front onto primary streets, or
2.2. Front onto primary and secondary streets at 

prominent locaƟ ons such as at corners and at 
urban squares.

3. Some B1 uses could be located up to half a block 
back from primary streets providing that the 
majority of non-residenƟ al uses remain in more 
prominent locaƟ ons.

4. About 10%  of buildings located as per              
DG-LS6.2 should be designed to be adaptable 
to change between diff erent uses over Ɵ me 
without signifi cant modifi caƟ on by designing,                  
for example:

4.1. Higher ground fl oor, fl oor-to-ceiling heights
4.2. Separate access to upper fl oors
4.3. Non-structural internal ground fl oor walls.
4.4. The capacity to fi t larger areas of glazing to the 

ground fl oor front elevaƟ on
4.5. The introducƟ on of bay windows to ground 

fl oors
5. New development areas of suffi  cient scale to 

include new neighbourhoods are to defi ne 
neighbourhood centre boundaries within which 
non-residenƟ al uses that are compaƟ ble with 
residenƟ al uses should be located as set out 
above.

6. For Local Plan allocaƟ ons where more than 
one neighbourhood is necessary, each 
neighbourhood centre must contain suffi  cient 
non-residenƟ al uses to ensure the needs of 
each neighbourhood can be met relaƟ ve to the 
context that the neighbourhood centre plays 
within the allocaƟ on and seƩ lement as a whole.

Shaldon, Fore St. Non-residenƟ al uses (red) mixed with residenƟ al uses along  or very close to an important route.

Code: DG-LS6 (Land Use: Non-Residen  al Uses Compa  ble 
with Residen  al Land)

117



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

21

The neighbourhood core areas are to 
be the focal point for non-residenƟ al 
uses that are compaƟ ble with 
residenƟ al development, however 
some fl exibility is available for 
prominent and accessible locaƟ ons.

Neighbourhood Centre 
Core Area

Non-residenƟ al Uses 

Major Urban Through Route

Avenue/Principal Street 

Shaldon, Fore St. A mix of residenƟ al and non-residenƟ al working side by side along a principal street.

Diagram to illustrate the approach to integraƟ ng non-residenƟ al uses alongside residenƟ al uses.

118



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

22

Non-Residen  al Uses that are Not Compa  ble with Residen  al Land are: those land uses that are not able 
to sit alongside the places where people live because of the manner in which they funcƟ on. Typically these 
uses tend to have unacceptable hours of operaƟ on or generate levels of noise, smells, dust, or heavy goods 
vehicle movements, which tend not to be compaƟ ble with residenƟ al life.

Land Use - Non-Residen  al Uses Not Compa  ble with Residen  al Land

Code: DG-LS7 (Land Use: Non-Residen  al Uses Not 
Compa  ble with Residen  al Land) 

Development within areas where land uses are 
proposed that are not compaƟ ble with the places 
where people live, should create aƩ racƟ ve and safe 
places to work and visit, be easily accessible and 
well related to the surroundings. In order to achieve 
this new development should:

1. Have a posiƟ ve or neutral impact on the 
character of the area

2. Be designed so that buildings, spaces and 
landscaping create well defi ned areas and 
contribute towards local idenƟ ty and legibility

3. Have a permeable movement network that 
prioriƟ ses pedestrians and cyclists over vehicles 
and feels safe for its users

4. Be structured and detailed to reduce crime and 
the fear of crime at all Ɵ mes of the day

5. Be set out so that surface water is well managed 
and integrated posiƟ vely into design proposals

6. Accord with any design codes or guidance  
relaƟ ng to the area

Design Codes
The preparaƟ on of design codes for the design and 
layout of infrastructure, plot arrangements and 
landscaping will normally be expected to ensure that 
development follows both a considered approach 
across diff erent development parcels. Where used, 
such codes could include suitable approaches to:

• Street design
• Scale
• Form
• Colour
• Materials
• Boundaries
• Landscape design
• Parking and servicing
• Boundary treatments
• Building setbacks and plot arrangements





Prominent, consistent roofl ines will have a negaƟ ve impact on surrounding views when abuƫ  ng a rural edge and should be avoided

Breaking up roofl ines creates a posiƟ ve interface with rural edges, ensuring that the impact of views of new development from 
surrounding locaƟ ons is minimised

119



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

23

Layouts should be set out to ensure that safe and convenient access is available for all users. Buildings and landscaping are to be arranged to 
create aƩ racƟ ve places to visit and work.

Temp Image

1

4

3

6

25

1. Areas that are visible to the public must be 
designed to be aƩ racƟ ve and to feel safe

2. Boundary treatments that edge public areas are 
to support a sense of conƟ nuity and integrate 
well with other structures. They must not appear 
defensive or create a sense that there is a fear of 
crime.

3. The design of common non-plot areas should be 
designed holisƟ cally to reinforce a sense of place 

and to maximise muliƞ uncƟ onality

4. Integrate SuDS features where appropriate

5. Front entrances should relate to the street and/or 
public areas.  Long blank sides to public areas that 
provide no sense that the area is being overlooked 
should be avoided

6. PrioriƟ se pedestrian and cycle users and design-in 
networks for them from the outset

120



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

24

Community facili  es are: those uses whose funcƟ on brings community benefi t or has a public role. They are 
oŌ en (but not always) in part, publicly funded and can include: schools and colleges, surgeries and medical 
centres, community halls, churches, meeƟ ng places, leisure centres, sports clubs and play areas.

Land Use - Community Facili  es

Code: DG-LS8 (Community Facili  es)

The form of community faciliƟ es varies 
considerably depending on their type and funcƟ on. 
Buildings and faciliƟ es that have a community role 
carry a civic responsibility and play an important 
role in the manner in which an area is perceived. 
Proposals for new community faciliƟ es within 
Teignbridge must therefore be:

1. Located:

1.1. To be well related to the distribuƟ on of 
faciliƟ es within a neighbourhood (see table 
overleaf) on land that is appropriate for their 
purpose 

1.2. Where access is convenient and suitable for all 
users 

1.3. Near other uses where trips are likely to be 
combined

1.4. In prominent locaƟ ons appropriate to the  
funcƟ on and purpose of the facility and 
should be arranged as components of an 
area's character and legibility.

2. Designed:

2.1. To be accessible for all users with public 
entrances well related to public areas

2.2. To create safe outside areas that are well 
overlooked

2.3. Where appropriate, to celebrate their public 
funcƟ on, capture a sense of civic pride and be 
responsive to local and wider views

2.4. To relate well to the surrounding area  in 
maƩ ers such as materials, form, scale, 
proporƟ on, detail, layout and landscaping

2.5. To have aƩ racƟ ve, robust boundary 
treatments where necessary

2.6. To have parking areas that do not dominate 
public areas

2.7. To make provision for people on bicycles  
2.8. To have well located service and waste 

arrangements that have no detrimental 
impact on the funcƟ on or appearance of 
public areas

  

Albany Surgery, Newton Abbot: Well related to a primary route, 
local primary school and convenience store. A new building 
designed in locally disƟ ncƟ ve materials. 

121



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

25

Table based on work within Shaping Neighbourhoods, Hugh Barton et al, 2010 

Home  Area Neighbourhood District/Small Town

Ap
pr

ox
im

at
e 

“W
ith

in
” 

Di
st

an
ce

s 
fr

om
 

H
om

e 
(k

m
)

10
0 -

 2
00

20
0 -

 3
00

30
0 -

 4
00

40
0

40
0 -

 6
00

60
0 -

 8
00

60
0 -

 1
00

0

80
0 -

 1
00

0

10
00

 - 1
50

0

15
00

 - 2
00

0

20
00

 - 3
00

0

30
00

 - 5
00

0

Todlers Play

Allotments

Playgrounds and Kickabout

Bus Stop

Local Park or Greenspace

Local Centre, Pub, Hall

Access to Green Network

Primary School

Surgery

Playing Fields

Secondary School

Town or District Centre/Superstore

Leisure Centre

Industrial Estate

6th Form College

Newton Abbot Library is prominently located terminaƟ ng the view along Bank Street and Highweek Street. It has a prominent entrance 
and is embellished with detail that celebrates its public funcƟ on. 

122



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

26

Green and blue space is: the land that forms part of urban areas that includes parks, squares and woodlands 
as well as street trees, footpaths, cyclepaths, river and stream corridors, drainage features, wetlands and 
other open spaces.  

Land Use - Green and Blue space

Green and blue spaces can form networks that 
provide economic, social, and environmental 
benefi ts such as for recreaƟ on, movement, sport, 
educaƟ on, ecology and health and can be a link 
to an area’s heritage, tradiƟ ons and character.  In 
order to achieve these benefi ts, proposals must: 

1. Plan to create networks of green and blue 
spaces that:

1.1. Contribute towards the creaƟ on of an 
aƩ racƟ ve and valuable network that delivers 
relevant GI strategies

1.2. Are designed to be at the heart of the design 
and arrangement of new development 

1.3. Reinforce local character, heritage and 
idenƟ ty

1.4. FuncƟ on for people, wildlife and drainage 
appropriately

2. Design green and blue space to have a clear 
approach to: 

2.1. Local character and appearance including:
2.1.1. The degree of formality or informality 

appropriate
2.1.2. The aestheƟ c and sensory aspects such 

as colours, textures, smells, species, 
and tradiƟ ons

2.1.3. PaƩ erns of development  - from 
legibility to materials and details 

2.2. Layout, funcƟ on, and connecƟ vity i.e.
2.2.1. For wildlife or/and people, movement, 

play or acƟ ve leisure
2.3. The approach to reconciling confl icts between 

diff erent aspects of design
2.4. Maintenance operaƟ ons, their review and 

adaptaƟ on, and is to include the methods 
and mechanisms to permanently secure the 
mulƟ funcƟ onality of spaces envisaged at the 
outset.

Victoria Gardens, Newton Abbot. A small urban park, reinvigorated and now much used by town centre users.

Code: DG-LS9 (Green and Blue Spaces)

123



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

27

High quality and well planned cycleways and  footpaths 
help people make healthy travel choices

Play areas  and sports pitches can form an important part 
of the green and blue network

The  Green and Blue network should be 
designed to form a linked sequence of 
spaces.  

A connecƟ on to 
a nearby park

A safe route to 
visit friends and 
family

An aƩ racƟ ve route to the shops  

A safe cycle route to school or 
work 

A well integrated urban 
square, a component of a 
wider network of routes and 
spaces 

124



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

28

Ac  ve Place is: a way of puƫ  ng places together so that opportuniƟ es for people to be both physically and 
socially acƟ ve are inherent within the way that they are designed. AcƟ vely designed places enable people to 
derive physical and mental health and stronger social cohesion benefi ts from the environment about them.

Ac  ve Place

Code: DG-LS10 (Ac  ve Place)
AcƟ ve Place design is vital to the promoƟ on of 
acƟ ve living and to providing physical, psychological 
and social health benefi ts for individuals and the 
community. Development proposals are to approach 
AcƟ ve Design in the following manner:

1. Accessible Ac  vity

Neighbourhoods, faciliƟ es and open space are to 
be accessible for all users and provide opportuniƟ es 
for physical acƟ vity across all ages and abiliƟ es, 
enabling those who want to be acƟ ve to be so, whilst 
encouraging those who are inacƟ ve to become acƟ ve

2. Walkable Communi  es

Local faciliƟ es, services, desƟ naƟ ons, points of 
interest and locaƟ ons meeƟ ng peoples daily needs 
are to be connected by integrated networks of 
walking and cycling routes within convenient 
walkable ranges

3. Connected Travel Routes

All desƟ naƟ ons are be interconnected by direct, 
legible and integrated acƟ ve travel routes. Routes 
must be safe, well lit, overlooked, welcoming, well-
maintained, durable appropriately surfaced and 
clearly signposted.  AcƟ ve travel modes should be 
prioriƟ sed over other modes of transport

4. Infrastructure

To provide a diverse range of acƟ vity, infrastructure 
is to be designed to enable and encourage physical 
acƟ vity to take place for diff erent age groups across 
all contexts, including workplaces and public space  

5. Management of Space

The management, long-term maintenance and 
viability of public spaces is to be designed to ensure 
long-term funcƟ onality for AcƟ ve Place

6. Streets and Spaces
Movement and public space networks and areas 
are to be high quality, mulƟ funcƟ onal, legible, and 
provide direct, safe and convenient pedestrian 
and cycle and other wheeled user access whilst 
employing high quality durable materials, street 
furniture and signs 

7. Co-loca  on of Community Facili  es

Community faciliƟ es and services are to be co-
located with a concentraƟ on of retail and associated 
uses, to support linked trips.  A mix of land uses and 
acƟ viƟ es at appropriate densiƟ es, ideally within 
walkable ranges, should be provided  - creaƟ ng 
mulƟ ple reasons to visit a desƟ naƟ on on foot and 
minimising the number and length of trips 

8. Ac  ve Buildings

The internal and external layout, design and use 
of buildings is to provide opportuniƟ es for physical 
acƟ vity, such as providing faciliƟ es to safely store 
bicycles, and for employees to shower and dry and 
store clothes

9. Ac  vity Promo  on

Measures are to be introduced that highlight or 
promote the usability of space and opportuniƟ es 
for parƟ cipaƟ on in physical acƟ vity as a means 
of improving health and wellbeing across 
neighbourhoods, workplaces and faciliƟ es

10. Network of Mul  func  onal Open Space
MulƟ funcƟ onal open space networks that integrate 
well with the local landscape are to be created across 
all communiƟ es to support a range of acƟ viƟ es 
including acƟ ve and passive recreaƟ on, play, and  
other landscape uses.  FaciliƟ es should be posiƟ oned 
in accessible locaƟ ons with walking and cycling 
routes connected to the broader network

Designs that ignore AcƟ ve Place tend to:

• Fail to create connecƟ ons that enable the free 
movement of people between diff erent areas 
of development or sƟ fl e the potenƟ al for future 
connecƟ vity

• Miss opportuniƟ es to layer design soluƟ ons for 
diff erent users and travel modes that encourage 
or facilitate acƟ ve paƩ erns of use. For instance 
walking routes to schools or play areas can 
be designed engaging and to accommodate 
pushchairs and scooters

125



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

29

Employing Ac  ve Place principles encourages all users to 
follow more ac  ve and healthy pa  erns of movement and 
ac  vity that endure throughout life and can lead to fun 
and posi  ve experiences. 

Designing streets and open spaces as safe a  rac  ve and pleasant places for all users encourages ac  ve par  cipa  on with the 
world outside the home and presents opportuni  es for ac  ve movement, social interac  on and play. 

Well designed street and pedestrian environments 
promote ac  ve place principles by providing comfortable 
social spaces within which to move through and spend 
 me

Diagram showing an overall strategy 
for the integraƟ on of AcƟ ve Design 
principles into a new development

126



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

30

Urban
Structure

127



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

31

Block Design
Guidance for the design of urban blocks within the 
district.

Block Design  - General Principles
Where buildings edge the perimeter of a block 
and parking is contained within its centre in one 
or several courtyards.

Parking Court Blocks
Where buildings edge the perimeter of a block 
and parking is contained within its centre in one 
or several courtyards.

Mews/Lane Blocks
Where wide blocks have a small lane that 
contains dwellings and parking for both the lane 
and the properƟ es that edge the perimeter of the 
block. 

Back-to-Back Blocks
Where buildings edge the perimeter of a block 
and its interior contains private space, usually 
gardens.

Edge Blocks
Where blocks address the edge of development 
or open space areas.

Wrap around Blocks
Where buildings located on the perimeter of 
a block surround other buildings within its the 
blocks centre.

Block Design and Topography
Approaches that arise as a result of developing 
sloping land.

Private Frontages
Guidance for the areas of land that are situated 
between a building and the back edge of the 
highway or public area that are in public view.

Teignbridge Frontage Types
The type of frontage typically found throughout 
the district for use in new areas of development.

Waste and Recycling 
Guidance relaƟ ng to accommodaƟ ng waste and 
recycling into development.

Services and U  li  es Networks
Guidance for the locaƟ on and appearance of uƟ liƟ es 
infrastructure within new areas of development.

Custom and Self Build
Guidance for the design and integraƟ on of self build 
areas of development.

Back to Back Arrangements
Guidance to provide for privacy and reduce 
overlooking between properƟ es.

Dayligh  ng
Guidance to help inform the detailed design of 
development to achieve appropriate levels of natural 
daylight to buildings and property.

Urban Structures
Design guidance for creaƟ ng aƩ racƟ ve, well defi ned public and private space in Teignbridge.

128



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

32

Block Design - General Principles
Urban Blocks are: the areas of developable land that are contained by a paƩ ern of streets or spaces. Urban 
blocks may contain shops, houses, parks, car parks and other aspects of community life. The way that buildings 
are arranged and their relaƟ onship to the street aff ects the character, funcƟ on and safety of an area. 

Development blocks in Teignbridge are to be 
arranged to create safe accessible, aƩ racƟ ve, well 
overlooked and well defi ned public routes and 
spaces and secure private areas by:

1. Defi ning publicly accessible routes and spaces 
with building frontages, well designed side 
elevaƟ ons and robust, aƩ racƟ ve, and locally 
disƟ ncƟ ve boundary treatments whilst achieving 
a sense of natural surveillance

2. Sizing blocks to create a network of walkable 
interlinked routes (see table below) that:

2.1. Responds to desire lines 
2.2. Allows for future movement 
2.3. Are appropriate for the proposed land 

use, topography, and locaƟ on within the 
neighbourhood

2.4. Are designed in response to local context and a 
hierarchy of routes

3. Designing blocks that have suffi  cient space. i.e. 
for buildings and private space together with 
adequate storage including for bins and cycles, 
and parking for vehicles.  

4. Designing rear parking, access and service 
areas to be aƩ racƟ ve, well lit, welcoming and 
comfortable for users at any Ɵ me of day that:

4.1. Have robust, locally disƟ ncƟ ve and aƩ racƟ ve 
boundary treatments

4.2. Contain dedicated and adequate space for 
waste and recycling that is away from general 
view

4.3. Have structures, surfaces and demarcaƟ on in 
colours and materials that appear welcoming, 
and are well co-ordinated

4.4. Contain landscaped areas, where appropriate, 
to soŌ en and enhance visual appearance 

4.5. Have lighƟ ng levels designed for convenience, 
safety and for wildlife 

4.6. Have a sense of surveillance at all Ɵ mes
4.7. Have secure private curƟ lages with externally 

lockable personnel gates.

5. Designing buildings located at corners or in 
prominent locaƟ ons to:

5.1. Contribute towards memorable townscape.
5.2. Create visual interest and overlooking to all 

streets to which they relate

6. Avoiding developing half blocks that enable 
access to rear boundaries or service areas, 
reduce surveillance of public areas, and provide  
unaƩ racƟ ve edges to public areas. 

Typical block dimensions for diff erent seƩ lement locaƟ ons
Urban Design Compendium 2007

Block widths (m)

Non B1 Employment about 115

Urban Edge 80-90

Urban Middle 80-90

Urban Core 60-80

Poorly designed Blocks oŌ en have:
• Low quality boundaries (i.e. Ɵ mber panel fences) 

to rear and side boundaries that are visible from 
public and communal areas

• Streets defi ned by a mix of fronts, blank sides and 
backs of buildings or poor boundaries

• Parking areas that are not well overlooked, 
appear uninviƟ ng or do not co-ordinate well with 
their surroundings

• Inadequate or poorly arranged space for parking, 
leaving streets and footways cluƩ ered and/or 
obstructed by vehicles

• Areas that deter residents’ use, or give 
unobserved access to the rear of properƟ es

• Large distances between pedestrian juncƟ ons and 
paths that do not link, or have limited capacity to 
create links in the future

• Waste and bins visible throughout the week from 
public areas

Code: DG-US1 (Block Design Principles)

129



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

33

Blocks sized 
and arranged to 
support pedestrian 
movement

Good quality 
aƩ racƟ ve boundary 
treatments

A well considered 
approach to parking, 
and storage of waste

Key buildings 
designed to address 
mulƟ ple streets and 
create visual interest

Clear disƟ ncƟ on 
between private and 
public areas

AƩ racƟ ve buildings 
face outwards onto 
new or exisƟ ng public 
routes and spaces 

AƩ racƟ ve, secure and 
well overlooked rear 
block areas

Private

Public
Private

Good Block Design:  
The EssenƟ al Ingredients 

Good block design supported by familiar architecture and high quality 
boundaries are some of the fundamentals to the success of many of the 
districts most cherished streets. Photo: Bishopsteignton.

The Following Sec  on:

As well as the block design policy DG-US1 specifi c 
design principles to be achieved are highlighted in 
the following pages for 5 diff erent block types:
1.1. Parking Court Blocks
1.2. Mews/Lane Blocks
1.3. Back to Back Blocks
1.4. Edge of Development Blocks
1.5. Wrap Around Blocks
Blocks are illustrated as disƟ nct types, but single 
urban blocks may share characterisƟ cs from 
several types. In these circumstances relevant 
guidelines should be applied to the relevant 
secƟ on of each block 

130



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

34

A Parking Court Block is: a perimeter block that contains one or more secure internal courtyards that 
provides parking and enables private access to the rear of properƟ es. ResidenƟ al and non-residenƟ al 
buildings are located around the perimeter of the block with their main pedestrian accesses and elevaƟ ons 
orientated outwards towards streets and spaces. 

Block Design - Parking Court Blocks

Parking court blocks are to be designed to meet the 
general Block Design policy DG-US1 as well as the 
following in relaƟ on to:

1. Courtyards

Courtyards should be designed to have a sense of 
ownership and surveillance, be welcoming and feel 
safe by:

1.1. Designing small parking courts  - about 10 
parking spaces

1.2. SeparaƟ ng parking for apartments from other 
parking areas

1.3. Co-ordinaƟ ng materials, fi nishes, demarcaƟ on 
and landscaping to create aƩ racƟ ve spaces for 
instance by: 
1.3.1. Using robust, well detailed, locally 

disƟ ncƟ ve boundary walls between 
communal and private areas

1.3.2. Co-ordinaƟ ng recessive colours for 
garage doors and access gates

1.3.3. Using good quality, aƩ racƟ ve surfacing 
with simple detailing to edges, margins 
and drainage

1.3.4. SoŌ ening structures with pockets of 
planƟ ng

1.4. LighƟ ng for convenience and safety

2.  Access

Access points should be arranged to provide 
residents with comfortable safe access to private 
and communal areas with relevant access to service 
personnel where necessary in a manner that 
discourages crime or a fear of crime by:

2.1. Providing single access points to courtyards 
with thresholds that mark that the area is 
private, for instance by:
2.1.1. Including automaƟ c locking gates with a 

separate pedestrian access accessible to 
residents/owners and waste collecƟ on 
operaƟ ves

2.1.2. Changing surface materials
2.1.3. Narrowing the entrance/including piers 

(width circa 3.0m)

2.2. Ensuring that entrance points are well 
overlooked from windows to acƟ ve rooms and 
well lit

2.3. Ensuring that units have front doors 
orientated towards public routes or spaces 
with secondary, externally/internally lockable, 
accesses to internal courts

2.4. Where communal access gates are provided, 
they should be set back from the Highway to 
allow cars to wait off  the carriageway while 
gates open

3. Waste and Recycling: (see Policy DG-US3)

4. Bicycle Storage.  (see Policy xxxx)

Bicycle parking should be located in well integrated 
secure covered structures located within rear 
gardens, fl ats parking courtyards or in private 
garages

Poorly designed parking courts oŌ en have 
some of the following characterisƟ cs:
• A lack of surveillance at entrances and within 

courts
• Timber fences used as rear boundaries, bin or 

cycle storage 
• Lack of lighƟ ng to rear court areas
• Excessively wide vehicular entrance points
• Starkly contrasƟ ng surfaces, garage doors and 

locally irrelevant materials.
• Parking spaces and allocaƟ on demarcated by 

highly contrasƟ ng lining and numbering
• Large numbers of parking spaces within single 

courts



Code: DG-US1.1 (Parking Court Blocks)

131



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

35

Model view:

Block Diagram:

11111

55555

22

3

4444466666

777

888888

Detail: Typical Entrance Gateway and 
Bin Store/PresentaƟ on Point

Separate 
pedestrian access 
gate

Windows 
on side 
elevaƟ ons 
create safe, 
overlooked 
entrances

Key pad access for bin 
collecƟ on

Space for cars to pull off  street

Key:
1. Parking Court - Up to about 10 spaces. Courtyard 

enclosed with aƩ racƟ ve solid walls (max height 
2.1m) and lockable gates to private back gardens

2. Private garage/cycle/bin store
3. On plot cycle store and bin storage
4. Lockable communal bin presentaƟ on point (where 

no access for waste operaƟ ves provided)
5. Apartment Parking Court - Separate parking court 

for apartments
6. Apartment cycle store
7. Apartment bin store
8. Secure access gates with separate pedestrian gate 

to meet Police recommendaƟ ons.

132



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

36

Mews/Lane Blocks are to be designed to meet the 
general Block Design policy DG-US1 as well as the 
following in relaƟ on to: 

1. Mews/Lanes street

Mews/lanes are to provide small scale, simple, 
aƩ racƟ ve, safe and accessible streets within the 
centre of blocks and should be designed:

1.1. Ideally to contain a minimum of 5 dwellings 
(not including fl ats over garages) with front 
doors accessed from the mews street

1.2. As small spaces with an informal, irregular 
street edge with short sight lines terminated by 
visually interesƟ ng elements

1.3. To be narrow, generally no more than 7.5-10 
meters wide

1.4. So that buildings and boundaries defi ne the 
street edge with minimal or no set-back 
distances 

1.5. To give pedestrian priority

1.6. With suitable street tree planƟ ng and soŌ  
landscaping where appropriate

2. Mews Lane Buildings and Structures

Mews/ Lane buildings and structures should provide 
a good level of surveillance, enclosure to the street 
and contribute towards creaƟ ng a small scale 
inƟ mate scene considering in parƟ cular:

2.1. Materials of construcƟ on, their use 
distribuƟ on, character and detailing

2.2. Scale of structures, the sense enclosure 
created  and the lighƟ ng of public areas 

Typically, designs will include:
2.3. Ground fl oor habitable rooms with windows 

and doors that relate to the street 
2.4. Variety to roof arrangements (hip/gables etc)
2.5. Low order, funcƟ onal detailing 
2.6. Unembellished doors and window styles
2.7. Solid boundary treatments in materials with 

local character generally 1.8m height to rear 
gardens

2.8. Co-ordinated recessive colours for garage 

doors and access gates
2.9. Good quality aƩ racƟ ve surfacing with simple 

detailing to edges, margins and drainage
3. Access

3.1. Vehicular: Mews streets are to:
3.1.1. Be accessible to the public
3.1.2. Provide access to parking for mews and 

perimeter units
3.1.3. Have separate parking for apartments 
3.1.4. Be well overlooked 

3.2. Pedestrian: Mews streets are to:
3.2.1. Provide residents with secure (lockable) 

and well overlooked access to their back 
gardens, garages and mews units.

3.2.2. Provide front doors to mews units that 
relate to the mews street

3.3. Apartments: Where apartments form part of 
the block there may be controlled pedestrian 
and cycle access to the mews street from the 
apartments’ parking courtyard

4. Waste and Recycling: (see Policy DG-US3)

Waste and recycling areas will normally be stored on 
plot however where required by the Local Authority, 
bin collecƟ on areas are to be provided close to the 
mews entrance

5. Bicycle Storage.  (see Policy DG - xxxx)

Generally, secure cycle storage shall be located on 
plot, either within garages or cycle storage in private 
gardens

Mews/Lane blocks are: blocks that contain a small accessible street through the centre. The street or lane 
contains parking in small groups, garages or open shelters, access to rear gardens and  accommodaƟ on. They 
are oŌ en deeper than other blocks to accommodate the addiƟ onal street width.

Block Design - Mews/Lane Blocks

Poorly designed mews blocks oŌ en have:
• Insuffi  cient numbers of residenƟ al properƟ es 

within  the mews lane to provide a sense of 
surveillance and security.

• Poor boundary treatments or building 
arrangements that do not provide a conƟ nuous 
edge to the street or sense of enclosure.

Code: DG-US1.2 (Mews/Lane Blocks)

133



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

37

Key:
1. Dwellings within mews/lane  - designed to 

incorporate habitable rooms at ground fl oor level 
and terminate sight lines

2. Garages and parking beneath fl ats  - Mix of 

parking within garages and within FOGS
3. SoŌ  landscaping within the mews/lane  
4. Well overlooked pedestrian access routes
5. Narrow vehicular access routes

Well overlooked 
Pedestrian/cycle 
access

Building features 
arranged to 
terminate sight 
lines

Corner dwellings 
designed to address 
both street and lane

Mews lane  populated with houses, fl a
ts  a

nd well coordinated parking

11111111

2222222222

3

44444

4

5555

5

Block Diagram:

Model view:

134



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

38

Back-to-Back blocks are:  blocks where the rear plot boundaries abut one another within the centre of the 
block, forming a core of private space accessible only to residents from the outside edges.  

Block Design - Back-to-Back Blocks

Back-to-back blocks are to be designed to meet the 
general Block Design policy DG -US1 as well as the 
following in relaƟ on to: 

1. Parking

Back to back blocks rely on on-street parking, or 
parking to the front or sides of buildings. Parking 
arrangements and their associated structures should 
be designed:

1.1. So that cars and their parking areas do not 
have a negaƟ ve impact or are a visually 
dominant component of the street scene. For 
example by:
1.1.1. Ensuring that boundary treatments, 

gates buildings or landscaping enclose 
parking areas and visually defi ne the 
edges of public areas

1.1.2. Designing parking areas to be set back 
from the building line or well integrated 
with street and public spaces

1.2. Cycle parking is to be located on plot, within 
garages or private gardens

2. Access

Back-to-back blocks shall be located where street 
standards allow for direct access and egress at the 
front or side of the plot, or in mixed use blocks, 
where servicing can be arranged from the front.  

2.1. Vehicular: access points to plots are to be 
designed to:
2.1.1. PrioriƟ se pedestrians using the street 
2.1.2. Support a well defi ned street and should 

be as narrow as pracƟ cal
2.2. Pedestrian access points to plots are to be 

designed to provide: 
2.2.1. Access to plot frontages 
2.2.2. Secure and lockable access to gardens. 

Shared paths must be lockable at the 
point they meet public areas  

2.3. Apartments: Where apartments form part 
of the block, a primary pedestrian access  to 
the building must be located relaƟ ng to the 

street. Dedicated cycle/vehicular access to any 
associated parking courtyard should also be 
provided

3. Waste and Recycling (see policy DG-US3)

3.1. Waste and recycling areas will normally be 
stored on plot and brought to the plot frontage 
for collecƟ on or as otherwise directed by the 
Local Authority

3.2. Suffi  cient space must be provided to enable 
bins to be stored out of view from public areas 

4. Bicycle  Storage (see policy DG-XXXX)

4.1. Generally, secure bicycle storage shall be 
located on plot, either within garages or cycle 
storage in private rear gardens

Poorly designed Back to Back blocks oŌ en 
have:
• Poor building and highway arrangements: 

that give a poorly aligned and fragmented 
edge to the street and leak views from the 
street towards blank building sides and 
into open driveways 

• Missing boundary defi niƟ on: that does 
not properly defi ne areas of public 
and private ownership, creates streets 
that lack conƟ nuity and leak views into 
driveways and service areas

• Streets dominated by blocks of parking
• Poor bin storage arrangements that result in 

waste containers being visible throughout the 
week.

!

!

 ! !
!

!

Code: DG-US1.3 (Back-to-Back Blocks)

135



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

39

Block Diagram:

Key:
1. Garages/cycle store, set far enough back from 

street edge to enable parking to their front. Solid 
gates at the driveway edge provide security to 
rear garden areas.

2. Through garages can help maintain a conƟ nuous 
street edge and provide parking for more than 

one car. 

3. Apartment parking court with bin and cycle 
storage

4. Visitor parking as part of the street design 
provides some fl exibility for addiƟ onal vehicles

1

2

3

4444

Space in front of garages 
ensures parking can be set back 
behind the buildings.
 

Ancillary buildings, side walls, 
boundaries and gates, help to 
defi ne the street and reduce 
the impact of parking  and the 
blank sides to buildings

Solid gates at the 
building line or on plot 
boundaries provide 
security to gardens and 
a conƟ nuous edge to 
the street.

Model view:

136



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

40

Edge of Development Blocks are: blocks which may have one or more frontage which addresses a rural edge 
or an accessible landscaped area such as a park, or an area designed for drainage or wildlife. 

Block Design - Edge Blocks

Edge blocks are to be designed to meet the general 
Block Design policy DG -US1 as well as the following 
in relaƟ on to: 

1. General
The design of edge blocks is likely to be derived from  
other block types. Guidance relaƟ ng to the servicing 
and access arrangements to properƟ es and the 
internal core should be taken from the appropriate 
block type chosen 

2. Open Space Edges: 

OrientaƟ on  
2.1. Buildings should be orientated so that their 

front elevaƟ ons face outwards towards:
2.1.1. Areas that are designed to be accessible 

to the public
2.1.2. Areas of land that are unlikely to 

be developed in the future, such as 
strategic green spaces or land that is 
impracƟ cal to develop

Building Design  
2.2. Buildings should be designed to provide a 

posiƟ ve edge to development for instance by: 
2.2.1. Scaling  and designing buildings with 

reference to Policy DG-LS1 and DG-LS4
2.2.2. Ensuring the windows and front doors 

face outwards towards movement 
routes and open spaces

Routes of Movement 
2.3. Routes of movement are to be arranged to: 

2.3.1. Provide public access to building 
frontages for pedestrians and cyclists 
and where necessary vehicles as part of 
an interconnected network

2.3.2. Avoid creaƟ ng a disjointed network 
comprising short secƟ ons of 
unconnected private drives and turning 
heads

2.3.3. Minimise the impact of noise and 
lighƟ ng on wildlife 

Boundaries
2.4. Boundaries are to be arranged to:

2.4.1. Clearly defi ne plot edges 
2.4.2. Make a posiƟ ve contribuƟ on to the  

character of the whole street

 

Poorly designed Edge Blocks tend to have:
• A disjointed movement network that: 

• Reduces access to open spaces
• Can be wasteful of land and is poorly 

arranged and detailed
• Leads people away from desire lines  causes 

confl ict between owners and the public and 
aff ects public safety

• A weak edge character due to:
• A lack of building scale or sense of enclosure
• A disjointed edge character as public and 

private space areas repeatedly end and begin
• Poorly funcƟ oning and unaƩ racƟ ve open spaces 

due to
• Building and access arrangements minimising  

land for open space, drainage or trees





Code: DG-US1.4 (Edge Blocks)

137



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

41

Block Diagram: showing rear parking court and pedestrian/cycle access along side green space

333333

4

555555555

22

111111

Corner buildings designed to 
relate well to two streets

Buildings face outwards 
towards the countryside or 
open space. 

Key:
1. Rural edge/green space
2. Publicly accessible route. May be vehicular route 

or pedestrian/cycle only. Non-interlinked private 
drives should be avoided

3. Strong sense of character and consistent building 

lines, boundary treatments and approach to 
scale and architecture

4. Parking Court - Up to about 10 spaces. Courtyard 
enclosed with aƩ racƟ ve solid walls (max height 
2.1m) and lockable gates to private back gardens

5. Bin Store - Temporary store/presentaƟ on point 

Rural or park edge

Model view:

138



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

42

Blocks that wrap larger uses are: oŌ en required where large civic, commercial or industrial buildings or surface 
parking areas are proposed. Wrapping these larger units with smaller plots ensures that blank rear and side 
elevaƟ ons and any associated servicing is not exposed to the street whilst also achieving acƟ ve frontages. 

Block Design - Wrap Around Blocks

Wrap Around blocks are to be designed to meet the 
general Block Design policy DG-US1 as well as the 
following in relaƟ on to:

1. General
Wrap Around blocks are to be used where large 
format uses (compaƟ ble with neighbouring uses) and 
buildings are to be located and, if leŌ  unwrapped, 
they would have a negaƟ ve impact on the character 
and appearance of an area 

2. Access and parking
Vehicular:

2.1. Access to the large format uses shall be 
arranged: 
2.1.1. To be separate from other units in the 

block with parking areas away from 
street frontage areas

2.1.2. To be able to be made secure
2.1.3. So that servicing is separated from 

public areas
2.2. Access to non-large format uses shall be 

arranged either:
2.2.1. From the street frontage where 

appropriate
2.2.2. From a private secure alley that is 

accessible only to residents and is 
made secure with gates at each end, has 
entrance points not wider than circa 3m, 
gives access to parking spaces, garages 
or on-plot parking and space for the 
secure storage of bicycles

2.2.3. From a separate secure parking court for 
apartments 

Pedestrian
2.3. Access to the large format uses should 

primarily be arranged: 
2.3.1. From a primary facade facing  a public 

area or street
2.3.2. Communal/visitor cycle storage should 

be provided close to the entrance
2.4. Main access to non-large format uses shall 

be arranged from the street with secondary 
access to alleys or lanes

2.5. For access to apartments on the ground 
and upper fl oors, see Parking Courtyard 
specifi caƟ ons

2.6. For access to units backing onto larger units, 
see Back-to-Back specifi caƟ ons

3. Boundaries
3.1. Appropriate planƟ ng or boundary treatments 

should be used to create a secure and 
aƩ racƟ ve interface between residenƟ al and 
non-residenƟ al uses

4. Waste Storage and Collec  on

The storage and collecƟ on of waste shall be 
arranged to meet policy DG-US3

4.1. Individual waste storage shall be located within 
each civic, commercial or industrial plot in a 
secured compartment away from public view

4.2. Where an alley is provided and communal 
waste collecƟ on areas are supported by the 
Local Authority, bin storage/collecƟ on shall be 
provided close to the access points from the 
street. The pavilion buildings shall complement 
the architecture of the buildings adjacent to 
them

Poorly designed large format uses tend to:
• Present blank sides and service areas to public 

routes and spaces
• Set buildings back behind large areas of parking  



Code: DG-US1.5 (Wrap Around Blocks)

139



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

43

Key:
1 Large format use
2 Houses backing onto centre of block defi ning the 

street with aƩ racƟ ve front elevaƟ ons.

3 Alley/Lane to rear parking  where conƟ nuous 
frontage is required.

4 Parking Court to Apartment Block

Block Diagram

Model View

1

22

2

3

4

Parking for large 
format use

Apartment parking

Parking alley

On plot parking 
accessed from 
the front

Public frontages defi ne the 
street whilst less civic sides 
to large format buildings 
are contained within the 
block

140



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

44

Blocks are to be designed to meet the general Block 
Design policy DG-US1 as well as the following in 
relaƟ on to topography:

1. Retaining Walls
Retaining walls are a feature of both public and 
private areas across the district. Where necessary 
they should be designed:

1.1. To be aƩ racƟ ve features that respond well to 
the character of the area

1.2. And located so as not to cause overbearing or 
excessive overshading

1.3. To integrate well with other structures 
including other boundaries,  railings, 
balustrades and parapet walls

2. Buildings
2.1. Are to be designed to make best use of land 

and relate well to the site
3. Underbuild
Underbuild (areas below the damp proof course) are 
to be designed:

3.1. So that their visual impact is minimised
3.2. To integrate well with other materials and 

structures
3.3. And constructed to be adaptable to aid 

conversion to storage or accommodaƟ on in the 
future where appropriate

4. Amenity Space
4.1. Where provided, garden spaces should be 

safe, usable and easily accessible, preferably 
containing a level area that is well connected to 
the building, to use for example, as a place for 
a table and chairs 

4.2. Raised areas of decking that provide elevated 
views across neighbouring property and reduce 
access to gardens for residents are unlikely to 
be acceptable

5. Undercro   parking
Where parking is designed to be within garages 
at street level, as part of the dwelling it should be 
designed to: 

5.1. Integrate well with the host structure

5.2. Not create streets dominated by garages and 
parking arrangements

6. Movement and Access
Steep gradients and abrupt changes in level can 
be a barrier to movement, parƟ cularly for the less 
ambulant.  Movement routes are to be designed:

6.1. To create a well connected network of routes 
6.2. To integrate well with the character of the area 

7. Access Points to Buildings
7.1. Are to comply with best pracƟ ce for access
7.2. Be designed to be aƩ racƟ ve and work well with 

adjacent levels, and materials 
8. Overbearing
Levels of overbearing may seem greater where 
eff ecƟ ve building heights are increased due to 
topography. Refer policy DG-US6 (Back to Back 
Arrangements)

Underbuild materials are well detailed and integrated with 
other structures 
Lower ground/raised underbuild area should have 
been designed to make beƩ er use of the land ie. for 
accommodaƟ on or storage.
Access to the garden space via raised external decking 
provides poor access to garden
Decking plaƞ orm may have a negaƟ ve impact on neighbour 
amenity. 









Topography: The gradient of land has a signifi cant eff ect on the design and arrangement of development 
blocks. Poor block design that does not account for slope gradients can lead to the creaƟ on of inaccessible 
public and private areas,  streets that are dominated by parking and rear boundaries and overlooked gardens 
that lack privacy.

Block Design - Block Design and Topography

Code: DG-US1.6 (Topography)

141



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

45

 

Recessed garages and aƩ racƟ ve front boundaries  
reduce the impact of parking and garaging.

UndercroŌ  parking and street scene dominated by 
garage doors and side views of cars

Some engineering retaining soluƟ ons can have a negaƟ ve impact on both private and public amenity 

Boundary fences on the top of retaining walls or steep 
changes in level are normally unaƩ racƟ ve and should be 
avoided parƟ cularly where they are visible from public 
areas. Enclosures formed in the same materials as the 
retaining wall can be more saƟ sfactory. 

Well integrated parapet 
structures or railings can be 
an eff ecƟ ve way of providing 
adequate protecƟ on from falling 
and privacy 

The overbearing nature of larger walls may be 
reduced by visually dividing them into secƟ ons using 
horizontal or verƟ cal detail or material changes



142



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

46

A private frontage is: the area of land between a building and the street or a side boundary and the street. 
It is usually privately owned and in public view. These areas make a signifi cant contribuƟ on to an areas 
character, can infl uence the sense of privacy and surveillance and help defi ne land ownership.

Private Frontages

Frontage areas within Teignbridge are to be well 
arranged to achieve the following:

1. To provide a clear defi niƟ on between private and 
public areas and between private areas,

1.1. For instance, through the use of physical 
features, such as railings, walls or hedges, 
changes in surface materials or ground level or 
the use of subtle surface markers

2. To be robust and long lasƟ ng,

2.1. Constructed and arranged to have a long life 
and be capable of being easily maintained

3. To be aƩ racƟ ve, and to refl ect local character, 

3.1. Being constructed in materials that 
complement the design of the street and 
the surrounding architecture, landscaping 
and surfaces and refl ect local paƩ erns of 
development 

3.2. Being set out to create a visually cohesive 
arrangement of land, features and surfaces 
that transiƟ on well between areas  

3.3. Where uƟ liƟ es plant and access covers are 
well arranged relaƟ ve to features, surfaces and 
edgings and allow landscape planƟ ng  fl ourish 

4. To relate well to the hierarchy and dimensions of 
the street,

4.1. Where the choice and design of frontage type 
is infl uenced by the posiƟ on of the street 
within a seƩ lements hierarchy of routes and 
spaces (see DG-LS1 Legibility)

5. To support public safety and provide adequate 
privacy,

5.1. Being arranged to maintain views of public 
areas from ground fl oor windows (usually not 
exceeding 1.1m height although gateposts/
piers may be greater than this) and to provide 
a sense of privacy to ground fl oor rooms where 
appropriate.

Plot Line

Carriageway Footway Private 
Frontage

Building
Line

Public Highway

Private Realm 
aff ecƟ ng 

quality of public 
realm

Public Realm 

Setback 
Distance

Private Frontages - Terminology


Good boundary treatments help to reinforce local 
character, help to defi ne the edge of the street, provide 
a sense of ownership, privacy and security and assist in 
obscuring negaƟ ve aspects such as metering devices or 
isolaƟ ng instances of lack of maintenance

Code: DG-US2 (Private Frontages)

143



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

47

The setback type, distance and design should relate 
to the proporƟ ons, character and hierarchy of 

the  area including the street, adjacent spaces and 
buildings.

Typical Setback arrangements and their use within Teignbridge      

0.
6

0 1.
5

3.
0

10
.0

Front Garden - Wall

Front Garden - Wall 
& Railing

Front Strip -  Wall 
& Railing

Front Strip - Hard 
Surface

Front Strip Planted

Retail Front

Front Edge Strip 
- Hard Surfaced

Typical 
Boundaries

Typical Setback Distance

Meters

The following pages illustrate a range of frontage 
types found within Teignbridge (Ref Appendix A 
also). 

The frontage types illustrated  would be acceptable 
for use in new development in the appropriate 
locaƟ on. 

Most vernacular
Most simple
Most irregular

More formal
More ornate
More regular

Higher Lower
cular
e
lar

Hierarchy

Typical Teignbridge  
Frontages

144



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

48

1.5 - 10m. Front Garden (Wall)
A generous garden is situated between the plot 
line and the building edge.

Typical Examples

Footpath Front Garden
1.5-10m

Private Frontages -  Teignbridge Frontage Types

Footpath Front Garden
1.5-10m

11
00

m
m

11
00

m
m

11
00

m
m

Render Wall Brick Wall

Brick Wall with Hedge

11
00

m
m

Stone Wall
11

00
m

m

Setback 1.5  - 10m

Boundary feature Wall or wall and hedge

Height 300mm - 1100mm (low wall 
associated with a hedge) 

Entrance SubstanƟ al gate posts min 1450mm 
height

Material Brick, stone, render.

Style Relate to building hierarchy and 
street character.

PlanƟ ng Hedge/shrubs on boundary not 
higher than 1100mm.

Protrusions Porches/bays may protrude into 
setback.

Low wall and hedrgerow delineate plot 
boundary. SubstanƟ al gate piers frame 
entrances

Brick wall delineates plot boundary 
supported by hedgerow planƟ ng.

Stone wall delineates plot boundary. 

145



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

49

Footpath Front Garden
3-10m

11
00

m
m

11
00

m
m

Stone Wall with Railings Stone Wall with Railings and Hedge

3 -10m. Front Garden (Wall & Railing)
A generous garden is situated between the plot 
line and the building edge.

Typical Examples

Footpath Front Garden
3-10m

Setback 3 - 10m

Boundary feature Low wall and railing, oŌ en with hedge. 
Finials larger at intermediate posts and 
corners/ends

Height Wall below 350mm. Railing/ hedge  not 
higher than  1100mm.

Entrance SubstanƟ al gate piers oŌ en min 
1450mm height or posts with oversized 
fi nials.

Material Brick, stone, render.

Style Relate to building hierarchy and street 
character.

PlanƟ ng Hedge/shrubs on boundary not higher 
than 1100mm.

Protrusions Porches/bays protrude into setback.

Low rendered plinth wall and railings 
delineate plot boundary. PlanƟ ng helps 
to reinforce boundary

Boundary feature materials compliment 
surrounding building character.

Low rendered wall and railings delineate 
plot boundary. PlanƟ ng helps to 
reinforce boundary

146



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

50

1.5 - 3m Front Strip (Railing)
A narrow frontage defi ned by verƟ cal boundary 
features. 

Footpath Footpath Front 
Strip

1.5-3m

Front 
Strip

1.5-3m



50
50

1/
3

2/
3

Render Wall with Railings Low plinth with Railings enlarged 
intermediate and end fi nials

Poor ProporƟ ons

Low stone wall with railings defi ne plot 
boundary. PlanƟ ng helps to reinforce 
boundary. 

Low stone wall with piers defi ne plot 
boundary. PlanƟ ng helps to reinforce 
boundary. 

Low stone wall with railings defi ne plot 
boundary. 

Typical Examples

Setback 1.5  - 3m

Boundary feature Railing or wall and railing

Height Total no higher than  1100mm. 
Wall component no higher than 300mm 

Entrance SubstanƟ al gate posts min 1450mm height. 
Enlarged or ornate fence fi nials.

Material Boundary feature: brick, stone, render. Cast 
iron, steel. Narrow margins, surfaces oŌ en 
hard but more oŌ en planted

Style Relate to building hierarchy, design and 
street character.

PlanƟ ng Hedge/shrubs on boundary not higher 
than 1100mm, but generally not higher 
than 600mm where less than 2m wide

Protrusions Porches/bays may protrude into setback.

147



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

51

0 - 1.5m Front Strip (hard surfaced)
A narrow strip of private land between the 
building and the street.

Footpath FootpathFront Strip
0 - 1.5m

Front Strip
0 -1.5m

Raised Edge Detail Flush Edging Detail

Pea gravel looks unƟ dy

Plot line delineated by change in surface 
materials and local change in level

Plot line delineated by  river washed 
cobbles. 

Plot line delineated by stone fl ags that 
doubles as a place for pot plants. 

Typical Examples

Setback 0  - 1.5m

Boundary feature Studs, edging, or material change

Height 0  - 300mm

Entrance None or detail within surfacing and or 
edging

Material Cobbles, seƩ s, stone pavers. Small units 
accommodate changes in level in two 
direcƟ ons

Style Relate to building hierarchy and street 
character.

PlanƟ ng No formal but owners may place pots etc.

Protrusions Porches/bays may protrude into setback.



148



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

52

A fl ush kerb lets mulch spread 
across footpaths and plants 
can become trampled

0.6 - 1.5m Planted Front Strip 
Where there is suffi  cient space for planƟ ng a 
narrow strip fi lls the space between the building 
and the street. 

Footpath Footpath

A planted strip leŌ  as a verge can look 
unowned and oŌ en leaves unsightly 
meter boxes exposed

A raised edge clearly defi nes ownership 
and protects and contains planƟ ng.

Front 
Strip

0.6-1.5m

Front 
Strip

0.6-1.5m

Low shrubs defi ne the frontage with 
planƟ ng contained behind edging bricks

Low shrubs defi ne the frontage with 
planƟ ng contained behind a low 
rendered wall

Narrow planted front strip defi nes the 
plot boundary.  

Typical Examples

Setback 0  - 1.5m

Boundary feature Edging kerbs, seƩ s. Raised edges help to 
contain bark mulch and prevents trampling.

Height 0  - 600mm planƟ ng

Entrance None or detail within edging and access 
path

Material Brick, stone, reconsƟ tuted stone. 

Style Relate to building hierarchy and street 
character.

PlanƟ ng Low, mass planƟ ng for impact  

Protrusions Porches/bays may protrude into setback.



149



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

53

0 - 0.6m Front Edge Strip (hard surfaced)
Where private or public land abuts building or 
boundary wall that reads as part of the street.

FootpathFront Strip
0 - 0.6m

Front Strip
0 - 0.6m

Same surface materials. Bonding 
delineates ownership

Flush surface  the same as adjacent 
surfaces

Flush surface  the same as adjacent 
surfaces

Can accentuate highway 
geometry

A very subtle change between surface 
materials suggests the space for vehicles 
whilst also conƟ nuing to the buildings

Slate fl agstones boarder the edge of 
the carriageway as part of the street 
composiƟ on 

Typical Examples

Setback 0  - 0.6m

Boundary feature No edging feature, subtle marker

Height 0  - 6mm

Entrance None

Material Matching with adjacent materials and 
paƩ ern

Style Relate to building hierarchy and street 
character.

PlanƟ ng None

Protrusions Porches/bays may protrude into setback.



Plot line not defi ned in this non-adopted 
street. 

150



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

54

0-3m Retail front
Spill out space to the front of commercial premises 
that feels as though it is part of the street.

Footpath FootpathFront 
Strip
0 -3m

Front 
Strip
0 -3m

Awning overlaps the pavement. 
Materials consistent with that of the 
street.

TradiƟ onal roller blinds oversail the 
Highway. Materials consistent.

Veranda delineates plot line. 

Setback 0  - 1.3m

Boundary feature No edging feature, subtle changes to surface 
materials

Height N/A

Entrance None

Material Co-ordinated  with adjacent materials

Style Relate to building hierarchy and street 
character.

PlanƟ ng None or containerised

Protrusions Porches/bays may protrude into setback. 
If awnings project further a licence may be 
necessary to oversail the Highway.

151



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

55





Private Frontages - Common Things to Avoid
Lack or boundary treatment to plot frontage

Poor material selec  on

Poor detailing of frontage areas

Absent boundary treatments can create an open and 
unkempt street appearance. 
1. Front rooms can feel exposed reducing the surveillance 

of the street. 
2. Any liƩ er, poor maintenance or prominent meter boxes 

in view negaƟ vely aff ect the appearance of the whole 
street, not just the individual plot

Typical poor threshold  and setback design:
1. Material selecƟ on unable to accommodate cross falls 
in two direcƟ ons without having to cut pavers diagonally. 
Poor colour co-ordinaƟ on between materials.
2. Drainage, uƟ liƟ es, levels and landscaping badly 
designed.

Boundary materials not well integrated with other colours 
and materials within the street.

An over reliance of hedging to create enclosure 

Poor Integra  on with Highway Design

Poor Highway and layout design at the sides and fronts of 
properƟ es can be wasteful of land and make the highway 
more prominent

Adopted service strips or kerb maintenance zones oŌ en 
sub divide front garden areas, reinforce highway geometry  
and can be confusing to pedestrians if surfaced in footway 
materials. 



1

2



152



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

56

Waste and Recycling Facili  es are:  the areas necessary for the storage and collecƟ on of waste from 
commercial or residenƟ al properƟ es

Waste and Recycling

New development proposals must have adequate 
and appropriate storage and presentaƟ on areas 
for waste, arranged to ensure that public and 
communal areas are not cluƩ ered by bins, refuse 
or poorly integrated enclosures and designed as 
follows:

1. To provide adequate storage, presentaƟ on 
and collecƟ on points for the waste containers 
necessary for the development. (For residenƟ al 
areas see table below)

2. To provide suitable access for waste collecƟ on 
vehicles and operaƟ ves where:

2.1. The starƟ ng point for domesƟ c collecƟ ons, by 
the District Council, is for each unit’s waste 
to be collected from plot, with access for 
collecƟ on provided by the owner

2.2. Steps or steep slopes are avoided between the 
storage and collecƟ on points where wheeled 
bins are proposed

2.3. All routes and surfaces, including access covers,  
intended to be traffi  cked by waste collecƟ on 
vehicles must be adequately specifi ed for load, 
width and tracking 

3. PresentaƟ on and storage areas should be: 
3.1. Well integrated and complement the 

surroundings, by their; posiƟ on, form, scale, 
materials, colours and details 

3.2. Away from prominent locaƟ ons.
3.3. Not  greater than 10 m from the nearest 

road accessible to refuse collecƟ on vehicles, 
avoiding steep slopes, steps, and including, for 
larger capacity bins, dropped kerbs

4. In parƟ cular communal bin storage areas should 
be:

4.1. Out of view from public areas
4.2. Secure but accessible to residents and waste 

collecƟ on operaƟ ves
4.3. Able to be maintained in a clean condiƟ on i.e.:

4.3.1. Include a lockable tap and drainage point
4.3.2. Protected against seagulls and vermin
4.3.3. Be well venƟ lated 

Designed:
4.4. To have some addiƟ onal capacity (circa 10%) to 

be adaptable for the future
4.5. So that bin doors open outwards and are 

specifi ed for the largest bin size anƟ cipated
4.6. In consultaƟ on with the Local Authority

5. Mixed use areas should allow:

5.1. Suffi  cient space to the rear of buildings for 
access and storage of waste and recycling

5.2. Separate well defi ned areas for commercial 
and residenƟ al waste and recycling

6. Proposals should indicate: 

6.1. All proposed storage and presentaƟ on areas 
for waste and recycling together with details of 
management and maintenance of such

6.2. The proposed capacity and dimensions of 
waste and recycling containers and their 
associated shelters or structures

6.3. Details of access arrangements to bin storage 
or presentaƟ on points for waste collecƟ on 
operaƟ ves and their vehicles

6.4. Vehicle accessibility demonstrated through 
tracking

ResidenƟ al Areas: Teignbridge District Council Recommended Recycling Standards 

Bin Vol (Ltrs) Size (ltrs) Non-Communal (No.) Communal /9 units (No.)

Garden Waste 240 1 9 (garden no. dependent)
Glass 240 1

Card 240 1

Paper 240 1
Cans & mixed plasƟ c 240 2
Residual (general) waste 180 1 9

Dry Recyclables (Glass, Tins, PlasƟ cs, Card, Paper in bag) 110 1

Food Caddy 23 1 9

Code: DG-US3 (Waste and Recycling) 

153



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

57

Teignbridge Approximate Bin Specifi caƟ ons

Bin Vol 
(Ltrs)

Type Width 
(mm)

Depth (mm) Height (mm)

23 Kitchen Caddy 260 320 380 (630 handle 
up)

55 Recycle Box 450 600 370

120 Wheeled Bin 505 555 975

180 Wheeled Bin 470 770 1110

240 Wheeled Bin 585 740 1110

360 Large Wheeled Bin 
(communal)

750 880 1115

660 Wheeled Bin (Communal) 1265 850 1250

1100 Wheeled Bin (Communal) 1265 1190 14701100 Wheeled B

630 handle 

DomesƟ c Recycle Box.
Black - PlasƟ cs and Ɵ ns
Green - Glass and card
Reusable bag - Paper and magazines

Typical Wheeled Bin.
Black - Individual Residual Waste -180 Ltrs
Green - Subscribed Garden waste -240 Ltrs
 - Communal Recycling - 240 Ltrs

Bin Storage - Good, Poundbury, Dorset.

• Well integrated and not visible from public areas, 
• Durable 
• Correctly sized 
• Accessible 
• Level access

Bin Storage - Poor.

• Visible from public areas 
• Boundaries too low & fl imsy
• Too small
• Open to weather and gulls 
• Poorly managed
• Not secure
• Poorly related to properƟ es

 

154



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

58

Services and U  li  es Networks are: the network of cables, pipes, ducts, sewers, and drains and their 
associated pumps, transformers, access chamber covers, inlets and outlets, etc, that supply and service 
development and enable it to fully funcƟ on. The network may vary depending on the nature  and design 
of the development but oŌ en includes  gas, water and electricity, lines of communicaƟ on, waste water and 
surface water.

Services and U  li  es Networks.

New service and uƟ liƟ es networks are to be 
designed and co-ordinated to relate well to built and 
natural features as follows:

1. Underground networks are to be designed to be 
compaƟ ble with planƟ ng proposals and are to 
allow for the soil volumes contained within tree 
pits necessary to support proposed tree species. 
(ref DG-XXXXX)

2. Meters, housings and plant access points must 
be designed, and located to minimise the impact 
on buildings landscape and the street scene.

2.1. Meters should be located and arranged to be 
remotely read without the need for external 
access at the front of the house. Where this 
is not possible meterboxes should be located 
away from front or prominent elevaƟ ons and 
designed to be inconspicuous and complement 
background surface colours where visible 

3. The layout, design and locaƟ on of access 
chambers and their covers must be well co-
ordinated with paving surfaces, kerbs  and areas 
of landscaping i.e.:

3.1. Covers should be aligned to be parallel to 
nearby kerbs, street geometry or paving 
paƩ erns. They should not straddle kerbs or 
diff erent surface types unless designed to do 
so

3.2. Covers should not be located within areas 
intended to be used for play or sport. Where 
unavoidable, covers must be recessed or set 
below ground surface as appropriate

3.3. Covers should not be located within areas 
of soŌ  landscaping where they will have an 
adverse impact on the landscape design 

4. Pumping staƟ ons, transformers, gas governors, 
control or switching units, feeder pillars or 
similar plant necessary for the funcƟ oning of 
infrastructure together with their associated 
housings, compounds fencing and access 
arrangements must be designed to be: 

4.1. Well integrated into designs and illustrated 
within design proposals

4.2. In character within their surroundings 
4.3. Located away from prominent posiƟ ons such 

as at the ends of sight lines or on street corners 
unless designed to be well integrated with their 
sounding

Poorly co-ordinated and integrated services undermine 
design quality from the outset and are costly to recƟ fy

Poorly designed uƟ liƟ es networks oŌ en:
• Do not cross co-ordinate well with hard and soŌ  

landscape proposals so that: 
• Manhole covers straddle diff erent surface 

materials and kerbs
• Pipes and ducts pass directly below tree pits 

prevenƟ ng planƟ ng
• They signifi cantly reduce planƟ ng areas such 

that plants struggle to thrive
• Locate standardised plant in prominent 

locaƟ ons that are signifi cant to local views
• Locate meter boxes in ways that poorly 

integrate with the front elevaƟ ons of buildings

Code: DG-US4 (Service and U  li  es Networks)

155



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

59

UƟ liƟ es and drainage networks need to be designed 
alongside proposals for tree planƟ ng so that there is 
adequate space for the soil volumes needed for small or 
large trees

A poorly located sub-staƟ on terminaƟ ng the view down a street. Avoid standardised housings, and prominent locaƟ ons 
such as street corners, the apex of bends or edges of open space. In every case ensure that designs blend well with their 
surroundings.  

Gas

Water

Lo
w V

ol
ta

ge Te
lec

om
s

Fibre opƟ cs 

Su
rfa

ce
 W

at
er

Fo
ul

 D
ra

in
ag

e

Tree pit 
area

900 mm

UƟ liƟ es zones that form part of the highway need to be 
designed to work well as part of the street. The above poor 
example is not wide enough to funcƟ on as a footway and 
contributes liƩ le to the funcƟ on or appearance of the street.





156



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

60

Custom and Self Build is: the actual construcƟ on or the organisaƟ on of the construcƟ on of homes by their 
owners, who will subsequently occupy the home. These homes can be built directly by the owner or someone 
employed or working with the owner. It excludes houses that are purchased and built or off ered for sale to 
another’s specifi caƟ on. Self build construcƟ on can enrich the urban environment by adding variety, interest 
and individualisaƟ on to the way in which a place is assembled.

Custom and Self Build (CSB)

Code: DG-US5 (Custom and Self Build)
CSB areas of development are to be planned, 
off ered and designed as follows:

1. Developers are to prepare a design code or to 
design the context  where CSB plots are to be 
located in line with the table below by defi ning:

1.1. The key parameters that will defi ne the 
characterisƟ cs of the area within which CSB 
plots would be located in the form of a Local 
Area Code

1.2. The character of the immediate seƫ  ng at a 
block and street scale in the form of a Street 
Code

1.3. Specifi c design issues perƟ nent to individual 
plots in the form of a Plot Code

2. A plot passport is to be prepared and is to be 
derived from the Design Code

3. Plot purchasers are to prepare designs that 
conform to the parameters set within a Plot 
Passport and Design Code

In
fo

rm
aƟ

 o
n 

le
ve

l

In
fo

rm
aƟ

 o
n 

to
 b

e 
pr

ov
id

ed

M
ai

n 
De

ve
lo

pe
r

Pl
ot

 P
ur

ch
as

er

As
 p

ar
t o

f o
ut

lin
e 

pl
an

ni
ng

 a
pp

.

Pl
an

ni
ng

 
Co

nd
iƟ 

on
 w

ith
 

Ɵ m
ed

 tr
ig

ge
r

As
 p

ar
t o

f o
ut

lin
e 

pl
an

ni
ng

 a
pp

.

Pl
an

ni
ng

 
Co

nd
iƟ 

on
 w

ith
 

Ɵ m
ed

 tr
ig

ge
r

As
 p

ar
t o

f 
Re

se
rv

ed
 M

aƩ
 e

rs
 

ap
p.

Pl
an

ni
ng

 
Co

nd
iƟ 

on
 w

ith
 

Ɵ m
ed

 tr
ig

ge
r

De
sig

n 
Co

de Lo
ca

l A
re

a 
Co

de
(P

ar
am

et
er

s)

Scale   

Density & Amount   

Land-use/LocaƟ on   

Landscape/Drainage   

Legibility   

Movement & Access   

St
re

et
 C

od
e

Block Character   

Street Character   

Setbacks   

Building Types   

Building Character   

UƟ liƟ es and Services   

Pl
ot

 
Co

de Plot specifi c design 
criteria

  

Pl
ot

 
Pa

ss
po

rt At-a-glance plot specifi c 
parameters 

  

Pl
ot

 D
es

ig
n

Plot Layout Design  

Building Design  

Boundary Design  

Plot Landscaping  

Fine Detail   

O
ut

lin
e 

A
in

e 
Ap

pl
ic

a
 o

nss
aa

o
pp

i
ss

o
aa

ppAA
n

a
l

A
ne

A
OOOOOOOO

uuuuutttt
liin

e
AAAAAAppp

ppplll
iic

a
oooon

ssss
OOOOOOOOOO

uuuuutttt
liiiiiinnn

eeeee 
AAAAAAppppppppp

pppppppppll
iiic

aaaaaca
  ooooooooo

nnnssssss

Hy
br

id
 A

pp
lic

a
 o

nsss
acc

byHH
n

p
rr

A
nsn

Ap
rid

A
HyHHHHHHyyyy

bbbbbbbbrr
iiiddddd

AAAAAAppp
ppppppl

icccc
a

oooooooo
sssss

HHHHHyyyyy
bbbbbbbrrr

iiiddddd
 AAAAAAAAAAA

pppppppppppppp
liic

aaaccaca
  oooooooooo

nnnnnnssssss

Re
se

rv
ed

 M
a

 e
rs

 A
pp

sppppAA
seeR

AAs
MM

ee
dd

AAsA
a

MM
rv

e
ReRRRRRRee

ssse
rrrvv

edddddddd
M

a
er

sssssAAAA
pppppp

s
RRRRRRRReeeeeee

sssseeeee
rvrvrv

eeeeedddddddd
MMMMMM

aaa
  ee

rs
 sssrs
 AAAAAAA

pppppppppppppp
s

or

The above design policy supports the adopted Teignbridge Custom and Self Build Housing SPD and provides 
a structure and Ɵ ming for the submission of informaƟ on. Applicants preparing proposals containing CSB 
development are advised to discuss proposals with the Council prior to submiƫ  ng applicaƟ ons.

157



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

61

1. Local Area Code.
Defi nes the broad parameters relaƟ ng to the design 
of the neighbourhood. For outline applicaƟ ons these 
aspects are normally defi ned in Parameter Plans 
such as the Land-Use plan. For CSB development 
applicaƟ ons should:

• IdenƟ fy zones for CSB development 
• Provide a wriƩ en descripƟ on of the type of 

places where CSB development would be 
located 

• Provide any necessary dimensions or criteria to 
ensure they are appropriately located.

2. Street Code.
Defi nes the characterisƟ cs of the streets where CSB 
properƟ es are to be located. Hybrid applicaƟ ons may 
defi ne much of the necessary detail within the ‘full’ 
part of applicaƟ ons but details, perƟ nent to CSB areas, 
should be reaffi  rmed. Street Codes must accord with 
any Local Area Code in place and will typically include:
Block Character (see also Urban Structure secƟ on)

• Block type and dimensions 
• Servicing for refuse
• Access and adopƟ on
• Parking (car and cycle)

Street Character 
(see also Streets and Movement secƟ on)

• Street hierarchy
• Street dimension (road,footway, parking)
• Street geometry (radii, regularity)
• Design speeds
• Street materials
• Street planƟ ng

Setbacks (see also Urban Structures secƟ on) 
• Frontage boundary types and materials
• Building setback

Building Types (see also Building Design secƟ on)
• Terrace/semi-detached/detached
• Regularity/uniformity
• Local legibility

Building Character (see also Building Design secƟ on)
• Materials
• Colours
• Hierarchy
• ProporƟ oning
• Building good pracƟ ce
• UƟ liƟ es and servicing

3. Plot Code
IdenƟ fi es key aspects that are relevant to an individual 
plot that must be achieved or included at the Plot 
Design stage. Typically this might include:

Colours, fenestraƟ on, orientaƟ on, response to views, 
landscaping etc.

4. Plot Passport 
(see also TDC Custom and Self Build SPD)
Defi nes those aspects that are criƟ cal to the 
specifi caƟ on of the plot, typically including:

Plot Parameters
• Plot dimensions
• Plot distances to boundaries
• Plot boundary responsibility
• Plot build-zones
• % Plot coverage
• Frontage length
• Plot servicing: uƟ liƟ es & drainage/sewerage
• Plot access
• Plot parking (car and bike) 

5. Plot Design
Is the design of the individual plot by the plot 
purchaser in line with the other codes (above).

Self Build Zone
- Self Build plots are to be located:
within 100m of the main site access- On ter  arry streets or in mews areas

Self Build - Parameter Plan

Self Build Zone

Self Build - Parameter Plan

SCALE

2.5 - 3 Storey

2 -2.5 Storey

2  Storey

158



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

62

Back to back arrangements: are concerned with the relaƟ onship and distances at the back of properƟ es to 
ensure residents are able to enjoy adequate privacy and quality of outlook for comfort and enjoyment of 
dwellings and gardens without feeling unduly overlooked or enclosed.

Back to Back Arrangements

ProperƟ es are to be arranged to ensure that 
residents can enjoy appropriate levels of comfort 
and enjoyment of their properƟ es without feeling 
unduly overlooked or enclosed. 

The following is applicable between proposed and 
exisƟ ng dwellings as well as between proposed 
dwellings.

1. A back to back distance of 20m between the 
windows of habitable rooms (living room, dining 
room, kitchen and bedroom) is to be used as a 
nominal standard minimum. Reduced separaƟ on  
distances may be acceptable by careful layout 
and building design, such as by:

1.1. Designing layouts to avoid the windows of 
habitable rooms of diff erent properƟ es facing 
one another 

1.2. OrientaƟ ng properƟ es so that they are not 
perpendicular to one another 

2. Where buildings of diff erent storey heights back 
onto one another, or diff erences in site levels 
place buildings of the same storey height higher 
than those they back onto, privacy distances may 
need to be increased beyond the 20m nominal 
standard distance to reduce overlooking and 
overbearing. AddiƟ onally:

2.1. Where balconies and roof terraces are 
featured, they must be designed to not cause 
unacceptable levels of overlooking 

3. Where the principal habitable room window 
faces onto a blank, or largely blank wall of 
another building or structure, appropriate space 
and design should be provided to avoid the blank 
feature being overbearing

4. Any designs must not undermine neighbours’ 
right to light

20m

General rule: Distance between habitable room windows should be 
minimum of 20m

Bed Bed

Distance between habitable room windows may be reduced due 
to building angles

Bed

Bed
< 20m

Minimum distance between 2 buildings should be approximately 
equal to twice the building height unless there are design features 
to ensure mutual privacy for occupants

2 x H

H

Minimum distance between 2 buildings may need to be increased 
in situaƟ ons where there are level changes

> 2 x H

H

< 20m

Distance between non-habitable room windows may be reduced 
to < 20m providing adequate privacy & amenity can be achieved

Bed
Bed

Some steps to reduce Overbearing
• Hipped roofs or stepped upper fl oors can help to 

reduce the perceived height of buildings.
• Introducing planƟ ng, designing walls to have 

paƩ ern and texture and not topping retaining 
walls with unsightly fences can all help to alleviate 
the impact of structures. See also DG -US 1.6 
(Topography)

Code: DG-US6 (Back to Back Arrangements)

159



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

63

Code: DG-US7 (Dayligh  ng)

The design and arrangement of buildings in 
Teignbridge is to allow for good levels of natural light 
within habitable rooms, as follows: 

1. Buildings should be designed to have suffi  cient 
daylight to allow comfortable use and enjoyment 
of habitable rooms, gardens and communal 
spaces. BS 8206-2 (2008) states that in principle, 
sunlight should be admiƩ ed unless it is likely to 
cause thermal or visual discomfort to occupants, 
or the deterioraƟ on of materials.

2. As a rule of thumb, for residenƟ al use, a room 
will appear to be daylit when the glazed area is at 
least 1/25th of the total surface area of the room 
(DETR, 2012). 

3. In general there should be suffi  cient area of sky 
visible to give good interior lighƟ ng with windows 
of reasonable size. 

3.1. As a guide, when a window is used as a main 
source of light, external obstrucƟ ons should 
not be higher than 25° above horizon (from the 
centre of the window). 

4. Buildings should be designed so that they do 
not overheat due to excessive glazing or lack of 
shading.

5. Where there is doubt about the quality of 
daylight developers will be required to produce 
plans illustraƟ ng shadow paths at the winter 
solsƟ ce and spring/autumn equinox (sunrise, 
midday and sunset). Reference should be made 
to (or their subsequent revisions): 

5.1. BS 8206 LighƟ ng for buildings, 
5.2. DETR Good PracƟ ce guide 245 Desktop Guide 

to DaylighƟ ng 
5.3. BRE document Site Layout Planning for Daylight 

(2012). 

• AddiƟ onal windows within side elevaƟ ons 
will improve natural daylight levels and 
assist in creaƟ ng acƟ ve and interesƟ ng 
elevaƟ ons, parƟ cularly on corner plots.

• As well as improving the amenity for 
residents, buildings and dwellings 
with good quality natural light allow 
opportuniƟ es for passive solar gain and 
on-site solar energy generaƟ on to be 
maximised.

Dayligh  ng is: the pracƟ ce of enabling natural light to penetrate into buildings. 

Dayligh  ng

25°

Angle of obstrucƟ on above the horizon (DETR, 2012)

A room can have a daylit appearance if the area of glazing 
is at least 1/25th of the room’s total surface area (DETR, 
2012)

1/25

160



Green Structures
161



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

103

Landscape Character
Principles to steer the design of development in 
relaƟ on to the special qualiƟ es of the local landscape.

Green Infrastructure
Principles about the design and seƫ  ng out of 
networks of green spaces.

Urban Parks
Guidance for the design of new urban park spaces.

Natural Green Space
Guidance for the design of spaces whose principle 
role is to provide space for wildlife.

Green and Blue Corridors
Principles about the design of linear green spaces 
and those that contain water features. 

Children and Young Peoples Space
Guidance and standards for the design of space for 
play and social interacƟ on of children and young 
people.

Allotments
Standards and guidance for the design of new 
allotment areas.

SuDS
Principles and guidance for the design of surface 
water drainage  to reduce fl ooding and improve 
water quality, habitat and amenity.

Street PlanƟ ng
Guidance for the design of planƟ ng that forms part of 
the composiƟ on of the street.

Retained Green Features
Design guidance and parameters for elements that 
are or can be retained and integrated into new 
development.

Devon Hedgebanks
Specifi c design issues relaƟ ng to the selecƟ on and 
design of Devon hedgebanks.

Public Art
Principles on the integraƟ on of public art into the 
design of new development.
 

Green Structures
The parameters and guidance  that ensures  green space is set out and designed as a comprehensive network, 
providing a range of benefi ts for people and wildlife that is responsive to the character of the area.

162



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

104

The siƟ ng and design of new development must 
respond to the character of the area by:

1. RespecƟ ng the key characterisƟ cs, valued 
features and special qualiƟ es of the landscape, 
including where relevant: 

1.1. Topography: Achieve a good fi t with the natural 
landform, to create areas of strong posiƟ ve 
character, avoiding excessive cut and fi ll which 
can destroy disƟ ncƟ ve vegetaƟ on and features

1.2. Scale and paƩ ern of the landscape context: 
refl ect the scale, massing, proporƟ on and 
relaƟ onship to the land of urban forms

1.3. Vernacular: Use the same or refl ecƟ ve of the 
disƟ ncƟ ve  materials, building characterisƟ cs 
and boundary treatments

1.4. Tranquillity: Avoid or minimise light polluƟ on in 
characterisƟ cally dark countryside away from 
urban areas, to protect the quality of dark skies 
for stargazing

2. Reinforcing local disƟ ncƟ veness and historic 
character, for instance by drawing reference 
from:

2.1. The character and qualiƟ es of the exisƟ ng site 
to defi ne areas of disƟ nct character within the 
development:

2.2. Naturally wet areas and drainage features 
so they contribute to the site’s sustainable 
drainage scheme (SuDS), enhance biodiversity, 
and take opportuniƟ es to restore, enhance and 
create a natural character to water bodies

2.3. The disƟ ncƟ ve characterisƟ cs and valued 
features of the area, taking inspiraƟ on 
from natural and cultural infl uences such 
as topography, aspect, drainage, land use, 
fi eld paƩ ern,locally disƟ ncƟ ve colours and 
tradiƟ onal building materials and styles that 
have infl uenced local seƩ lement character, 
form and paƩ ern in the past

2.4. Boundary features that are characterisƟ c of 
the local area and appropriate to the intended 
character of the development. such as Devon 
hedgebanks, agricultural style fencing or stone 
walls to retain rural character 

2.5. The views within, across and beyond a site to 
local or disƟ nct features, landmarks or places 
that establish a sense of idenƟ ty. Borrow these 
from the surrounding landscape and create 
new landmarks and architectural incidents 
to terminate and channel views within a 
development  (See also DG-LS1).

2.6. ExisƟ ng trees, woodlands, hedges and soŌ  
landscape features to integrate new buildings 
into their seƫ  ng and infl uence species 
selecƟ on that fi t with the landscape context 
and are appropriate to the intended character, 
use and management of the site 

2.7. A site’s disƟ ncƟ ve landscape features such as 
historic fi eld paƩ erns as part of the design 
to reinforce character and respect history. 
Celebrate the site’s history and cultural 
associaƟ ons in new place names and public art

3. MiƟ gaƟ ng signifi cant adverse landscape and 
visual impacts to acceptable levels. Approaches 
to miƟ gaƟ on should reinforce, rather than erode, 
landscape character, adopƟ ng the following:

3.1. Avoid introducing features that are alien to the 
landscape character, such as tree or hedgerow 
planƟ ng in areas where lack of enclosure and 
openness are characterisƟ c

3.2. Use a paleƩ e of miƟ gaƟ on soluƟ ons that 
refl ect the posiƟ on, land use and status of the 
area. For example:
3.2.1. In agricultural landscape this may 

include hedgebanks, small irregular 
woodlands and orchards; whilst in 
unenclosed upland areas, this may 
include scrub planƟ ng and earthworks

3.3. Integrate new elements into the exisƟ ng 
landscape paƩ ern. For example where a 
landscape is characterised as having isolated 
copses or small woodlands, ensure that new 
woodlands conƟ nue to refl ect this paƩ ern

4. Rebuild eroded paƩ erns, for example by 
posiƟ oning new enclosures to recreate lost 
former fi eld paƩ erns or to reintroduce orchards 
and woodlands into the landscape where they 
were formerly present

Landscape Character is: that which makes an area unique and gives it a ‘sense of place’. It is a disƟ nct, 
recognisable and consistent paƩ ern of elements that makes one area diff erent from another, rather than beƩ er 
or worse. Areas with a recognisable idenƟ ty strengthen connecƟ ons between people and place and conƟ nue a 
posiƟ ve legacy of human infl uence for future generaƟ ons

Landscape Character

Code: DG-GS1 (Landscape Character)

163



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

105

Sketch of barn successfully integrated into the landscape

Sketch of Agricultural building  not respecƟ ng landscape character

The District Landscape Character Assessment idenƟ fi es  Landscape Character Areas and describes their 
character quality  and key characterisƟ cs. Strategic guidelines and recommendaƟ on for each area are 
provided. Local Plan policies require that proposals should conserve and enhance the qualiƟ es, character and 
disƟ ncƟ veness of the locality.

CluƩ er and surfaces around buildings can be 
visually intrusive

Shade and shadow from trees and hedges help to 
obscure development

New trees and hedgebanks help to break up building 
outline, parƟ ally screen lower building elevaƟ ons and 
Ɵ e the building into the landscape using appropriate 
paƩ erns found within it

Cuƫ  ng and earthworks scars 
visible

Building is a dominant feature in the landscape 
Inappropriate roof colour raises its prominence

Dropper hedgebanks and tree planƟ ng 
help resolve cuƫ  ng at the rear of the 
building, Ɵ e it into the landscape and break 
up its silhoueƩ e 

Approach ignoring Landscape Character and the visual impact of development

Approach led by Landscape Character

164



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

106

Green Infrastructure (GI) is: a network of mulƟ funcƟ onal green and blue spaces, both urban and rural, that 
create environmental and quality of life benefi ts for the community while providing habitats for wildlife. 

Green Infrastructure

New development is to provide interconnected 
green, and where relevant, blue spaces that meet 
its needs and relate well and contribute to the wider 
network of green spaces within Teignbridge by: 

1. AccounƟ ng and incorporaƟ ng or delivering 
the principles and projects in the Teign Green 
Network  - Green Infrastructure Strategy for 
Teignbridge 

2. Responding to opportuniƟ es to enhance exisƟ ng 
or create new GI assets and connecƟ ons. This 
may be demonstrated in GI context plans and 
masterplans showing the proposed roles and 
connecƟ ons in relaƟ on to to the wider GI 
network.

3. RelaƟ ng development proposals to GI features 
such that:

3.1. There is suffi  cient space for the mix of 
funcƟ ons within the proposed green spaces, 
supported by illustraƟ ve cross-secƟ ons

3.2. Publicly accessible and interconnected 
pedestrian, cycle and vehicular networks are 
integral to proposals

3.3. Necessary wildlife buff er zones and 
connecƟ ons are allowed for and can be 
maintained 

3.4. LighƟ ng levels are compaƟ ble with wildlife 
3.5. Buildings provide surveillance of public spaces 

and mulƟ funcƟ onal corridors so they feel 
safe, are well elevated and provide a posiƟ ve 
outlook to those spaces

3.6. Property boundaries visible from public 
areas are durable for the lifeƟ me of the 
development, aƩ racƟ ve when implemented 
and likely to be maintained in an aƩ racƟ ve and 
co-ordinated manner for the future

3.7. Street and parking arrangements do not 
undermine funcƟ on or appearance and are not 
wasteful of land.

3.8. Landscape proposals are designed in a 
coordinated manner, are aƩ racƟ ve and can be 
easily maintained

  xed

Code: DG-GS2 (Green Infrastructure)

165



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

107

AŌ er development

Before development

A well integrated GI Network  - funcƟ oning for wildlife and people

1   Play areas and leisure
2   Water management
3   Food producƟ on
4   Safe footpath/cycle routes

5   Interconnected street network
6   Outward facing block structures
7   ExisƟ ng habitats retained and 

enhanced

8   Wildlife commuƟ ng and foraging 
routes

1
2

2

3 4

7

56

6

6

8

8

1

• Retained features
• Access for all and movement
• Boundary treatments
• UƟ liƟ es
• Hard and soŌ  landscape materials
• Surface and path treatments
• Furniture (incl seaƟ ng, bollards, bins, 

cyclestands, structures and shelters etc.)
• Signage, nameplates and banners
• Water features and drainage design

• Public art
• Play and sports faciliƟ es
• Trees
• LighƟ ng and surveillance
• RelaƟ onship between buildings and green 

spaces
• Public events, users and acƟ viƟ es
• Ownership
• Monitoring, management and maintenance

Many Teignbridge GI constraints and opportuniƟ es can be found on the council's web site.

Plan posiƟ vely for the design of GI by including strategies or proposals for the following where relevant to 
the envisaged development:

166



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

108

Parks are:  landscaped amenity green spaces that funcƟ on as focal points and gathering places and may 
include: a formal structure, fl ower beds, sensory areas, exercise equipment, and public art. The defi niƟ on 
also includes smaller spaces that are informal in layout and character and have few formal faciliƟ es.

Urban Parks

New development is to create aƩ racƟ ve, high 
quality spaces that funcƟ on as focal points and 
places for neighbourhoods to gather relax and 
socialise and are to be designed as follows:

1. PosiƟ ve spaces.

1.1. Parks are to be central and well integrated 
within new development with a clear sense of 
purpose and idenƟ ty.

1.2. Parks must be designed as a component of the 
wider network of spaces contribuƟ ng to the 
full range of uses including informal acƟ ve or 
passive recreaƟ on and socialising. Designs shall 
make best use of exisƟ ng features and provide 
suitable topography and access. Larger parks 
should include faciliƟ es to promote healthy 
living such as trim trails, green gyms and mulƟ -
wheeled acƟ vity surfaces where appropriate.

1.3. Parks can provide a context for formal play 
forming part of the required buff ers to 
residenƟ al property.

2. Urban form 

2.1. Buildings at the edges of parks are to:
2.1.1. front towards the park spaces providing 

good scale and edge defi niƟ on and 
aƩ racƟ ve facades; and 

2.1.2. have high quality plot boundaries and 
access and parking arrangements 
that avoid private drives and visually 
complement the arrangement of park 
and buildings.

2.2. Park boundary treatments are to reinforce  
park defi niƟ on, prevent unauthorised vehicle 
access and parking and not impede natural 
surveillance. Suitable enclosures include: 
railings, low walls, changes in level, bollards 
and hedge planƟ ng.

2.3. Urban Parks should have mulƟ ple access points 
and pathways for foot/cycle movement and 
park maintenance. These should  be located to 
facilitate desire lines, and link logically to the 
wider movement network. 

3. Materials and lighƟ ng

3.1. Surfaces, edging materials, street furniture and 

lighƟ ng are to be durable, easily maintained, 
aƩ racƟ ve and complement the hierarchy and 
wider palate of materials proposed for streets 
and civic spaces. (Refer secƟ on XXX)

3.2. Routes and spaces should be supported by 
way-fi nding signs and outdoor learning 

3.3. With appropriate illuminaƟ on to help people to 
feel safe and to contribute to a sense of place 
whilst avoiding light polluƟ on and disturbance 
to wildlife.

3.4. Public art may be used to reinforce idenƟ ty, 
and enrich the experience of using Urban 
Parks. It should be part of a coherent approach 
across an area and developed in consultaƟ on 
with the Council

4. PlanƟ ng
4.1. The design and use of space should be 

infl uenced by exisƟ ng trees and vegetaƟ on  
where they could make a posiƟ ve contribuƟ on 
to the funcƟ on or appearance of a space.

4.2. New planƟ ng is to be aƩ racƟ ve and robust and 
incorporate naƟ ve, edible and sensory species 
as appropriate for the context of the park.

4.3. PlanƟ ng must be set out and maintained 
without not compromising  safety and 
surveillance with maintenance plans to cover 
periodic acƟ viƟ es. 

4.4. Trees should be planted to provide a sense of 
maturity, to resist damage, and thrive once 
planted. Individual trees should be planted 
as  heavy standards or larger and are to be 
specifi ed: greater than 8-10 cm girth, container 
grown to comply to BS 8545:2014 with tree 
pits that comply with  BS3882:2007 and soil 
volumes that relate to (DGXXXX)

4.5. Trees are to be protected or located to avoid  
damage from strimming and grass cuƫ  ng 
machinery.

5. Surface water drainage

5.1. Formal Urban Parks are not to include surface 
water drainage features unless they are an 
integral component of the space and would 
make a posiƟ ve contribuƟ on towards its 
recreaƟ on or social funcƟ ons of design.

Code: DG-GS3 (Urban Parks)

167



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

109

Urban Parks of diff erent character refl ecƟ ng their locaƟ ons 
uses or funcƟ ons:

1. Courtenay Park - Newton Abbot. Implemented as part 
of the historic town plan responding to the link between 
St Paul's Church and the StaƟ on. Clear sense of idenƟ ty, 
buildings and boundaries defi ne and frame the park edge, 
paths follow desire lines and link well to access points into 
the space. Play is well overlooked.

2. Victoria Gardens - Newton Abbot. A new park within the 
centre of the town providing high quality space for visitors 
to relax and socialise 

3. Mill Marsh Park - Bovey Tracey - A centrally located 
and successfully integrated park that includes play, gym,  
natural features, cycle track, formal trees and caters for 
uses from community events to private picnics.

4. Widecombe Village Green - An urban park siƫ  ng 
comfortably with its rural, moorland, seƫ  ng providing a 
village green funcƟ on for social or passive recreaƟ on

Poorly designed Urban Parks tend to
• Be designed at the edges of development or as 

leŌ  over space with a poor sense of character or 
clearly defi ned funcƟ on

• Occupy land that is unsuitable for the proposed 
funcƟ on without design intervenƟ on to make it 
appropriate

• Have edges that are defi ned by the backs or sides 
of property 

• Be located on land leŌ  over aŌ er planning and 
feel secondary in character, funcƟ on or posiƟ on 

1 2

43

 



168



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

110

Natural Green Spaces are: green spaces where the predominant funcƟ ons are to miƟ gate the impact of 
development on wildlife and provide public access. Public access is a requirement but the main focus is 
on wildlife. Other funcƟ ons may also be accommodated where they are consistent with these principle 
funcƟ ons.

Natural Green Space

New development shall be designed to include 
areas of new and enhanced semi-natural habitat to 
benefi t priority habitats and species by:

1. Approaching proposals so that:

1.1. Natural Green Space is the principal 
contributor to achieving net biodiversity gain. 
Where on-site measures are insuffi  cient to 
achieve a net gain, off -site measures are to be 
provided

1.2. The miƟ gaƟ on hierarchy is followed so that 
development:
1.2.1. Seeks to avoid impacts
1.2.2. MiƟ gates for unavoidable impacts
1.2.3. Compensates for any remaining impacts
1.2.4. Delivers enhancements to achieve net 

gain
2. Preparing proposals:

2.1. Using the Defra biodiversity off seƫ  ng metric to 
evaluate net gain/net impacts; and

2.2. Using up to date and relevant ecological 
reports with survey and evidence prepared by 
suitably qualifi ed ecologists

3. Designing proposals:

3.1. To be site specifi c, located and designed to 
account for the nature and scale of potenƟ al 
impacts on exisƟ ng habitats and species; 

3.2. So that there is adequate space between built 
form and green features to enable the green 
features to funcƟ on well for their intended 
purpose. Typically this will mean allowing space 
for: biodiversity, habitat growth, drainage and 
paths for movement and maintenance access;

3.3. So that buildings, their frontages, and 
movement routes provide a sense of acƟ vity, 
movement, and natural surveillance to Natural 
Green Space areas

3.4. So that they can be maintained by a single 
management body into the future

3.5. So that plant species are predominantly naƟ ve, 
are of local provenance and resilient to the 
anƟ cipated impacts of climate change

4. Where public access is provided this shall include 
(proporƟ onate to the scale of the space):

4.1. Well designed and located informaƟ on boards 
to describe  natural and cultural heritage

4.2. Paths/tracks in suitable materials at 
appropriate widths for the intended mode of 
travel

4.3. Informal play, exercise, seaƟ ng and/or public 
art features using natural materials.

4.4. Limited use of lighƟ ng to:
4.4.1. Minimise light polluƟ on
4.4.2. Be directed away from sensiƟ ve or 

protected habitat areas
4.4.3. Not disturb nocturnal wildlife but 

balance this against the need for public 
safety

Code: DG-GS4 (Natural Green Space)

Poorly designed Natural Green Spaces oŌ en 
include:
• Gardens within wildlife buff er areas. Gardens are 

extremely unlikely to deliver the specifi c habitat 
and species condiƟ ons required 

• Areas that are designed for wildlife but then 
managed for people using intensive maintenance 
techniques. In these instances it may be 
preferable to off er these areas to be placed under 
the stewardship of wildlife chariƟ es or trusts 

• Areas that are designed for wildlife  that aren't 
managed sympatheƟ cally for people, feel unsafe, 
reduce use and aƩ ract anƟ social behaviour

Occasionally no access may be required to achieve 
biodiversity objecƟ ves. Such areas would normally 
not be considered to contribute towards Natural 
Green Space

169



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

111

High wildlife value 
low amenity value

Medium wildlife 
value medium 
amenity value

Low wildlife value 
high amenity value

Applicants must be realisƟ c 
about  the benefi ts to wildlife 
of amenity park land and 
the recreaƟ onal value of 
wildlife areas in calculaƟ ng 
on-site miƟ gaƟ on for the 
development and any 
residual need for off -site 
contribuƟ ons.

Public access within Natural Green Space areas must be designed and 
managed to retain the habitat value envisaged at the outset. For instance 
natural play can be encouraged where it is consistent with the miƟ gaƟ on 
role of the land. InformaƟ on boards can help to explain the natural and 
cultural value of areas to encourage appropriate paƩ erns of use.

170



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

112

Code: DG-GS5 (Green and Blue Corridors)
New development is to provide high quality green 
and blue corridors that connect spaces, provide 
a range of quality of life benefi ts and are to be 
designed as follows: 

1. Surrounding buildings are to front onto green 
and blue corridors providing acƟ ve frontages and 
a sense of natural surveillance.

2. Corridors are to be arranged around exisƟ ng 
ecological features and paƩ erns of use such as 
species-rich hedgerows, watercourses and bat 
fl yways. They should be designed and maintained 
to maximise biodiversity value while providing 
space for movement and compaƟ ble leisure 
acƟ viƟ es.

3. To meet any site specifi c habitat/mulƟ funcƟ on 
requirements and are expected to be at least 
13m wide excluding footpaths roads and 
cycleways and play. This should take account 
of anƟ cipated hedgerow growth to improve 
biodiversity and to achieve required lighƟ ng 
levels. AddiƟ onal width is to be provided for 
cycle and pedestrian trails with regular links to 

the surrounding movement network

4. Where corridors funcƟ on as important bat 
fl yways, lighƟ ng levels of 0.5 lux at 5m from the 
face of the hedge or bat fl yway feature must not 
be exceeded. In these instances, uses requiring 
high illuminaƟ on will not be compaƟ ble and 
should be buff ered or located outside of the 
green corridors.

5. To be maintained as part of the public realm with 
maintenance and management plans provided 
to cover all operaƟ ons needed to develop and 
retain habitat value

6. Corridors may provide a suitable mix of 
addiƟ onal features such as: 

• Biodiversity
• SUDS features
• Trim trail staƟ ons
• Play faciliƟ es/mulƟ  

acƟ vity areas
• Wayfi nding and 

interpretaƟ on
• Edible/sensory 

planƟ ng
• Public art

• Landscaping

Green and Blue Corridors are: criƟ cal components of an eff ecƟ ve linked network of green or blue spaces that 
have movement, drainage and wildlife habitat funcƟ ons. They are aƩ racƟ ve spaces that oŌ en contain green 
features like hedgerows, trees, and grassland, and/or drainage features like streams, rivers, ditches, ponds or 
SuDS features. 

Green and Blue Corridors

Cross secƟ ons and typical details can be used to establish parameters and show  how compaƟ ble uses can be 
accommodated in the proposed spaces

4m

4m (typ)

2m (typ)

1.5m (typ)

3m

1.5m

Front gardens.

Segregated foot and cycleway well linked to 
network.
Possible gym/play/LAP.

Swales as part of SuDS.

Herb margin to edge of hedge.
Hedgerows managed to opƟ mise wildlife 
including improving from agricultural boundaries

Herb margin to edge of hedge
Trees managed to achieve closed canopy.
Shared surface/homezone.

171



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

113



Avoid creaƟ ng large gaps in important hedgerows

Design for connecƟ vity 

Some European protected species such as 
dormice and bats rely on the connecƟ vity 
of green networks for food gathering, 
movement and habitat. 

Hedgerows that form strategic fl yways 
as part of the South Hams Special 
Area of ConservaƟ on require special 
consideraƟ on.

Aim to design conƟ nuously linked linear 
habitat features. Where breaches for 
movement or other reasons are needed, 
ensure canopy closure.

Increasing the width of planƟ ng at the 
point at which a breach is made improves 
the chances of successful habitat 
connecƟ vity.

Avoid severance from light sources

Light levels greater than bright moonlight 
can deter the movement of bats. The 
proximity of development to bat fl yways 
and especially any associated lighƟ ng 
must be designed to enable bats to move 
and feed.

As a rule of thumb light levels should be 
no more than 0.5 lux at 5m from the face 
of the bat commuƟ ng feature.

Allowing 20m corridor width in the early 
layout stages of design can help ensure 
that adequate space is available for 
biodiversity and other uses such as SuDS, 
movement and play. There may be areas 
where more or less space is required 
depending on the uses and funcƟ on of 
the corridor.

Find design soluƟ ons that achieve canopy closure and minimise the width 
of breaches needed





Depending on the 
nature of the road the 
Highway Authority 
may require verƟ cal 
clearance distance of:
Carriageway -  5.5 m 
Footway - 2.4 m

Ensure that light direcƟ on and levels do not have the eff ect of severing 
feeding and movement routes for bats by spilling onto features that 
they use.



Reducing or omiƫ  ng public and private amenity lighƟ ng as well as 
ensuring adequate distances from important green features help to 
ensure that their wildlife funcƟ on is retained 

 20 m (nominal) for biodiversity 
and amenity uses

LighƟ ng levels 
reduced and 
directed away 
from fl yway 
feature

LighƟ ng design 
too intense 
and spilling, 
undirected onto 
from fl yway 
features 

172



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

114

Children and Young Peoples Spaces are: outdoor areas whose principal purpose is to provide focused 
opportuniƟ es for children and young people to play and socialise. 

Children's and Young People's Space

Code: DG-GS6 (Children's and Young People's Space)
Proposals for new development are to provide for 
children and young people with dedicated accessible 
areas for their play and interacƟ on as follows:
1. Be well Integrated

1.1. In relaƟ on to the overall locaƟ on, character, 
design and arrangement of a neighbourhood 
and development, so that proposals work well 
with the site to provide accessible enjoyable 
play as an integral part of an area

1.2. So that the design of play is infl uenced by the 
local environment within which it is proposed. 
Its physical character, including the design 
of equipment, materials of construcƟ on, 
manipulaƟ on of landform, selecƟ on of 
surfaces, themes and means of enclosure, 
should fi t with its context and opƟ mises the 
play potenƟ al of the site and meets the needs 
of the local community. (Standard equipment 
and formulaic design is unlikely to meet this 
requirement)

2. Amount
2.1. Have the appropriate level of play for the 

anƟ cipated number and age ranges of children 
and young people, suitably equipped to meet 
the needs of the area (ref table overleaf)

3. Well linked
3.1. To be accessible by the intended age ranges of 

children and young people, disabled  and less 
ambulant users and carers

3.2. PosiƟ oned in locaƟ ons that are central or 
part of safe aƩ racƟ ve and well overlooked 
pedestrian/cycle movement routes linked to 
wider green space network, and posiƟ oned 
within reach of anƟ cipated users, but not in a 
manner likely to create confl ict with adjacent 
residents.  (see Play Space tables)

3.3. With suitable proximiƟ es and design to 
enable safe, access and egress and provide an 
aƩ racƟ ve seƫ  ng accounƟ ng parƟ cularly for 
vehicle parking and carriageways

3.4. Arranged to avoid children crossing main roads, 
railways or waterways to access, and that are 
separated from major vehicle routes and are 
accessible directly from pedestrian routes with 
fi rm surfaces

4. Quality

4.1. To provide aƩ racƟ ve accessible age-
appropriate spaces that are robust and fi t for 
purpose that:

4.1.1. Address the standards table overleaf 
relevant to the type of provision  proposed

4.1.2. Are sited in well landscaped and 
overlooked, open, welcoming locaƟ ons 
and are visible from nearby dwellings or 
well used pedestrian routes and are free 
of fear of harm or crime

4.1.3. Are sized and arranged to provide  
workable arrangements suitable for the 
level of play provision

4.1.4. Have boundary and separaƟ on to adjacent 
sources of signifi cant risk, such as roads 
and SuDs features 

4.1.5. Are not excessively over shaded by exisƟ ng 
or proposed trees, such that equipment 
remains damp or becomes slippery, or lies 
within tree rooƟ ng zones

4.1.6. Are on land having a suitable natural 
topography or on land that is capable 
of being landscaped for the type of play 
experiences intended 

4.1.7. Occupy a well drained and reasonably fl at 
site with appropriate surface beneath and 
around formal equipment which meets 
industry standards,  is high quality, and 
responds well to local seƫ  ng and context

4.1.8. Are designed accounƟ ng for the Equality 
Act 2010 or subsequent revisions

4.1.9. Are designed to minimise visual intrusion 
between high play structures and 
dwellings

4.1.10. Contain seaƟ ng for carers and siblings
4.1.11. Contain equipment to meet relevant 

NaƟ onal or European standards or audited 
and approved by a third party 

4.1.12. With fi rm proposals for ongoing 
maintenance and management of spaces 
and equipment accounƟ ng for the need 
for repair and replacement to achieve high 
standards of safety and amenity 

4.1.13. Do not contain underground water 
storage, or surface mounted covers to 
access chambers 

173



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

115

Play Space Standards. 
To be read alongside Code DG-GS6

Approx Age 
range
(Years)

Catchment target 
(meters)

(Max walking 
distance to 

residenƟ al front 
door)

Minimum distance 
from edge of 
activity zone 
to residential 

elevation     
(meters)

Minimum distance 
between activity 

zone and residential 
property boundary 

(meters)

Activity zone size            
(m2)

Pocket Play 0-6 100 5 100
Typical standards
(See image overleaf)

• Located throughout development areas, meeƟ ng catchment targets (above),
• Used to enhance site features or act as focal points
• UncluƩ ered and free from higher or moderate risk hazards.
• Features to indicate that play is posiƟ vely encouraged 
• PlanƟ ng and features to sƟ mulate all senses 
• Features to allow children to claim as theirs
• Signed to idenƟ fy space is for children and to discourage dogs
• Landscaped and with a well defi ned, low, (circa 600mm) boundary perimeter
• Means to control the speed of entering or leaving children
• Provides a sƟ mulaƟ ng environment aiding counƟ ng, learning colours, physical 

coordinaƟ on, balance and cogniƟ ve development
• See Pocket Play Provision standards for addiƟ onal design and quality standards at 

Teignbridge.gov.uk 
Childrens Play Space 
Standards

0-12 400 20 10 400

Typical standards
(See image overleaf)

• Provides a suitable mix of furniture including seats, bins, and cycle parking
• Surfaced with grass or hard surface together with impact absorbing safety surfacing 

beneath and around play equipment or structures as appropriate
• Contains signs that follow with the industry standards
• Deigned to provide a diverse sƟ mulaƟ ng and challenging play experience that seeks 

to include equipment for balancing, rocking, climbing, overhead acƟ vity, sliding, 
swinging, jumping, rotaƟ ng, imaginaƟ ve play, social play, and play with natural 
materials such as sand and water (where appropriate).

• See Children's Play Spaces standards for addiƟ onal design and quality standards  
Teignbridge.gov.uk

Combined Children's 
and Young Peoples 
Play Space (inclusive 
family provision)

0-Young 
Adults

1000 30 1000

Typical standards
(See image overleaf)

• Provides a suitable mix of furniture including seats, bins, and cycle parking
• Quality appropriate to intended level of performance, designed to appropriate 

technical standards
• Located where they are of most value to the development adhering to catchment 

requirements
• Suffi  ciently diverse recreaƟ onal use for the whole development/catchment and 

should include opportuniƟ es for: formal play spaces (provision for all ages and 
abiliƟ es), wheeled sports, ball games (MuGA);  sports zone, and natural play space. 
As set out in the 'Combined Children's and Younger Peoples Play Space’ items A -E.

• These acƟ viƟ es carry their own quality standards  - see Teignbridge.gov.uk

174



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

116

Children's and Young People's Space

A

B

C1,C2,
C3

D

E
30m

30m

30m

5m

30m

F

Typical Play Requirements for a Children's and young People's Space
Area AcƟ vity Open Space 

Classifi caƟ on
FaciliƟ es  Summary 

A Natural Play 
Space

Children's and 
Young Peoples 
Space
AcƟ vity Zone 

Bee walls, insect hotels, rockeries, log piles, natural themed seaƟ ng, 
, nest boxes, natural bird baths, naƟ ve trees and shrubs, willow play 
features, sensory play, play landscapes

B Wheeled Sports Children's and 
Young Peoples 
Space

Wheeled sports opportuniƟ es e.g. Skate Bowl, Pump Track, street 
furniture, landscaped acƟ vity zones

C1 Formal Play 
Area 
0-6 Years

Children's and 
Young Peoples 
Space

Play zone for toddlers providing: 
1) sƟ mulaƟ ng, inclusive and fun play to help toddler development.
2)range of sensory planƟ ng and play experiences(formal and 
informal) that will sƟ mulate: sight, touch, sound and smell.

C2 Formal Play 
Area 
6-12 Years

Children's and 
Young Peoples 
Space

Formal playground equipment and play experiences for juniors 
providing sƟ mulaƟ ng, inclusive and fun play with challenges to 
include:
balancing, rocking, climbing, overhead acƟ vity, sliding, swinging, 
jumping, crawling, rotaƟ ng, imaginaƟ ve play and social play.

C3 Formal Play 
Area 
12-16 Years

Children's and 
Young Peoples 
Space

Play zone off ering formal playground equipment and play 
experiences for seniors to include: 
balancing, rocking, climbing, overhead acƟ vity, sliding, swinging, 
jumping, crawling, rotaƟ ng, imaginaƟ ve play and social play.

D Sports Zone Children's and 
Young Peoples 
Space

Zone providing the following types of experiences:  outdoor gym, 
table tennis, trim trail staƟ on, safe parkour

E MUGA 
(mulƟ  use 
games area)

Children's and 
Young Peoples 
Space

Open access MUGA measuring 20 x 40m, to provide an array of 
sporƟ ng opportuniƟ es including: netball, mini tennis, fi ve-a-side 
football, walking sports

F Sheltered 
SeaƟ ng

Ancillary Protected central resƟ ng and socialising space

IllustraƟ ve layout of combined 
play zone (ref table above).

The development scale will determine the acƟ vity area requirements for each formal play area. (Refer to 
Recommended Space Standards table)

175



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

117

Recommended Space Standards
Childrens and Younger People's Space (combined provision)

Scale of 
Development
(Dwellings)

Pocket Play 
(0-6 years)

Children's 
Play Space              
(0-12 
Years) 

Natural 
Play
(A)

Wheeled 
Sports 
(B)

Formal 
Play (0-16) 
(C1,C2&C3)

Sports 
Zone
(D)

MUGA/
Ball Sports 
opportuniƟ es

0-9   
10-99  

100-130 
*Formal 

play 
including 

C1

 
*including 

formal 
play C2


300m2 

(min)


400m2 (min)

300m2 
(min) ball sports 

opportuniƟ es

131-199      
250m2 
(min) 



200-299       500m2 
(min) MUGA

300+   
500m2 

(min)


380m2 

(min)


980m2 (min)


300m2 
(min) 

 1000m2 (min) 
MUGA

Poorly designed Play Spaces oŌ en:
• Fail to provide advisory signs or liƩ er faciliƟ es

• Only provide one means of exit/entrance point, 
failing to account for inƟ midaƟ on or bullying 
guidelines

• Are enclosed by over prominent fencing without 
landscaping to help soŌ en appearance

• Lack consideraƟ on of inclusive design which 
provides access to faciliƟ es for disabled and 
enables non-disabled children and disabled 
children to play together

• Are located within areas that are not well 
overlooked and may be poorly used, inƟ midaƟ ng, 
and prone to abuse 

• Are located with poor or inadequate buff ers to 
residenƟ al property leading to loss of privacy or 
creaƟ on of nuisance

• Provide limited play experiences for children of all 
ages and abiliƟ es

Poor play provisions reduce the opportuniƟ es for 
children and young peoples to play, develop skills,  
and enjoy their local area and can leave residents 
with an ugly costly nuisance.



* Where a development generates an area of 1000 sq meters for a Combined Children's
and Young Peoples Play Space then the required, *formal provision for (0-12 years), is to be included within the 
design. Separate formal provisions may be triggered above this threshold, and are to be set out to comply with the 
catchment targets in the table on page 115



176



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

118

Allotments are: Clearly defi ned areas of land for individuals or groups to produce vegetables, fruit and/or 
fl owers for use by the plot holder(s). They provide opportuniƟ es for local sustainable food producƟ on, acƟ ve 
leisure and social acƟ vity.

Allotments

Code: DG-GS7 (Allotments)

Allotments are to be designed into new 
development such that they form part of a quality 
network of green spaces as follows:
 
1. Provided at a rate of 20 standard full sized 

plots per thousand dwellings with at least an 
addiƟ onal allowance of 0.1ha addiƟ onal land 
required for paths and communal faciliƟ es. (Total 
0.6ha/1000dwellings)

2. Sizes based on 
Standard Full Sized Plot 10m x 25m

Standard Half Sized Plot 10m x 12.5m

3. Be evenly distributed across seƩ lement areas 
based on a catchment radii of approximately 1km 
but they should not be located in parcels of less 
than 0.5 ha to enable effi  cient management

4. Be well located in relaƟ on to complementary 
green spaces. Areas that involve ball sports 
should be suitably buff ered

5. ProporƟ onate to the scale of the site, designs are 
to include:

5.1. CulƟ vatable soil free of rubble or 
contaminaƟ on, supported by soil test results

5.2. Enclosure formed by dog, stock and rabbit 
proof fencing that is aƩ racƟ ve, integrates well 
with the adjacent areas and where appropriate 
incorporates naƟ ve hedge planƟ ng

5.3. A secure accessible community hut
5.4. Toilet (male/female including wheelchair 

accessible) and washing faciliƟ es
5.5. Grey water recycling unless demonstrated to 

be impracƟ cal
5.6. Rainwater collecƟ on faciliƟ es on each 

communal building

5.7. 2m sq (min) level storage area for each plot
5.8. 1 No. water stand pipe/fi ve plots 
5.9. Cycle parking

5.10. 10% of plots designed for disabled access 
which includes smaller raised beds

5.11. Access provision for cars with a min 3m wide 
lockable access gate, vehicle turning and 
adequate car parking

6. AddiƟ onally proposals shall:

6.1. Include details of the ongoing management 
through a suitable body such as town or parish 
councils, allotment associaƟ ons, community 
groups or management companies

6.2. Provide suffi  cient clarity to demonstrate the 
arrangement, specifi caƟ on and management 
of land for allotments including details of the 
charging schedules for future plot holders and 
the specifi caƟ ons for enclosures 

7. TradiƟ onal orchard fruit trees may form a 
small part of an allotment site but would more 
commonly form part of planƟ ng schemes in 
other green spaces such as parks or natural 
green space 

8. Allotments should not be located:

8.1. In a fl oodplain
8.2. In aƩ enuaƟ on ponds
8.3. On land overshadowed by buildings or 

vegetaƟ on that would inhibit producƟ vity

 

177



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

119

Typical faciliƟ es expected for new allotment areas.

1. Robust boundary treatment

2. Secure community hut and seaƟ ng

3. Level storage area for each plot

4. Plot access paths

5. Central haul way

6. Vehicle access gate

7. Water supply

8. Cycle parking

9. Adequate car parking

10. Disabled accessible plots

1 2

3

4

8
9

10

5

6

7

178



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

120

SuDS are: a way of managing rainfall in a manner which mimics the natural characterisƟ cs of a site pre-
development (greenfi eld condiƟ ons) in order to manage the risk of fl ooding up and down-stream. Well 
designed SuDS integrated well into proposals provide wide benefi ts for wildlife, amenity, and water quality.

SuDS - Sustainable (urban) Drainage Systems

MulƟ funcƟ onal SuDS are an integral part of a 
development and are to be designed in order to 
miƟ gate the development's impact on fl oodrisk 
and bring about wider environmental and amenity 
benefi ts by:

1. Ensuring that development does not cause an 
increased risk of fl ooding. 

2. Managing surface water 

2.1. As close to the surface where it falls as possible 
2.2. In a way that has a posiƟ ve impact on the 

environment 
2.3. Through a series of drainage soluƟ ons to mimic 

natural processes (SuDS Management Train).
2.4. To provide a beƩ erment wherever possible 

(parƟ cularly on Brownfi eld developments)
3. Designing soluƟ ons

3.1. That prioriƟ se above ground soluƟ ons that are 
mulƟ funcƟ onal, and follow the four pillars of 
SuDS design (as illustrated opposite)

3.2. To be well integrated into the design and 
arrangement of built structures and hard and 
soŌ  spaces

3.3. That allow adequate space to achieve mulƟ ple 
benefi ts from SuDS, for example by allowing 
enough space for naturalised profi les and 
shallow gradients for marginal plants or for 
facilitaƟ ng access 

3.4. That use the hierarchy of discharge soluƟ ons: 
1) infi ltraƟ on, 2) watercourse, 3) surface water 
sewer,  to steer design outcomes

3.5. Where the fi rst 5-10mm rainfall is contained 
on site through source control with a series of 
treatment stages incorporated on site;

3.6. So that fl ooding does not occur on any part 
of the site for a 1 in 30 year rainfall event and 
that fl ooding does not occur during a 1 in 100 
year rainfall event in any part of a building or 
uƟ lity plant suscepƟ ble to water (including the 
recommended allowance for climate change 
and urban creep)

3.7. Where aƩ enuaƟ on is usƟ lised, site runoff  is 
controlled to greenfi eld performance (rates 

and volumes) for events up to and including 
the 1 in 100 year return period, or a reduced 
rate where required (e.g. CriƟ cal Drainage 
Area)

3.8. Where the design of the site must ensure 
that fl ows resulƟ ng from rainfall in excess of 
a 1 in 100 year rainfall event are managed in 
exceedance routes that minimise the risks to 
people and property

3.9. That accord with best pracƟ ce and maximise  
mulƟ funcƟ onallity

3.10. That can be  easily maintained with clear 
arrangements for long term ownership and 
adopƟ on. 

4. To be compaƟ ble with adjacent uses to avoid 
restricƟ ng access such as by designing 

• Wet edges with gentle profi les and 
shallow depths 

• Level strips next to shallow open water  

• Edge planƟ ng to act as natural barriers to 
restrict access to certain parts

• Features to be located where they are 
well overlooked

Code: DG-GS8 (SuDS)

Poorly designed SuDS tend to be designed:

• As engineering soluƟ ons without reference to 
adjacent context or land uses

• In a manner that does not leave enough space to 
maximise environmental quality

• Resort to piped and underground soluƟ ons 
that have a relaƟ vely short warranty period and  
confl ict with surface land uses such as play  

• With steep bank profi les that create concern for 
residents about safety and egress



179



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

121

IntegraƟ ng the SuDS Management Train Approach is best achieved by considering drainage early in the planning process. 
At this stage it is easier to consider how natural features can be uƟ lised to manage surface water on the site whilst ensuring 
that space is made for SuDS. 

Design to achieve high 
quality SuDS that brings 
about benefi ts in the 4 key 
areas above  

Control at Source
Reduce and slow water 
runoff  and polluƟ on at point 
of fi rst contact. Return to 
ground through permeable 
surfaces or harvest

PrevenƟ on
Plan and design to manage and 
reduce run-off , whilst achieving 
mulƟ funcƟ onal benefi ts 

Control on Site
Reduce and slow water runoff  
and improve quality across and 
between a site with a  network of 
soluƟ ons including swales, basins, 
and creaƟ ve design of public 
realm

Regional Control 
Downstream control 
and storage for sites or 
catchments: wetlands 
retenƟ on ponds...

2

3
4

1

Amenity

Biodiversity

QuanƟ ty

Quality

Create and sustain great spaces 
for people to enjoy

Create and sustain great spaces 
for nature

Manage fl ood risk.
Protect and maintain natural 
water cycle

Manage run-off  quality to 
prevent polluƟ on

Su
ds

 D
es

ig
n

Hi
gh

 q
ua

lit
y 

 S
uD

S

Avoid unsympatheƟ c designed structures such as standard headwalls without 
landscaping or poor quality boundaries and overly steep/angular bank sides that 
may be diffi  cult to climb from and may reduce biodiversity potenƟ al 

Gentle and rolling natural profi les with shallow gradients and landscaping can 
maximise marginal areas and will oŌ en create more aƩ racƟ ve amenity features 







The Four Pillars of SuDS design. 

SuDS Management Train

180



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

122

Street planƟ ng refers to: those areas of landscaping within streets that are in view from public areas and 
includes both public or communally maintained areas of planƟ ng as well as privately maintained land in public 
view.

Street PlanƟ ng

Code: DG-GS9 (Street PlanƟ ng)
Street planƟ ng areas are to be designed:

Landscape character

To form part of the landscape strategy for a site and 
have mulƟ funcƟ onal characterisƟ cs by:

1.1. IntegraƟ ng the site within the wider area and 
contribuƟ ng to green infrastructure strategies

1.2. Reinforcing landscape character
1.3. Helping to miƟ gate adverse development 

impacts

Street character

1. To support the character of the street as a whole 
and to contribute towards aƩ racƟ ve  public realm 
by: 

1.1. CreaƟ ng a structure of planƟ ng that has  
impact at a street scale ie. beyond the scale of 
individual plots or individual planƟ ng beds for 
example: through the use of tree species, hedge 
species or use of a repeaƟ ng planƟ ng themes or 
blocks of single species

1.2. CreaƟ ng eff ecƟ ve visual links between 
structures, buildings and landscaping, such 
as through form, species, spacing and plot 
defi niƟ on and being sensiƟ ve to the cultural 
references associated with plants and dwelling 
styles 

1.3. CreaƟ ng sensory and seasonal delight and 
aiding legibility, through the selecƟ on and 
arrangement of plants and planƟ ng areas

1.4. Defi ning, screening and soŌ ening otherwise 
hard areas such as parking courts, or improving 
performance, visual appeal or diversity  of SuDs 
features

Safe
2. To be arranged and maintained in a manner that 

creates secure private, and safe, well lit public 
areas such as:

• By ensuring sightlines are retained to public 
areas so they are well overlooked - generally  
managing frontage boundary planƟ ng to be 
less than 1.1m high and 

• By separaƟ ng trees and streetlights allowing 
for canopy growth

Frontages
3. To ensure, where frontage boundary types 

contain a planƟ ng component, that planƟ ng is 
designed to:

3.1. Help defi ne the extent of the property
3.2. Create the sense of a defensible area at the 

front or sides of buildings 
3.3. And in the use of hedging:

3.3.1. To have consistent approaches towards 
boundary planƟ ng that creates a sense 
of a conƟ nuous frontage and  reinforces 
local character

3.3.2. Contributes to the overall soŌ ening and 
greening of the developed area

PlanƟ ng
4. To be planted to saƟ sfy design soluƟ ons which 

work in the short and long term with plants that 

4.1. Establish well, are easily managed, tough, and 
capable of surviving some neglect and abuse

4.2. Are planted in adequate volumes and qualiƟ es 
of soils, are suitably protected, and nurtured 
with  eff ecƟ ve aŌ ercare techniques

Maintenance
5. Be managed and eff ecƟ vely maintained to ensure 

the intended landscape, amenity or biodiversity 
value can prevail for the duraƟ on of the 
development.

Poorly designed street planƟ ng areas oŌ en:
• Leave uncoordinated and disjointed grass verge 

areas that provide liƩ le visual or amenity value to 
schemes

• Have an overly busy approach to planƟ ng beds 
that are diffi  cult to manage and have liƩ le impact 
at the scale of the street.

• PosiƟ on trees in front gardens that are important 
to street character without adequate set back 
to buildings. Loss of such trees can undermine 
the amenity of the street and can be avoided by 
planƟ ng within public land with adequate building 
off sets.  

181



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

123

The simple combinaƟ on of buildings, frontage boundaries, verge, and street trees combine to create a clear 
street character with a rural idenƟ ty. The trees remain in a public area and are likely to be retained for the long 
term (Bradnich)

Many areas of the district combine boundary 
treatments with planƟ ng giving  fi rm well 
defi ned enclosure that is also has soŌ  character. 

Low stone retaining walls are frequently found 
topped with hedgerows to overcome level changes 
where plots meet public areas

182



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

124

Features important for their biodiversity cultural 
or aestheƟ c qualiƟ es should be integrated into the 
design and layout of new development so that: 

Assessed

1. They are assessed in terms of their health and 
value to landscape, historic context, green 
infrastructure, and biodiversity at the outset

Designed

2. They become aƩ racƟ ve features in their own 
right and are allowed to perpetuate in a safe and 
healthy form, to contribute posiƟ vely to public 
and private amenity and the way a place funcƟ ons 
and appears 

3. They best form components of planned green 
infrastructure, located within centrally owned and 
managed public areas 

4. Features that are important to culture and historic 
landscape are conserved, so that a sense of Ɵ me/
depth and maturity is imparted, and links are 
made with the wider landscape and form

5. The use and arrangement of buildings, structures 
or infrastructure is to be compaƟ ble with retained 
features, for instance:

5.1. By arranging play equipment outside tree 
canopies and rooƟ ng areas where equipment 
can become damp and slipery

5.2. By orientaƟ ng gardens so they do not abut 
hedgerows or woodlands retained for their 
biodiversity, cultural or aestheƟ c qualiƟ es

5.3. By locaƟ ng property so that it will not be unduly 
over-shaded or be dominated by exisƟ ng trees

5.4. By ensuring constructed features avoid rooƟ ng 
areas, including; underground services, drains, 
power and communicaƟ on cables, water 
and gas supply pipes,  retaining walls, kerbs, 
walls, paths, steps, areas of hard-standing, 
and foundaƟ ons, together with the associated 
excavaƟ ons required for their construcƟ on

5.5. By limiƟ ng, only where unavoidable, new 
permanent hard surfacing to be less than 20% 
of any exisƟ ng unsurfaced ground within Root 
ProtecƟ on Areas

Maintained

6. Maintenance and management regimes are 
tailored to achieve landscape, amenity, cultural 
and biodiversity objecƟ ves with safe and secure 
access provided  for management operaƟ ons

Retained Green Features are: components such as hedgerows, hedgebanks, woodlands and grasslands that are 
retained and integrated to achieve cultural, amenity or wildlife benefi ts for new development.

Retained Green Features

Code: DG-GS10 (Retained Green Features)

An aƩ racƟ ve route for cycles and pedestrians that 
retains an exisƟ ng hedgerow feature.

A public route over a retained hedge bank feature 
maintains a sense of overlooking and rural idenƟ ty.

Owners oŌ en manage hedgerows they control in a 
manner that undermines local character and reduces 
biodiversity. Arrange development so that retained 
hedgerows can be centrally owned and managed. 







ExisƟ ng 
hedgerow 
removed and 
replaced with 
panel fence

183



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

125

Pr
iv

at
e 

re
ar

 g
ar

de
ns

Pu
bl

ic 
ro

ut
e 

or
 fo

ot
pa

th



Hedgerow forms the boundary between a private 
rear garden and a public open space, play area, or 
land that forms part of a boundary to a public area.

Pa
rk

 o
r 

pu
bl

ic 
ar

ea

Pr
iv

at
e 

 re
ar

 g
ar

de
ns



Hedgerow forms the boundary between two rear 
gardens except where the boundary has limited 
landscape, heritage or biodiversity value or 
compensaƟ on for its value will be off set elsewhere

Pr
iv

at
e 

 re
ar

 g
ar

de
ns

Pr
iv

at
e 

re
ar

 g
ar

de
ns



Gr
ee

n 
la

ne

Pr
iv

at
e 

re
ar

 g
ar

de
ns

Pr
iv

at
e 

re
ar

 g
ar

de
ns



Trees that are too close to buildings or 
that substanƟ ally over-shade garden 
spaces oŌ en come under pressure for their 
removal. Avoid future over shading and 
overbearing issues at the layout stage.

RooƟ ng zones are not always circular. 
Take account of the nature of the 
ground around a tree and  make and 
agree  reasonable judgements about 
the actual likely rooƟ ng area.

Design built features so that 
excavaƟ ons to construct them lie 
outside of Root ProtecƟ on Areas 
(RPA). Services should be located 
outside of RPAs

• public areas being defi ned by poor quality, 
uncoordinated edges

• poorly overlooked public areas that feel unsafe
• maintenance diffi  culƟ es

• unobserved access to private property by 
intruders to rear gardens 

• loss of hedgerow features, trees and vegetaƟ on
• loss of habitat.

New development & exisƟ ng hedgerows - The arrangements below can lead to:

New development & exisƟ ng trees

Hedgerow forms the boundary between a 
private rear garden and a publicly accessible 
route or a route that is visible from a public 
area.

Hedgerow forms the boundary between gardens 
divided by a publicly accessible footpath or green 
lane

Roots more 
likely to be 
mostly in 
fi eld rather 
than under 
the road

Wall outside 
RPA but 
excavaƟ ons 
for it inside 
RPA

RPARPA

184



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

126

A Devon Hedgebank is: the name given to common fi eld boundaries found throughout the county. As a rule, 
they take the form of an earth or stone bank, oŌ en planted with naƟ ve trees and shrubs, but with variety 
relaƟ ng to local context, such as by: alƟ tude, ground characterisƟ cs, or local culture. 

Devon Hedgebanks

Hedgebanks are important historic features, oŌ en 
many centuries old and can be important linear 
wildlife habitats. Their form and the paƩ ern of their 
distribuƟ on is one of the defi ning characterisƟ cs of 
the rural landscape of the district.

Where hedgebanks exist on development sites, they 
should be integrated following the guidance within 
DG-GS10 (Retained Green Features) however the 
following specifi c guidance is also to be followed:

1. New hedgebanks 

Where new hedgebanks are appropriate such as to 
help rebuild local landscape character associated 
with exisƟ ng hedgebanks within the wider 
landscape, or on sloping sites where new dropped 
hedgebanks are used to help resolve level changes, 
they are to respect the local landscape character  
and context in their:

1.1. paƩ ern of distribuƟ on in the landscape; 
1.2. paƩ ern of alignment in relaƟ on to topography; 
1.3. size (height, width, slope)
1.4. construcƟ on techniques,
1.5. plant species range, either mixed naƟ ve or 

beech; and;
1.6. form of management

2. Adjustments to highway areas

The construcƟ on of highway works such as new 
accesses or highway widening are to be designed 
to minimise the impact of the works and any 
associated hedgebank removal by: 

2.1. using the smallest visibility splays suitable for 
safe vehicle movement

2.2. minimising the width of excavaƟ ons necessary 
for uƟ liƟ es, street lighƟ ng and kerbs or 
posiƟ oning them to reduce the impact on 
retained hedgebank features

2.3. In rural contexts minimising kerb heights to 
reduce the visual impact of the highway

Proposals are to show the total extent of hedgerow 
removal required to construct adjustments to 
the Highway. Where loss of hedgerow width is 
unavoidable designs should account for it through 
repair, reconstrucƟ on or translocaƟ on techniques

Code: DG-GS11 (Devon Hedgebanks)

The tapestry of interlinked hedges, hedgebanks, hedgerow trees and small copses  form an important part of the landscape 
character of the district

185



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

127

ConstrucƟ on

In Teignbridge, hedgebanks are generally 
constructed in earth, however, stone faced hedges 
are found in areas where there is a lot of free 
stone, such as the on the  fringes of Dartmoor  or 
limestone areas. 

PlanƟ ng

Mixed, naƟ ve hedge species are found throughout 
the district, however elm is the dominant species, 
found in the low, redland soil that exist around the 
Exe and Teign Estuaries; beech hedges can be found 
on high ground around Haldon Hill; and calcareous 
tree and shrub species can to be found in limestone 
landscape south of Newton Abbot.

Find further informaƟ on about how to build, move, 
manage and repair Devon hedge banks at:

Devon Hedge group: Devonhedges.org 
Teignbridge Council: Teignbridge.gov.uk

TradiƟ onally, the size and form of hedgebanks are 
defi ned by their role as a fi eld boundary and need 
to provide an eff ecƟ ve livestock barrier to sheep 
and caƩ le.

The size of the banks can be infl uenced by local 
topography, for example, on sloping sites, dropped 
hedgebanks, some very large, terrace the landscape.

Typical cross secƟ on of one Devon Hedgebank 
construcƟ on method

A dropped hedge bank to a rural lane addresses a 
change of level in a manner characterisƟ c of the 
area.

Nominally 2 - 2.5m  width 
(relates on bank height)

Nominally 900mm

N
om

in
al

ly
 1

.2
 - 1

.8
m

  

BaƩ ered/concave profi les 
to bank faces

Tree and hedge 
planƟ ng

Topsoil

Turf as facing

Compacted 
sub soil built 
up in layers

186



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

128

Public Art is: the engagement of arƟ sts' creaƟ vity that results community or site specifi c art within either 
built or natural public areas that are accessible to a wide audience. The art may be permanent, temporary or 
process based, in any media .

Public Art

Code: DG-GS12 (Public Art)

Public art has the capacity to make a posiƟ ve 
contribuƟ on to physical, social, economic, cultural 
and environmental design objecƟ ves. It can help 
compensate for, through works giving visual and 
emoƟ onal response and miƟ gate the impacts 
of development, through works that help to re-
establish local idenƟ ty and sense of place.

Public art is to be incorporated within Major 
Developments as follows:

Public art principles
1. Public art is to:

1.1. Be accessible to the public being located in 
areas where the public has free and easy 
access, including public buildings. Artwork 
within the private boundary of a site, that is 
fully visible and can be enjoyed by the public, is 
also considered ‘public’ 

1.2. Be bespoke, original, of high quality, designed 
for the community and produced or facilitated 
by an arƟ st or craŌ s person from, where 
possible, Teignbridge, Devon or the South West 
of England, and selected in partnership with 
the council 

1.3. Be well integrated into development
1.4. Be usually related to the geographical areas 

of the development, but someƟ mes where 
appropriate, expenditure may be made that 
contributes to wider area strategies

1.5. Enhance local character, idenƟ ty and legibility, 
and be aimed at building community, a posiƟ ve 
image of the locality, diversity, and creaƟ vity 
such as by:

• LocaƟ ng art in prominent locaƟ ons 
• Being related to place, contextual history, 

local stories, custom and environment 
• Following a creaƟ ve process with local 

communiƟ es where appropriate

1.6. Improve the experience or quality of the built 
environment such as through memory of 
temporary events, parƟ cipatory processes, 
InstallaƟ ons or projects that enhance the 
quality or funcƟ onality of the public realm

2. Delivered

2.1. Projects may focus on the process as much 
as the product and be community based. 
Appropriate art works may include a 
combinaƟ on of the following characterisƟ cs:
2.1.1. Permanent and temporary
2.1.2. External and interior
2.1.3. Embedded and freestanding
2.1.4. Single items and themed

2.2. Public art budgets may be integrated with 
those of other features of the site to improve 
the quality or funcƟ onality of the public realm

2.3. Planning applicaƟ ons are to have clear 
strategies or proposals for the implementaƟ on 
of the public art principles. These should 
demonstrate a coordinated approach to 
delivering public art within a site and express 
a clear themaƟ c approach throughout any 
phased delivery 

2.4. Approaches to and strategies for the 
commissioning of  arƟ st and public art are to 
be agreed with the council 

Public art will not normally include:
• Mass produced objects, reproducƟ ons of original 

artworks or previously unrealised designs; and

• Architectural detail, ornamentaƟ ons, decoraƟ on 
or funcƟ onal elements designed by architects, 
urban designers, landscape architects and interior 
design architects unless in partnership with arƟ sts 
or craŌ s persons

187



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

129

IntegraƟ ng public art into central public areas can be eff ecƟ ve way of building character and reinforcing local 
idenƟ ty.  

Eff ecƟ ve public art in new development projects is oŌ en integrated into public areas with other parts of the 
development to add meaning, refer to site context, and build a posiƟ ve image for the area. 

Public art  can be embedded internally or 
externally or can take more tradiƟ onal forms 
within publicly accessible buildings

188



Building Design
189



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

131

Good Building Design
The main principles of good building design to be 
achieved for all new buildings across the district.

ConstrucƟ on Materials
Guidance for the choice and use of materials within 
the district.

TradiƟ onal Building Materials of the District
Guidance idenƟ fying the principle building materials 
that contribute to the character and idenƟ ty of the 
district.

Common Building Styles of Teignbridge
Examples of familiar building styles found within the 
district, with notaƟ on to explain the arrangement of 
the construcƟ on elements that contribute towards 
their character and appearance.

Materials and Details Standing Advice
Standing advice for the generally acceptable use of 
materials and building features within the district.

Building Types
A reference point for new development based 
on good pracƟ ce and the paƩ erns and design of 
common building types within the district:
• Detached Houses
• Semi Detached Houses
• ResidenƟ al Terraces
• Apartment Blocks
• Civic Buildings
• Commercial uses compaƟ ble with residenƟ al 

development 

• Mews Houses
• Corner Buildings

Shop Front Design
Design advice relaƟ ng to the design of shop fronts.

Building Design
Guidance and codes relaƟ ng to the design of buildings, selecƟ on and use of building materials together with 
building type standards, and shop front design.

190



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

132

Code: DG-BD1 (Good Building Design)

New buildings and new parts of buildings are 
to relate well to their surroundings and show 
architectural quality in the following manner:
1. Context
To be designed to make a posiƟ ve contribuƟ on to 
landscape and townscape, and the streets, spaces 
and buildings to which they relate by:

1.1. Siƫ  ng well within the landscape/streetscape, 
responding well to local idenƟ ty and sensiƟ vity 
through design and fi nishes that are neutral, 
dominant or recessive as necessary

1.2. Being designed to respond to views and vistas 
and to turn corners well, achieving interest and 
a sense of overlooking to public areas

1.3. Defi ning routes and spaces to be aƩ racƟ ve, 
safe and memorable 

1.4. RelaƟ ng the design of buildings to an area's 
hierarchy and scale

1.5. Reinforcing those aspects that make a posiƟ ve 
contribuƟ on towards an area's character and 
idenƟ ty by: 
1.5.1. Using building types, forms, durable 

materials and colours that are derived 
from or relate well to those tradiƟ onally 
found locally, in ways that reinforce their 
paƩ ern of use 

1.5.2. Raising the standard of buildings and 
materials in areas that do not support 
local character well, rather than 
replicaƟ ng exisƟ ng poor quality

1.5.3. Maintaining conƟ nuity and a disƟ ncƟ ve 
sense of rhythm between buildings

2. Architectural Quality
To be well composed, so that:

2.1. ElevaƟ ons are visually well organised,  and  
related to their surroundings, shown by a 
response to:
2.1.1. Hierarchy and enrichment
2.1.2. Scale and proporƟ on 
2.1.3. Uniformity or irregularity

2.2. The detail has a clear relaƟ onship to style 
structure and funcƟ on

2.3. Openings are designed and located to create 

eff ecƟ ve links between internal and external 
spaces, the sizes and proporƟ ons of which are 
appropriate to the architectural design and are 
responsive to local context and idenƟ ty 

2.4. Building form and posiƟ on responds to and 
makes best use of land 

2.5. The arrangement is intuiƟ ve, safe and the 
provision of spaces funcƟ on well for users and 
the purposes for which they are intended  

2.6. Good use of sunlight is made throughout the 
year 

2.7. External services, vents, plant, antennae, 
meter housings, expansion joints, render 
beads, pipe work or similar (not integral to the 
appearance) are out of view from public areas 
or complement the overall design 

2.8. Principal entrances are easily idenƟ fi ed and 
well related to public areas

2.9. They are durable and may be easily adapted to 
meet changing needs over Ɵ me

3. Everyday Needs
To support peoples everyday needs,  for example by 
providing designated well placed spaces for bicycles, 
waste, recycling, storage and drying laundry
4. Equality
To be designed and arranged to be easy to use for all 
and, where relevant, so there are no obvious visual 
diff erences to dwellings based on tenure

Good Building Design: is the manner in which a building relates to its seƫ  ng, the spaces it creates inside and 
outside the building and how it funcƟ ons for its users and for the purpose for which it is intended.  (Building 
RegulaƟ ons control construcƟ on and energy effi  ciency).

Building Design - Good Building Design

Contemporary and traditional interpretations of 
local building styles - both equally valid.N

ea
t A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
e

Image to 
follow

191



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

133

Formal - More likely within urban areas

• RepeaƟ ng forms and paƩ ern

• Openings more uniformly distributed

• More embellishment to windows, doors, walls etc.

• Materials more fi nely fi nished

• Ground and fi rst fl oors taller in some building types

• More abstract proporƟ oning infl uences

• Likely to increase in response to legibility

• Informal - More likely within rural  areas

• Variety of forms and paƩ ern (oŌ en only slight) 

• Openings arranged in response to funcƟ on 

• Less embellishment/enrichment

• Materials simply fi nished

• Storey heights not necessarily consistent

• ProporƟ ons infl uenced by pracƟ cal constraints

• Informality likely to increase away from prominent 
locaƟ ons

Uniformity of openings

Uniformity within a group

Enrichment

ProporƟ on

1

1.618

5-6m

Units repeated having 
similarity in form and 
fi nishes

Greater variety between 
units with but with 
collecƟ ve idenƟ ty

Openings arranged 
to achieve symmetry 
and balance across an 
elevaƟ on

Increased decoraƟ on 
parƟ cularly to principal 
facades

Buildings designed to 
abstracted principles

Simple funcƟ onal 
detailing to building 
features with reduced or 
absent embellishment

Buildings proporƟ oned in response 
to tradiƟ onal techniques pracƟ ces 
and material technology

Window openings divided verƟ cally 
according to rules of thumb

Openings likely to 
be arranged more in 
response to funcƟ on

192



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

134

Code: DG-BD2 (Extensions)

Extensions should be designed to have a neutral or 
posiƟ ve impact on the funcƟ on and appearance of 
the building being extended and the character of 
the area and are to take account the following:

1. Character
Using innovaƟ ve or tradiƟ onal approaches 
extensions are to relate well to the character  of the 
house and its surroundings for example by designing 
in response to:

1.1. Street and building arrangements, building 
appearance and materials, boundary 
treatments, or trees and vegetaƟ on

2. Appearance
Extensions are to have an appearance that:

2.1. complements the character of the host 
building 

2.2. are arranged and constructed in materials with 
colours, size, and fi nishes that relate well to 
adjacent structures and landscaping  

3. Form
Extensions are to complement and be infl uenced by 
the shape of the host structure unless:

3.1. through innovaƟ on or excepƟ onal design, an 
extension would have a neutral or posiƟ ve 
impact on the character of the host structure 
and area

4. Scale, Hierarchy and Massing 
Extensions are to relate well to surrounding 
properƟ es and are to complement and be 
subservient to the host structure unless:

4.1. no detrimental impact would arise as a result 
of the development 

4.2. the development would be compaƟ ble with 
the character of the host structure and the 
surrounding area

5. Amenity Space
Extensions are to be to be designed to retain 
adequate space around the home for present 
and future occupiers and should not result in an 
unreasonable loss of light, overshadowing or have an 
overbearing presence on neighbouring properƟ es.
(see also DG.US6 and DG.US7)

6. Parking and Access
Proposals that aff ect parking and access 
arrangements are to ensure an adequate provision 
of parking and safe access remains as a result of the 
development for exisƟ ng and future users

7. Trees and other features
Trees, hedgerows and boundary walls especially can 
make a valuable contribuƟ on to the way a place feels 
and appears.  Proposals should be designed:

7.1. to retain features that make a posiƟ ve 
contribuƟ on to the way a place funcƟ ons or 
appears

7.2. to miƟ gate for the loss of features with suitable 
alternaƟ ves that would have a neutral or 
posiƟ ve impact

Appearance

The proposed extensions relate poorly to the host 
structure and are out of character with the rest of the 
street: windows  are proporƟ oned poorly, building forms 
contrast with the host without innovaƟ on, there is a 
loss of boundary features and vents and pipe-work are 
prominent...

The overall appearance of the above extensions integrate 
well with the style and details of the host structure and 
support the character of the street. Contemporary designs 
that achieve the same would be equally valid

Extensions: are the enlargement of buildings to provide addiƟ onal or improved capacity or performance and 
for the purposes of this policy include the principles apply to outbuildings and annexes. 

Building Design - DomesƟ c Extensions

oposed extensions relate poorly to the ho

pp

he overall appearance of thhththtttthththhhhhttttt e eeeee abbbbbbbbbbovvvvvvvvve eee exexexexexexeexexexexexexxextettt nsions integ

Good

Poor

193



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

135

Form

These examples acknowledge that the host buildings have 
pitched roofs and are designed accordingly.

The contrasƟ ng forms of these structures could be 
acceptable through innovaƟ ve or excepƟ onal design in order 
to, for instance, reduce the impact on neighbouring properly. 

The extensions above either cumulaƟ vely or individually 
overwhelm the host structure  and are out of proporƟ on 
to it. 

Scale & Hierarchy

Massing

Amenity Space

The combined eff ect of side extensions can have a 
detrimental eff ect on the character of some streets. Leaving 
a space between the extension and the boundary, reducing 
the overall height and leaving a setback from the frontage, 
as shown in the leŌ  example, can help to avoid terracing and 
will assist in reducing the dominance of new structures.

Front extensions may be acceptable where street character 
is informal and varied but can have a negaƟ ve aff ect on the 
character of regular and uniform streets.

 1. Stepping the extension back 
from the primary elevaƟ on 
(especially on historic buildings) 

2. Keeping eaves and ridge 
levels below that of the primary 
structure 

3. Containing dormer windows 
well within the roof plane, 
minimising their size in relaƟ on 
to the roof, or reducing single 
large dormers into a number of  
smaller ones

The extension proposed on the right would reduce the 
available amenity space around the home to a harmful 
level for present and future occupiers.

2

3

1

Depending on the extension envisaged the following can 
help to retain a sense of scale and hierarchy
between original buildings and the new addiƟ ons:

194



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

136

Building Design - ConstrucƟ on Materials

ConstrucƟ on Materials: are those materials that are used in the assembly of structures that make up the 
fabric of the built environment across the district.  These include  buildings, walls and engineering features. 
The choice of materials and the way they are used has a signifi cant impact on local character.

Code: DG-BD3 (ConstrucƟ on Materials)

The choice of materials of construcƟ on and the 
manner in which they are used within the district is to: 

1.1. reinforce local character and idenƟ ty in line 
with the table below.

ConservaƟ on and 
repair of Listed 
Buildings

Extensions and 
addiƟ ons to Listed 
Buildings

Buildings w
ithin 

the seƫ  ng of  
Listed Buildings

Buildings w
ithin 

ConservaƟ on 
Areas or other 
Designated Areas

Buildings aff ecƟ ng 
N

on-Designated 
Heritage Assets

Buildings outside 
ConservaƟ on 
Areas

Acceptable approaches to material selecƟ on 
and use

Locally derived materials or close match 
applied using tradiƟ onal customs, techniques 
and pracƟ ces in order to honour as closely as 
pracƟ cal, historic precedent 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Locally derived materials applied in ways 
to refl ect local building customs, using 
techniques and pracƟ ces that refl ect local 
character

No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Materials that refl ect and work well with 
those that reinforce the character of the local 
and wider seƫ  ng and applied to reference 
and respect local character and idenƟ ty or 
used with innovaƟ on

No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Unacceptable approaches to material 
selecƟ on and use
Locally derived materials applied in ways that 
undermine local idenƟ ty without innovaƟ on

 No No No No No No

Materials that refl ect those found locally but 
used in ways that undermine local idenƟ ty 
and without innovaƟ on

No No No No No No

Materials that are not a good refl ecƟ on 
of those found locally used in ways that 
undermine local idenƟ ty or without 
innovaƟ on

No No No No No No

195



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

137

The materials below are those that are most 
commonly found in the construcƟ on of buildings 
and structures within the district. The consistency 
of their use makes a signifi cant contribuƟ on to the 
character and idenƟ ty of the area. Designers may 
wish use this as a supplementary reference to their 
own studies when  preparing designs - be they 
tradiƟ onally refl ecƟ ve, or innovaƟ ve 

Stone/Cob with render fi nish
Undressed random rubble stone laid on a lime mortar 
bedding is the tradiƟ onal boundary and building 
walling material of the district,  with cob quite widely 
used within rural and farm buildings 
Structures constructed as above tend to:
• Have a protecƟ ve weathering fi nish in lime 

render or limewash to buildings used for human 
habitaƟ on. Ancillary buildings and boundary walls 
are usually  leŌ  in exposed stone form 

• Have deep reveals to doors and windows refl ecƟ ng 
deep wall thickness 

• A dark band near to ground level to obscure/
reduce damp

Dressed stone is more unusual and generally reserved 
for use in buildings with civic or townscape roles 
Common stone types include: 
• Light to dark grey limestones someƟ mes with pink 

or dark veins
• Dark grey shillet and slates
• Red sandstones

Brickwork
Brick is commonly found in the district's larger towns, 
especially those that have good access to railway 
staƟ ons and is typical of development of the Victorian 
era. Pockets appear in other areas across the district 
and also feature as door and window heads and 
reveals in many stone buildings

Structures constructed as above tend to:
• Be constructed in red/red orange bricks that have 

small varieƟ es in hue between bricks.
• Be laid with pale mortars
• Have contrasƟ ng brick bands and decoraƟ on in 

pale cream - but occasionally the brick colours are 
reversed.

• Use special decoraƟ ve bricks to support the 
designs

Timber boarding
Boarding is occasionally found on ancillary buildings 
but is rarely found as a fi nished wall covering to 
primary structures. 

Structures clad in Ɵ mber tend to:
• be leŌ  to weather to a natural grey colour, stained 

or painted black or are occasionally painted 
brighter colours in resort towns.

Slate
Slate is the most common roofi ng material used 
across the district and is occasionally hung as a wall 
covering. TradiƟ onal slaƟ ng pracƟ ces include the use 
of random width and diminishing courses as well as 
the use of scanƟ le slates. Slate roofs tend to be above 
an angle of 30 degrees

Slate roofs and wall coverings tend to:
• be nailed rather than clipped
• have a fl at profi le, (slates normally being circa 

5mm thick)
• have a degree of colour and texture change across 

roofs and between roofs
• be larger sizes on host structures than on smaller 

ancillary roofs and areas of slate hanging

Thatch
Thatch was a common roofi ng material unƟ l its 
replacement by slates following house fi res especially 
in urban areas, but is sƟ ll quite common within some 
rural villages

Thatch roofs tend to:
• have been made of combed wheat straw but many 

have been re-roofed in reed
• have a fl ush ridge and simple hips and gables and 

may incorporate swept ‘eyebrow’ half dormer 
windows but not roof dormers

Clay Tiles
Clay plainƟ les are very occasionally found on roofs, 
mostly within the larger towns, but are the excepƟ on 
rather than the rule. They can have a visually jarring 
eff ect over large areas or within areas that have a 
slate covering.

Metal Sheet
Metal sheet material is oŌ en found as a wall or 
roofi ng material to barns and outbuildings especially 
within the rural areas

Structures constructed with metal sheet tend to: 
• oŌ en be corrugated with small undulaƟ ons
• painted/tarred black, weathered to an iron oxide 

colour, or leŌ  as uncoloured zinc grey.

Building Design:  TradiƟ onal Materials of the District

196



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

138

Building Design - Common Building Styles of Teignbridge

Rendered Town CoƩ age
Simple double pitch 

slate roofs, oŌ en with  
clay ridge Ɵ les

Understated, simple chimneys

Flush verge (no 
barge boards)

TradiƟ onal sash 
windows
set deep 

within wall 
construcƟ on,

normally white

Render walls 
in off  whites 

creams or 
pastel shades

VerƟ cal window 
openings

Stepped plinth 
detail to base 

of wall

Flush eaves 
more oŌ en

Stone or render 
sills colour matched to 

render or detailing

Render detailing

Fanlights above 
doors someƟ mes 

with house  number 

More formal door 
styles with deep 

reveals

Building Styles: This secƟ on sets some of the key features and way materials are used in some common 
building styles across the district. CollecƟ vely these make a signifi cant contribuƟ on to local character and 
idenƟ ty and should infl uence the design of new development. 

197



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

139

Rendered Village CoƩ age

Simple render walls 
with no decoraƟ on 
oŌ en rough texture 

and rounded corners

Mix of verƟ cal 
and horizontal 

proporƟ ons/openings 
usually verƟ cally 

subdivided with sash 
or casement windows

 Only occasional 
exposed lintels

Flush eaves with 
simple fl ush 
Ɵ mber fascias 
oŌ en painted 

black

Ridges in red or 
blue/black clay, 
lead or mortar. 

Hips mitred 

Simple projecƟ ng 
sills oŌ en painted 

maƩ e black or 
coordinated with 

wall or fascias 

Simple 
projecƟ ng sills 
oŌ en painted 
maƩ e black or 
coordinated 
with wall or 

fascias 

Simple porches 
(Ɵ mber 

and slate, 
occasionally 

thatch)

Simple door styles, 
oŌ en with verƟ cal 
planks, set deep 
within the wall 
construcƟ on

Unembellished 
windows set 

deep within wall 
construcƟ on 

oŌ en arranged 
irregularly

Painted plinth, 
oŌ en black

Simple double 
pitch slate roofs 

(occasionally thatch)

Some slate 
hanging to 

walls, normally 
above ground 

fl oor

Informal Rhythm 
to street frontage

198



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

140

Town Stone or Brick Railway CoƩ age

Gables in a variety 
of combinaƟ ons/

sizes 

Elaborately 
decorated 
chimneys

Ordered composiƟ on 
of architectural 

elements with a high 
degree of repeƟ Ɵ on

Main walls can be 
in random rubble 
local stone/brick/

render

Rendered or 
brick string 

courses (oŌ en as 
3 courses)

ContrasƟ ng brick 
string courses

Brick coins to 
window/door 

openings

Panelled doors

Brick quoins to 
window and 

door openings 
(occasionally render)

Individual buildings 
oŌ en combine to 

form part of a larger 
composiƟ on

ProjecƟ ng eaves 
with Ɵ mber eaves 

boards

Decorated 
projecƟ ng verges 

with Ɵ mber 
barge boards

Sash windows 
without glazing 

bars

Decorated semi-circular 
or arched openings 
(brick or rendered)

ElevaƟ ons detailed 
to turn corners well

Slate roofs, which may 
have clay ridge Ɵ les

Simple double 
pitch slate roofs

When in brick, 
oŌ en either red/
orange with pale 
buff  brick detail 
and vice versa

VerƟ cal window 
proporƟ ons

199



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

141

Village Stone  CoƩ age 

Flush verge (no 
barge boards) or 
a fl ush slate or 

lead verge

Generally verƟ cal 
proporƟ ons 
to windows 

(1:1.3/1.5 width to 
height raƟ o)

Random rubble local 
stone (someƟ mes 

painted)

Flush eaves with 
simple fl ush 
eaves board 
usually black, 

only occasionally 
exposed raŌ er

Chunky cut or 
cast stone sills 

(someƟ mes slate 
or double layer of 

roofi ng slates)

Sliding sash 
windows

Arched brick, 
stone or Ɵ mber 
lintel with stone 
or brick reveals

Simple double pitch slate 
roofs with terracoƩ a or 

grey clay ridge Ɵ les

200



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

142

Town Victorian Rendered Terrace

Prominent gables 
in a variety of 

combinaƟ ons/sizes 

Render string 
courses

6 panel doors

Arched 
fanlights

Quoins on corners 
and someƟ mes 
doors (generally 

render)

Strong hierarchy 
of window size 
and proporƟ on 
and decoraƟ on 

(generally white)

Large projecƟ ng 
eaves and 

verges with 
denƟ ls

Formal composiƟ on 
and order to 

design informed 
by tradiƟ onal 
proporƟ oning 

systems

Decorated semi-
circular or arched 
render openings

DecoraƟ ve render 
to lintels and sills

Large sliding sash 
windows (generally 

white)

Slate roofs

Render walls in off  whites 
creams or pastel shades 

201



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

143

Town Regency Rendered Terrace

Simple walls in off  
whites creams or 

pastel shades

VerƟ cal proporƟ on 
windows and doors 
(proporƟ ons vary up 

the building)

Embellishment 
mainly to ground 
fl oor to window 

surrounds, 
rusƟ caƟ on and 

entrances

Concealed eaves behind 
parapet with string lines 

and simple cornice

Overall composiƟ on 
adheres to 
tradiƟ onal 

proporƟ oning 
systems

Occasional fi rst 
fl oor balconies to 

drawing rooms

Occasional 
rusƟ caƟ on to 
ground fl oor

Slate roofs

Strong hierarchy 
of window size 
and proporƟ on

6 panel doors

202



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

144

Roofs
Roof Covering
• Generally natural slate in urban areas. Mostly thatch and 

slate in rural areas
• Slate refl ects local character best when nailed.
• Roofs at or near eye line such as garages and porches 

should use smaller slates (ie 200 x 400mm) 
• In larger development a minimum of two slate types 

should be used per block but slate types should be kept 
common between host and their ancillary buildings

• Avoid materials that have liƩ le resemblance to slate (1)

Ridges and Hips
• Generally, blue/black or terracoƩ a in colour, clay or lead, 

someƟ mes ornate 

• Mitre slate hips parƟ cularly on low small roofs.
• Avoid visible ridge fi xings associated with venƟ laƟ on, ridge 

end caps and ridge Ɵ les on hips to low roofs.

Roof VenƟ laƟ on and ExtracƟ on
• Should not be visible from the front elevaƟ on and fl ush to 

the roof profi le (2)
• Ridge vents should not be used unless they are low profi le 

and not visible from street

• Colours should complement/match roof slope

Embedded Renewables
• Best mounted on rear roof slopes only (3)
• Should be fi Ʃ ed fl ush to roof profi le or in-built
• Panels and frames should match roof covering (normally 

grey or black). (3)

Roof Lights
• Should be designed and fi Ʃ ed to be fl ush to roof profi le
• It is oŌ en preferable to reduce wide panes using mulƟ ple 

small units or subdividing them with verƟ cal glazing bars 
• Should use dark coloured frames or match roof colour (ie 

RAL 2015).
• Best reserved to rear roof slopes

Building Design - Materials and Details Standing Advice  





Standing Advice: The following standing advice represents common good pracƟ ce approaches to the detailing 
and use of materials within the district. The advice is general and will be appropriate for many situaƟ ons. It 
is parƟ cularly relevant to those preparing planning applicaƟ ons or seeking to discharge planning condiƟ ons. 
Material usage should comply with DG-BD1 and DG-BD2



1

32

203



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

145

Dormer Windows
• Dormer cheek materials should complement the exisƟ ng 

roof  (generally slate or lead)
• Overly wide dormer cheeks should be avoided
• Avoid bulky eave and verge details that are out of scale 

with the dormer roof
• The size of dormer windows should not overwhelm the 

scale of the host roof structure

Chimneys
• Capping and chimney style should be infl uenced by the 

building style and have some variety between building 
types

• Stepped projecƟ ng brick courses are parƟ cularly 
appropriate where ornate brickwork is used

Eaves
• Eave styles and sizes should relate to the style and 

hierarchy of the building so that these support a sense 
of legibility and local idenƟ ty. Simple dark coloured fl ush 
styles are widely found.

• Avoid using very similar projecƟ ng box eave details across 
all building types.

Verges
• Verge styles should relate to the style and character of the 

building. Styles vary but many are oŌ en very simple with 
verges fi nished with a fl ush board, a line of slate nailed 
fl ush, lead fl ashing or with render up to the underside of 
the roof covering.

• More formal or embellished arrangements may project 
further as part of the building style have painted 
decorated barge boards and exposed perlins.

Aerials and Antenna
• Communal buildings should be provided with shared 

receivers 
• Avoid antenna visible from the front of the building 

especially when close to the eye line. (4)



Building Design - Materials and Details Standing Advice  - Roofs

4 4

204



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

146

Dressed Stone
• Most oŌ en found as worked stone to form sills in many 

rendered and brick buildings 
• More elaborately used in sills, quoins, window or door 

surrounds or details in combinaƟ on with roughly dressed 
or rubble stone or occasionally brick oŌ en in civic or 
important commercial buildings.

• More oŌ en light grey as natural colour or painted to match 
or co-ordinate with wall or other building parts 

• Where cast stone is used it should follow the paƩ ern of 
use above

Rubble Stone Masonry (including Rubble Stone 
Boundary Walls)

• Use stone of varied sizes that refl ects that found locally 
and  maintain narrow joint widths (typically less than 
20mm joints)

• Stone should be bedded horizontally along bedding plane 
• Stone should be randomly coursed and pointed with pale 

coarse textured mortar
• Stone should wrap wall corners, reveals to openings and 

areas visible within the public realm and avoid exposing 
any cut faces

• May be lime washed in areas where this refl ects local 
precedent

Render Finishes
• Should generally be white or off  white or light pastel 

shades for variaƟ on
• Use rougher render textures and someƟ mes more 

rounded profi les to suggest lower building hierarchies 
• BeƩ er excluded, but where render beads and expansion 

joints are used they are to exactly match render colours. 
Joints should be obscured ie. located behind rainwater 
pipes or at changes in wall direcƟ on  

Slate Hanging
• Limited use across the district. Tends to be on exposed 

walls or gables. SomeƟ mes decoraƟ ve.
• To avoid damage slate should be used in areas above 

ground fl oor and it should be applied across whole 
elevaƟ ons

• Use smaller slate sizes than main roofs. (ie 200 x 400 or 
smaller).

• Should be nail hung

Building Design - Materials and Details Standing Advice - Walls 

205



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

147

Timber Boarding
• Limited use across the district and generally reserved to 

ancillary buildings oŌ en above ground fl oor across whole 
elevaƟ ons

• Should be natural hardwood or durable soŌ wood without 
fi nish, stained or painted

• Should generally be laid horizontally however verƟ cal 
planking may be used where appropriate

Brick 
• Should be selected to refl ect the characterisƟ cs of those 

used locally, such as the disƟ ncƟ ve red/orange or pale buff  
bricks. These have no deliberate tooling to surfaces, and 
vary in colour tone slightly across a wall surface from brick 
to brick to give a rich/warm or slightly varied appearance

• ContrasƟ ng detail and banding is frequently used 
• Bricks are oŌ en laid in Flemish, English Garden Wall and 

Stretcher bond.

Rainwater Pipes and GuƩ ers
• Should be selected and arranged to support the building 

design and co-ordinated with other colours and materials 
of construcƟ on.

• Should use cast iron or cast aluminium materials where it 
is important to refl ect tradiƟ onal pipe work 

Wall VenƟ laƟ on and ExtracƟ on
• Locate ducts, fl ues and venƟ laƟ on grilles so that they are 

not visible from public areas, or mounted on prominent 
elevaƟ ons 

• Should be selected and arranged to be as small as possible 
and match the background wall colour or be hidden/
obscured  (5)

UƟ lity Boxes
• Wall mounted meter boxes should be set fl ush to the wall 

surfaces, coloured to match background wall colours and 
located away from the primary elevaƟ ons, front doors and 
prominent side walls facing publicly accessible areas (6)

• Where ground mounted gas boxes are used, they should 
be set parƟ ally within the ground and colour co-ordinated 
with the base of the wall behind. 

• Ground mounted gas boxes should not be located at 
the front of buildings on shared surface streets where 
pavement surfaces run conƟ nuously to the front of the 
buildings 



Building Design - Materials and Details Standing Advice  - Walls

Image 
to 

follow

Image 
to 

follow

Image 
to 

follow

6

5

206



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

148

Windows
• Generally, panes are proporƟ oned verƟ cally
• Casement windows should be fl ush fi ƫ  ng
• Sash windows should be double hung and sliding
• Trickle venƟ laƟ on is to be obscured or provided 

elsewhere other than the window
• Reveals should be arranged to add depth and 

shadow (7)
• VenƟ laƟ on openings should match frame colours

Sills
• Should be selected and detailed to relate to 

building style and help provide depth and shadow 
to elevaƟ ons (7)

• Types vary but bulky dressed or cast stone, either 
painted, or slate sills are among the most common.

• Avoid creaƟ ng double sills by fi xing windows with 
deep integrated sub sills onto built-in masonry sills

Lintels
• Lintels in most render buildings should be hidden 

but more formal styles may provide decoraƟ on to 
the window head 

• Lintels in brick and stone buildings should appear 
to have structural integrity and refl ect tradiƟ onal 
pracƟ ce

• Steel lintels should be hidden unless consistent 
with the architectural style of the building 

Front Doors
• Styles, fi nishes, ironmongery and frames should be 

consistent with the style of the host building and 
its hierarchy.

• Should be posiƟ oned within walls to provide a 
sense of depth and shadow to elevaƟ ons 

• Should be coloured to complement the streetscene 
and building design. White plasƟ c doors rarely 
reinforce the local character of Teignbridge 

Door Surrounds and Porches
• Should be designed to relate well to building 

character and hierarchy.
• Door surrounds and porches should refl ect good 

local examples in terms of appearance, profi les, 
reveals, materials, fi nishes, and colours

• Classical elements should be detailed correctly
• Where slate, use smaller sizes to porch and canopy 

roof





Building Design - Materials and Details Standing Advice - Windows and Doors 

7

207



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

149



 



Thresholds and Front Access Paths
• Should be designed to meet adjacent surfaces 

without correcƟ ve cross cuts.
• Materials should relate well to adjacent surfaces 

and building materials, such as by avoiding stark 
contrasts to other materials - for example as buff  
yellow with blacktop

Garage Doors, Garden Gates, Doors to Stores
• Colours should be well co-ordinated across door 

types and frames, should complement ground 
surface tones and work well with the architectural 
style and building colours. 

• Ancillary doors should normally not dominate and 
are oŌ en most eff ecƟ ve in recessive colours that 
reduce their prominence and status in relaƟ on to 
host structures

• Styles with verƟ cal panelling refl ect tradiƟ onal 
joinery techniques

• Brick is commonly used to form 
openings in brick and stone walls 
across the district. The brick quoins 
and arches tend not to be exposed in 
rendered buildings 

• Where development seeks to 
reference this local detail, the head 
should normally be arched so that the 
opening appears supported and any 
structural lintel should be overdressed 
in brick



Brick detailing to doors and windows

208



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

150

Code: DG-BD4 (Shop Front Design)

1. Context
1.1. Proposals involving alteraƟ ons should aim to 

enhance the appearance and quality of the 
building where it is poor and to complement 
neighbouring premises and the surrounding 
area. (1)
1.1.1. facias should not span more than one 

property or obscure or require the 
removal of original detail such as facias, 
pilasters or consoles. (2)

1.1.2. facias should not be over large obscuring 
important detail in the building or be 
located or extend above the fi rst fl oor. (3)

2. Retain, Repair, Reinstate
2.1. Unaltered tradiƟ onal style shop fronts that are 

typical and good examples of their Ɵ me should 
be retained as should tradiƟ onal features such 
as stall risers and cornices as they provide a 
valuable source of reference and idenƟ ty in an 
area. SensiƟ ve repairs are oŌ en preferable, but 
where necessary, features should:
2.1.1. be replaced as close to the original as 

possible. 
2.1.2. where missing, be reinstated in a manner 

that is in sympathy with its surroundings.
3. Glazing

3.1. In tradiƟ onal shop fronts verƟ cal framing 
oŌ en subdivides openings to retain a verƟ cal 
proporƟ on. This  helps to relate the openings to 
the host building and gives the appearance of 
supporƟ ng the upper fl oors. (4)

3.2. new or tradiƟ onally styled shop fronts should 
avoid large single panes of glazing that extend 
to the ground and proporƟ oning openings 
horizontally in a manner that makes the 
building above, unsupported. (5) 

4. Materials:
4.1. Materials: used should complement the 

style and period of the building and the area. 
Generally, tradiƟ onal shop fronts require:
4.1.1. natural materials; styled, coloured, and 

fi nished in tradiƟ onal ways. 

4.1.2. Ɵ mber secƟ ons for mullions and 
transoms that are oŌ en not square, 

4.1.3. the use of colours that are oŌ en 
recessive and from tradiƟ onal ranges. 

4.1.4. An absence of illuminated facias and 
signs 

5. Cultural or Historic signifi cance: 
5.1. A shop front may provide a reference to an 

areas tradiƟ ons, or form part of a historic 
feature that is naƟ onally or locally signifi cant.  
A sensiƟ ve  approach to design is likely to be 
required in instances where they:
5.1.1. form part of a Listed Building.
5.1.2. lie within an ConservaƟ on Area.
5.1.3. contain, or are important features in 

their own right.
5.1.4. are representaƟ ve of a local or wider 

style.

Building Design - Shop Front Design

Shop Fronts are: an important component of a town’s  or neighbourhoods character and idenƟ ty.  Together 
they make a valuable contribuƟ on towards a places disƟ ncƟ ve image.  AƩ racƟ ve and well designed shop 
fronts can help to promote a town posiƟ vely, encouraging people to visit, live, and work in an area, and can 
contribute to a place’s aƩ racƟ on, commercial success and prosperity. 









1.

2.

3.

4. 5.

209



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

151

Shop fronts with inconsiderate design or 
unsympatheƟ c adverƟ sing can reduce the 
appearance and aƩ racƟ on of a place. 

Individual shop fronts each play their part in 
promoƟ ng a posiƟ ve and aƩ racƟ ve image for an 
area. 

Cornice

Facia

Architrave 

Console

Entablature

Transom Light

Fanlight

Transom

Pilaster

Mullion

Plinth

Stall Riser

Good shop front design, tradiƟ onal or 
modern, oŌ en contains, or has some 
reference to the basic components 
illustrated. 

Visually, the composiƟ on of the parts 
of the shop front help to give a building 
the appearance that it is supported by 
a logical structure of elements on the 
ground fl oor.  This reinforces the verƟ cal 
character that tradiƟ onal buildings tend 
to have both individually and as part of a 
street.

Typical Shop Front Components

TradiƟ onal Shop Front Styles 
It is important to try to understand what features of a 
shop front make a posiƟ ve contribuƟ on to the character 
of the unit or the area. The period when the original 
building or street was constructed can help to provide 
useful clues for future proposals. 

Georgian Shop Front Styles: Generally between early 
1700 - mid 1800

 A typical form may have a simple frame to the 
windows comprising of verƟ cal columns or pilasters 
supporƟ ng a horizontal component known as the 
entablature.  The design is likely to be based on Greek 
or Roman proporƟ ons, made from Ɵ mber and may 
have projecƟ ng bow windows with small leaded 
panes in Crown glass (blown glass). Timber shuƩ ers 
are oŌ en found.

Victorian Shop Front Styles: Generally between mid 
1800 - early 1900

 A typical form may follow the essence of the Georgian 
style but with increased ornament and funcƟ onality 
with addiƟ onal components such as roller blinds. 
Larger planes of glass are likely. Materials other than 
Ɵ mber start to be used more extensively.

20th Century Shop Fronts: Early 1900 - 2000
Many good shop fronts present today are based on 
simplifi ed designs from earlier periods. Some shop 
fronts make a valuable contribuƟ on to an area’s 
character because they are representaƟ ve of local 
building pracƟ ces. Cultural infl uences such the Art 
Nouveau movement may also be signifi cant. 



210



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

152

Code: DG-BD5 (Detached Houses)

Building Design - Building Types - Detached Houses

The design and arrangement of detached houses 
should be based on those paƩ erns that reinforce the 
character of the district. This is likely to mean the 
following in relaƟ on to:

1. Frequency
RelaƟ vely low in comparison to terrace and semi-
detached house types

2. Scale
Urban and village seƫ  ngs typically 2-3 storeys in 
height 
3. locaƟ on
Units are oŌ en located on: steep slopes where 
landscape sensiƟ vity can be greater, at development 
edges or in key locaƟ ons for legibility on larger plots.
The above scale range means that detached houses 
may be most suited to secondary and fi ne grained 
streets though occasionally will be appropriate on 
primary streets  where they can be suitable as feature 
buildings. This applies to both urban and village 
seƫ  ngs

4. Footprint
Typically, plot widths fall within the range of 6 – 15m. 

5. ProporƟ on
Units should generally be wide fronted properƟ es 
oŌ en having  simple, architectural features and 
proporƟ ons 
6. FenestraƟ on
Formal: may have openings arranged to achieve 
symmetry with increased decoraƟ on on principle 
facades
Informal: (likely in rural areas or lower hierarchy 
areas within urban areas) may be arranged with more 
irregularity with an absence of embellishments

7. Frontage Setback
Urban: typical setback less than 3m 
Village seƫ  ngs: more likely to be greater than 3m but 
no is also common with some plot arrangements 

8. Typical plot arrangements
8.1. Narrow Frontage: A more urban arrangement 

were the building is closely related to its 
neighbours but is set back slightly from them  

behind a narrow but well defi ned boundary
8.2. Behind Frontage: In village seƫ  ngs, larger 

detached dwellings can be set back on land 
behind a street frontage of terraced plots, 
accessed via a narrow drive or passage. 
(common in areas where historic burgage plots 
exist)

8.3. Perpendicular: the entrance is either within 
the end wall facing the street or on the side 
elevaƟ on with an access path through a 
frontage area. The prominent gables should be 
designed to be aƩ racƟ ve and to provide good 
surveillance over the street 

8.4. Deep Setback: In leafy suburban, rural and 
village seƫ  ngs the set back will oŌ en be greater 
than 3m and behind boundary walls or a mix 
of walls or/and hedge combinaƟ ons bordering 
front gardens, someƟ mes accessed via a 
vehicular drive these plots are oŌ en generous 
and have spacious rear gardens also

9. Entrance locaƟ ons
Entrances should be located to be easily legible from 
the street 

10. Parking
Garages should be located and styled to be ancillary 
in character to the host building. Parked vehicles 
should not be a prominent component of the street 
scene (see Parking secƟ on XX)

Poorly arranged detached houses oŌ en 
have:
• Inadequate boundary treatments that fail 

to defi ne and enclose the plot frontage  
and increase the prominence of vehicles, 
driveways, side gables and ancillary buildings

• Too much space to the front of the building 
occupied by vehicles and parking with 
minimal secure private space leŌ  at the rear

• An overreliance on the detached building 
form on relaƟ vely small consecuƟ ve plots 
that create a disjointed street scene

Building Types: are the range of diff erent types of buildings that make up the built environment such 
as terraced buildings or detached buildings. Buildings within each group may share similar funcƟ ons or 
characterisƟ cs and are likely to share similar design issues and opportuniƟ es. The Design Guide looks at 
several building types commonly  used in development 

211



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

153

Image to 
follow

Detached - Narrow Frontage

Detached - Behind Frontage

Detached - Perpendicular

Suitable LocaƟ ons: Generally urban - secondary streets, occasionally primary
1. Suitable as feature buildings (i.e. at the axis of a street)
2. Set back should be adequate to accommodate gathering space if commercial use 

at ground fl oor or to provide defensible space for residenƟ al uses
3. Parking should be provided within a rear secure parking court or on-street

Suitable LocaƟ ons: Generally rural/village - secondary and fi ne grained streets
1. Proposals must not cause unacceptable levels of overlooking to  neighbouring 

properƟ es or have a negaƟ ve impact on residenƟ al amenity. Proposals will 
be considered on a case by case basis but typically this may require minimum 
separaƟ on distances of approximately 20m.

2. Garages and parking should be set back so as to not be prominent from the street

Suitable LocaƟ ons: Generally leafy suburbs/village - secondary and fi ne grained streets
1. End walls should be well arƟ culated with windows and architectural detail 
2. Front doors on end or side elevaƟ ons should act as the primary entrance
3. Gates to gardens which act as a primary entrance should be legible from the street 

with clear property names, street numbers and post boxes
4. Garages and parking should be set back so as not to be prominent from the street

11111

1111111111

1111111

2222222222

3

2

2222

333

4

212



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

154

1.1 Detached Houses

Image to 
follow

Image to 
follow

Detached - Deep Setback 1

Detached - Deep Setback 2

Detached - Deep Setback 3

Suitable LocaƟ ons: Generally leafy suburbs/village - secondary and fi ne grained streets
1. Entrances should be clearly legible from the street
2. Garages and parking should be set back from building frontage to ensure they are 

not prominent from the street
3. The street should be arranged to feel safe and overlooked

Suitable LocaƟ ons: Generally leafy suburbs/village - secondary and fi ne grained streets
1. Entrances should be clearly legible from the street
2. Garages and parking should be set back from building frontage to ensure they are 

not prominent from the street
3. Driveway entrances should be subservient to primary pedestrian entrances

Suitable LocaƟ ons: Generally rural/village - secondary and fi ne grained streets
1. End elevaƟ ons should be well arƟ culated with windows and architectural detail
2. Garages and parking should be set back from building frontage to ensure they are 

not prominent from the street
3. Driveway entrances should be subservient to primary pedestrian entrances
4. Useful for corner plots fronƟ ng footpaths to green space and rural edges

1

1

11111111

22

333333333

2

2

3

3

44444444444

213



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

155
214



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

1

Streetscape
Precedents

Appendix A.

215



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

3

Primary Streets
1.1  The Avenue, Newton Abbot
1.2  Fore Street, Shaldon
1.3 Fore Street, Chudleigh
1.4 Powderham Terrace, Teignmouth
1.5 Den Crescent, Teignmouth

Secondary Streets
2.1 Brunswick Place, Dawlish
2.2  Barton Villas, Dawlish
2.3 Devon Square, Newton Abbot
2.5 Powderham Road, Newton Abbot
2.6 St Leonards Road, Newton Abbot
2.7 Decoy Road, Newton Abbot
2.8  Torbryan Hill, Torbryan
2.9 North Street, Ipplepen
2.10 East Street, Ipplepen

Ter  ary Streets

3.1  Chelston Road, Newton Abbot
3.2 Shoreside, Shaldon
3.3 The Green, Shaldon
3.4 Broadhempston Village
3.5 Waltham Road, Newton Abbot
3.6 Coach House Mews, Chudleigh
3.7 Huntly, Bishopsteignton

Contents

216



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

4

Type: Primary Residen  al Street

Street Character
Descrip  on: Formal street which acts as a primary 
road into the centre of Newton Abbot. Wide avenue 
with two way traffi  c. 2.5m Green verges with tree 
planƟ ng separate the footpath from the carriageway 
on either side of the road. 
The Avenue is linear, set up to frame the view of St 
Paul’s church at the southern end, along with the War 
Memorial at the entrance to St Paul’s Road.
Ambience: Busy street which demonstrates a high 
volume of traffi  c, however the separaƟ on of the 
footpath from the road creates the feeling of a more 
residenƟ al area, off seƫ  ng the busyness of the road. 
Street Width: 25 - 27m frontage to frontage with a 
9 - 9.5m carriageway.
Junc  on Spacing: 35 - 100m.
Gradients: Generally fl at.
Parking: Some on-plot parking in rear gardens 
accessed by rear alley along with some parallel on-
street parking at the southern end of the street.

Built Form
Building Type: Predominantly two-storey Victorian 
terraced dwellings. 
Density: Approximately 40 dph. 
Use: Predominantly residenƟ al
Scale: Generally 2 storey dwellings. 
Plot Width: 5.6 - 6.2m. The street is made up of 
terraced plots which are generally narrow. Roofl ine:
Consistent roofl ine, created by the two-storey building 
heights. Variety of gables fronƟ ng the street in a 
consistent rhythm. 
Materials: The terraced dwellings throughout the 
street demonstrate a variety of materials. The street is 
divided into three secƟ ons; White brick with red brick 
detailing, render and stone. Each of these secƟ ons are 
mirrored on the opposite side. Slate has been used as 
the predominant roofi ng material.

Frontages
Setback: The front boundaries of the dwellings vary 
from 2.7 - 3.7m. The boundary features along the 
street are formal, with low brick and stone walls with 
gate pillars being predominant, with a mixture of 
wooden fencing, hedges and railings. The brick walls 
refl ect the material fi nishes of the buildings, therefore 
being a mixture of brick, render and stone. 

Landscape Elements: The street is a formal, tree 
lined avenue which uƟ lises a grass verge or margin to 
separate the busy road from the pedestrian footpath. 
Many of the dwellings demonstrate on plot hedge and 
shrub planƟ ng, further adding to the green feel of the 
street. 

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:
• Formal, tree lined street.
• Strong architectural idenƟ ty with buildings 

demonstraƟ ng consistent scale and proporƟ ons.
• Consistent boundary treatments and set backs.
• Variety of materials in both buildings and 

boundary treatments (brick/stone/render). 
• Good surveillance on street through strong 

building frontage with frequent doors and 
windows.

• Good pedestrian provision with the busy 
carriageway separated by grass verge and tree 
planƟ ng. 

Nega  ve Features:
• Some damage has occurred to trees which have 

been planted within too close proximity to the 
road.

• The ends of the roads are more industrial 
with uses which do not relate so well the 
predominantly residenƟ al street.

1.1 The Avenue, Newton Abbot

Figure Ground

217



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

5

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

218



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

6

1.2 Fore Street, Shaldon

Type: Village Fore Street which contributes to 
the primary street network

Street Character
Descrip  on: Fairly narrow mixed use primary street 
which demonstrates varying scale and architectural 
and boundary features. 
Ambience: Quiet street in terms of pedestrians, 
however the road is conƟ nually busy (but not fast 
moving). Footpaths are narrow however the street 
feels safe for pedestrian use. Not the most vibrant 
street yet pleasant. 
Street Width: 19.6 - 18m wide frontage to frontage. 
Carriageway is 6.5 - 3.5 m wide. 
Junc  on Spacing: 20 - 95m spacings between 
juncƟ ons. 
Gradients: Generally fl at. 
Parking: Some designated areas of on-street parking

Built Form
Building Type: Predominantly 2 - 3 storey 18th and 
19th century terraced dwellings.
Density: Approximately 45 dph. 
Use: The street comprises a mixture of uses with 
some dwellings off ering retail, cafes and pubs at 
ground fl oor and residenƟ al above. 
Scale: 2 - 3 storeys. 
Plot Width: 4.2 - 16.5m. The southern side of the 
street is predominantly terraced, demonstraƟ ng 
narrow plots of fairly consistent widths. The northern 
side of the street is also predominantly terraced, 
however the plot widths are generally wider. 
Roofl ine: The street demonstrates roofs with mostly 
eaves facing the street with few examples of gables 
and dormers varying the roofscape. 
Materials: The street demonstrates mostly smooth 
rendered buildings with very few examples of red 
brick. Slate acts as the primary roofi ng material, 
however there are very occasional examples of thatch. 
There are a considerable number of bow windows. 

Frontages
Setbacks: Boundary widths vary a great deal with 
some terraced properƟ es fronƟ ng straight onto the 
street whilst others demonstrate larger front gardens 
(up to 17m). Where boundary walls are present they 
are predominantly rendered with plain rendered 
pillars. There is a mix of railings and hedges atop walls 
- some hedge planƟ ng being more substanƟ al in areas 
(parƟ cularly where larger gardens are present). 

Landscape Elements: Landscaping confi ned to private 
gardens with signifi cant hedge and shrub planƟ ng to 
the front of some properƟ es.  

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:
• Consistent architectural style and proporƟ ons.
• Consistent use of render as a material which 

demonstrates variaƟ on in colour.
• VariaƟ on in boundary treatment and setbacks
• Pleasant streetscape with acƟ ve frontage.
• Mix of uses at street level.

Nega  ve Features:
• Narrow footpaths for a well used road.

Figure Ground

219



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

7

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

220



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

8

1.3 Fore Street, Chudleigh

Type: Village Fore Street which contributes to 
the primary street network

Street Character
Descrip  on: Fairly narrow mixed use primary street 
which demonstrates varying scale, architectural styles 
and boundary features. 
Ambience: Narrow yet busy mixed use street which 
is fairly lively. Some interesƟ ng examples of historical 
buildings create a more interesƟ ng streetscape. Lack 
of landscaping creates a very hard feel to the street. 
Street Width: 10 - 15m frontage to frontage with a 4.5 
- 6.5m carriageway. 
Junc  on Spacing: -
Gradients: Generally fl at. 
Parking: A mix of designated and informal on-street 
parking. Some small parking courts to the rear of 
properƟ es accessed from the street.

Built Form
Building Type: 18th and 19th century classical 
style terraced houses with ordered architectural 
proporƟ ons. Examples of early buildings include a 
15th century house, 17th century alms houses and 
17th century Old House.
Density: Approximately 30 dph. 
Use: The street comprises a mixture of uses with 
some dwellings off ering retail, cafes, restaurants and 
pubs at ground fl oor and residenƟ al above. 
Scale: 2 -3 storeys
Plot Width: 3.7 - 12.1m.
Roofl ine: There is a considerable amount of variaƟ on 
in the roofl ine. Dwellings vary from 2 - 3 storeys with 
a mix of gables and eaves facing the street. There are 
also a number of examples of dormers throughout the 
street. 
Materials: Predominantly painted rendered 
buildings (mostly white) with few examples of white 
brick buildings with red brick detailing. Roofi ng is 
predominantly slate. 

Frontages
Setbacks: Most buildings are set directly onto the 
street, however there are a few examples of larger 
dwellings demonstraƟ ng a set up of up to 4m with low 
stone walls adorned with decoraƟ ve railings. 
Landscape Elements: Very liƩ le greenery within the 
street - as most dwellings are set onto the footpath, 
there is very liƩ le on-plot planƟ ng evident.  

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:
• Strong architectural idenƟ ty which demonstrates 

consistent features and proporƟ ons.
• Consistent use of render as a material which 

demonstrates variaƟ on in colour.
• Variety in scale throughout the street with a mix 

of 2, 2.5 and 3 storey dwellings. 
• Good mix of uses at street level. 
• Consistent boundary treatments and very liƩ le 

variety in setbacks. 

Nega  ve Features:
• Lack of landscaping which gives a very hard feel to 

the streetscape.

Figure Ground

221



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

9

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

222



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

10

1.4 Powderham Terrace, Teignmouth

Type: Residen  al primary street within a town 
se   ng

Street Elements
Descrip  on: Single sided residenƟ al street which 
fronts open space. 
Ambience: Seaside street with an open, relaxed feel. 
Grand, consistent architecture and good outlook 
onto soŌ  landscaping and play park. Creates a good 
pedestrian environment. 
Street Width: One sided - approximately 18m 
frontage to back of footpath with a  6.9 - 7.5m 
carriageway. 
Junc  on Spacing: -
Gradients: Generally fl at. 
Parking: Mix of designated on-street parking and on-
plot parking. 

Built Form
Building Type: 3 storey regency style villas. 
Density: Approximately 60 dph (based on the 
assumpƟ on that many properƟ es have been divided 
into fl ats).
Use: Predominantly residenƟ al. 
Scale: 3 storey. 
Plot Width: 8 - 14.5m terraced plots. 
Roofl ine: Consistent roofl ine with gables facing 
the street at regular intervals. Dormer windows 
prominent across roofl ine. 
Materials: Buildings comprise of painted render with 
stone detailing to the ground fl oor storey. DecoraƟ ve 
window surround details throughout. Slate acts as the 
principle roofi ng material.

Frontages
Setbacks: Boundaries are formal and consistent with 
8.2 - 8.8m front gardens. Boundary treatments are 
generally low painted render walls (though there is 
the occasional stone wall) with a variety of hedgerow 
and railings atop. 
Landscape Elements: Front gardens are a mix of 
hard and soŌ  landscaping. Dwellings overlook a play 
park and green space which demonstrates a grassed 
area and shrub planƟ ng. This area gives the street a 
pleasant, green feel.

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:
• Formal, consistent architectural style and 

proporƟ ons.   
• Consistent scale of buildings at 3 storeys. 
• High quality materials.
• Consistent use of render as a material which 

demonstrates variaƟ on in colour.
• Formal boundary treatments and consistent set 

backs which demonstrate mainly low rendered 
walls painted in a variety of colours with a mix of 
railings and hedges. 

• Pleasant pedestrian environment.
• Green outlook over the play park.
• High quality landscaping. 

Nega  ve Features:
• Road could be used as a cut through to car 

parking. 
• Great deal of on-street car parking.

Figure Ground

223



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

11

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

224



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

12

1.5 Den Crescent, Teignmouth

Type: Mixed use primary street within a town 
se   ng

Street Elements
Descrip  on: Mostly single sided mixed use street 
which fronts open space. 
Ambience: Seaside street with an open, relaxed feel. 
Grand, consistent architecture and good outlook onto 
soŌ  landscaping and open space. Lively atmosphere 
which creates a good pedestrian environment. 
Street Width: 22.9 - 29m frontage to back of footpath. 
Carriageway 11 - 12.5m wide. 
Junc  on Spacing: -
Gradients: Generally fl at.
Parking: Mix of designated on-street parking and on-
plot parking. 

Built Form
Building Type: 3 - 4 storey regency style villas. 
Density: Approximately 110 dph (based on the 
assumpƟ on that many properƟ es have been divided 
into fl ats).
Use: Mix of residenƟ al, restaurant/pub, and ameniƟ es 
(i.e. Surgery) at ground fl oor level. 
Scale: 3 - 4 storey. 
Plot Width: 6.3 - 26.4m wide. Mostly terraced plots 
which vary liƩ le in width, larger plot in the centre of 
the crescent which is a bar and restaurant building. 
Roofl ine: Consistent roofl ine with consistent parapets 
throughout. Some dormer windows to properƟ es. 
Materials: Mostly painted smooth render in a variety 
of pastel colours. Some stone detailing to window and 
door surrounds. 

Frontages
Setbacks: Boundaries are formal with large setbacks 
of between 7m-14m. DecoraƟ ve black-painted 
railings with cast iron heads surround the properƟ es 
themselves, whilst car parks lie beyond these. Car 
parking is bounded by low painted render walls. Some 
examples of railings integrated with planƟ ng atop low 
rendered walls are also evident. 
Landscape Elements: Very liƩ le landscaping within 
the streetscape however the dwellings overlook a 
large green open space which demonstrates a grassed 
area and tree planƟ ng.
 

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:
• Formal street which demonstrates consistent 

scale, architectural features and proporƟ ons. 
• High quality materials.
• Formal and consistent boundary treatments which 

demonstrate a variety of low walls and railings and 
very liƩ le variety in set backs. 

• Pleasant pedestrian environment.
• Green outlook over open space.
• High quality landscaping.

Nega  ve Features:
• Wide, busy road.
• Parking very prominent within streetscape.

Figure Ground

225



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

13

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

226



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

14

2.1 Brunswick Place, Dawlish

Type: Secondary mixed use street

Street Character
Descrip  on: One way single sided street which fronts 
Dawlish Water. Mixture of ground fl oor retail and 
residenƟ al. Single sided on-street parking.
Ambience: Street well used by pedestrians and 
frequent vehicles but not overly busy. Street has a 
relaxed and holiday atmosphere helped by fronƟ ng 
onto Dawlish water, park and animal pens.
Street Width: 9.6m street width, 6.4m carriageway 
with 1.6m footpath either side.
Junc  on Spacing: JuncƟ ons at either end of street 
approximately 380m apart.
Gradients: Slight uphill gradient from east to west.
Parking: On-street parking. 

Built Form
Building Type: Mixture of building heights and 
styles from two to three storey. Frequent use of bay 
windows especially on fi rst fl oor rooms.
Density: Approximately 45 dph.
Use: Ground fl oor retail - local businesses, and 
residenƟ al.
Scale: 2-3 storey.
Plot Width: Between 6 - 10m.
Roofl ine: Varying roof height and pitch. Eaves usually 
fronƟ ng the street with some raised dormer windows.
Materials: Predominantly white rendered buildings 
with slate roofs. Stone church.

Frontages
Setbacks: Many buildings front directly onto the 
pavement, a few properƟ es demonstrate larger front 
gardens of up to 5m. Set back buildings have mixture 
of hedges and low concrete walls.
Landscape Elements: Occasional hedge planƟ ng in 
residenƟ al gardens where buildings are set back from 
street. Six metre wide landscape area to the north 
soŌ ens the streetscape with shrub and tree planƟ ng.

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:
• Some consistency in architectural styles and 

proporƟ ons with a variaƟ on in scale. 
• Consistent use of render as a material which 

demonstrates variaƟ on in colour.
• Boundary treatments demonstrate a variety of 

materials and approaches (brick/concrete walls 
and railings/hedges).

• VariaƟ ons in set backs. 
• Varied roof heights and orientaƟ on
• Mix of uses throughout the street.
• FronƟ ng green space and river soŌ ens hard 

streetscape.

Nega  ve Features:
• Low quality hard materials.
• Minimal landscaping outside buildings. 

Figure Ground

227



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

15

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

228



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

16

2.2 Barton Villas, Dawlish

Type: Secondary residen  al street

Street Character
Descrip  on: Wide two-way street with on-street 
parking on both sides. Grand three storey homes in a 
mixture of semi-detached and terraced.
Ambience: Quiet street towards the western edge of 
Dawlish. Street is well overlooked although low level 
of acƟ vity limits feeling of safety.
Street Width: 32m frontage to frontage with a 9 - 
9.5m carriageway.
Junc  on Spacing: 100m.
Gradients: Flat.
Parking: Mix of on-street and on-plot parking.

Built Form
Building Type: 3 storey semi-detached and 3 storey 
terraced homes.
Density: Approximately 30 dph, (based on the 
assumpƟ on that some properƟ es on the north side of 
the street have been divided into fl ats).
Use: Predominantly residenƟ al
Scale: 3 storey.
Plot Width: 6 - 7 m north side of street, 11 - 12 m 
south side of street.
Roofl ine: Consistent roofl ine created by 3 storey 
building height.
Materials: Rendered building in light pastel colours 
with white stone detailing around windows and 
building corners. Slate roofs.

Frontages
Setbacks: The front boundaries of the dwellings are 
approximately 6m deep in the north of the street and 
12m deep in the south. Low block and brick walls 
(some with metal railings atop) and substanƟ al gate 
pillars create a strong edge along the street.
Landscape Elements: PlanƟ ng is constrained to front 
gardens with varying degrees of maturity and amount. 
There are a few small trees in front gardens plus some 
hedges and shrubs.

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:
• Formal street which demonstrates consistent 

scale, architectural features and proporƟ ons. 
• Consistent use of render which varies in colour. 
• VariaƟ on in stone detailing around windows and 

doors. 
• Formal boundary treatments which include low 

walls which demonstrate a variety of materials 
and include a mix of railings and hedges. 

• Grand 3 storey buildings with medium to large 
front garden plots.

• Wide street with space for two way traffi  c and 
parked cars on both sides.

Nega  ve Features:
• Lack of street trees or other planƟ ng.
• Minimal use of street by pedestrians.

Figure Ground

229



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

17

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

230



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

18

2.3 Devon Square, Newton Abbot

Type: Secondary mixed use street

Street Elements
Descrip  on: Formal single sided streets which front 
Saint Paul’s Church and churchyard. One way streets 
with parallel, on-street parking and footway to 
one side. Predominantly terraced buildings which 
demonstrate a mixture of uses including commercial 
and residenƟ al. VariaƟ on in built form/frontage to 
each side of the square. 
Ambience: Quiet streets in contrast to the 
neighbouring Avenue, which demonstrate disƟ nct 
architectural features.
Street Width: Approximately 11 - 17m frontage to 
frontage (single sided) with a 5.5 - 5.9m carriageway.
Junc  on Spacing: JuncƟ ons are located at the corners 
of the square.
Gradients: The northern and western roads slope 
more than the other roads surrounding the square, 
resulƟ ng in the terraced units stepping up the roads. 
Parking: Some on-street parking. Car park within 
central area with allocated residents parking. 

Built Form
Building Type: Predominantly terraced regency style 
villas with landscaped areas to the front of the plot. 
Density: Approximately 15-20 dph. (Density without 
including the central open space approximately 25 
dph).
Use: The streets demonstrate a mix of residenƟ al and 
offi  ce uses. Streets which demonstrate predominantly 
two-storey dwellings have a more residenƟ al feel. 
Scale: 2 - 3 storey. The single sided streets surrounding 
the green demonstrate a mix of two-three storey 
dwellings. 
Plot Width: 6.5 - 10m. Plot widths are generally 
narrow, demonstraƟ ng terraced units with wider, 
double fronted villas on the western street. 
Roofl ine: Consistent roofl ines across the diff erent 
streets, with dwellings demonstraƟ ng 2-3 storeys. 
Predominantly eaves facing the streets with some 
gables at corners and in double fronted units on the 
western street.
Materials: The buildings within the square 
demonstrate a fairly uniform use of materials, with 
render painted in a variety of pastel colours with stone 
details being predominant. Similar uniformity can be 
seen in the use of stone for the boundary walls. Slate 
has been used as the predominant roofi ng materials.

Frontages
Setbacks: The streets surrounding the square 
demonstrate a variety of set backs ranging from 3m 
- 8.5m and boundary features including, stone walls 
and gate pillars with hedges and gates, and low stone 
walls with landscaped front gardens. 
Landscape Elements: Dwellings overlook a green 
square which demonstrates a grassed area, shrub 
planƟ ng and mature trees. This, along with on-plot 
hedge and tree planƟ ng provides a pleasant, green 
environment.  

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:
• Formal streets which demonstrate consistent scale, 

architectural styles and proporƟ ons. 
• High quality, historic architectural features.
• Consistent use of render which varies in colour 

and a variety of stone detailing to windows and 
doors.

• Formal boundary features.

• Mix of commercial and residenƟ al uses.
• Good surveillance on street through strong building 

frontage with frequent doors and windows and few 
blank walls. 

• Leafy, green feel to the streets.
• Well integrated and screened central parking court, 

reducing on-street parking.

Nega  ve Features:
• Eastern street fronted by 3 storey fl ats which do not 

relate as posiƟ vely with surrounding character.

Figure Ground

231



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

19

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

South Street North Street West Street

232



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

20

2.5 Powderham Road, Newton Abbot

Type: Secondary residen  al street

Street Character
Descrip  on: Secondary street close to town centre 
shops. Two way street with on-street parking to one 
side. Street rises up a hill towards a park and more 
residenƟ al areas.
Ambience: Quiet street with very liƩ le road traffi  c. 
Street feels open and well overlooked by two storey 
homes on both side of the road.
Street Width:  Approximately 5.5m carriageway with 
16.5 - 19m distance frontage to frontage. 
Junc  on Spacing: -
Gradients: Fairly steep gradient north to south. 
Parking: Mix of on-street and on-plot parking. 

Built Form
Building Type: Two storey Victorian semi-detached 
dwellings.
Density: Approximately 25 dph.
Use: ResidenƟ al
Scale: Two storey
Plot Width: -
Roofl ine: Consistent two storey roofl ine with gables 
facing the street. 
Materials: Rendered buildings in light pastel colours, 
mostly cream, with white block details around 
windows, doors and building edges. Slate roofs.

Frontages
Setbacks: Setbacks range from 3.6m - 4.6m. Boundary 
treatments include very low walls with a mixture of 
black metal railings or hedges above. Footpaths to 
properƟ es have black metal gates and driveways are 
marked with capped gateposts. 
Landscape Elements: No on-street planƟ ng. Trees in 
park at end of street provide landscape backdrop to 
the urban street. Many plots have substanƟ al hedges 
and shrub planƟ ng. 

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:
• Formal and consistent architectural features, scale 

and proporƟ ons. 
• Consistent use of materials (predominantly render) 

in a variety of colours. 
• Variety of stone detailing to windows and doors. 
• Consistent set backs. 
• Good conƟ nuity in terms of boundary treatments 

which demonstrate a variety of materials and 
approaches. 

• Large bay windows looking into the street. 
• Steep gradient.
• Front gardens, plus footpath creates wide street 

frontage and a sense of space.

Nega  ve Features:
• Lack of street trees.

 

Figure Ground

233



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

21

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

234



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

22

2.6 St Leonards Road, Newton Abbot

Type: Secondary residen  al street

Street Character
Descrip  on: St Leonards road is a secondary 
residenƟ al street which being fl at then climbs steeply 
uphill. There is on-street parking to one side of the 
road. Homes on the street are mostly terraced with 
small front gardens. Bin storage creates some visual 
cluƩ er. 
Ambience: Quiet cul-de-sac with low levels of traffi  c 
use. Two storey buildings are situated with short front 
plots creaƟ ng a more enclosed feel.
Street Width: Approximately 4.5 - 6.5m carriageway 
with 9.5 - 12.5m distances frontage to frontage.
Junc  on Spacing: 200m.
Gradients: Steep uphill from town centre.
Parking: The western side of the road (which 
consists of mostly terraced dwellings) demonstrates 
predominantly on-street parking whilst the eastern 
side (which is predominantly semi-detached 
dwellings) demonstrates mostly on-plot parking. 

Built Form
Building Type: Two storey Victorian terraced homes 
with a few two-storey semi-detached 1930s homes 
further away from town centre.
Density: Approximately 50 dph.
Use: ResidenƟ al.
Scale: Two storey.
Plot Width: 4.5 - 5m terraced and 13m for semi-
detached homes.
Roofl ine: Run of terraced homes with eaves facing the 
street which step up every two dwellings due to street 
gradient. Some terraced homes feature gable ends 
and eaves alternaƟ ng which also feature building plots 
stepped into front gardens. 
Materials: Rendered buildings in a range of colours 
with slate roofs.

Frontages
Setbacks: Setbacks range from 2.5m - 3m. Consistent 
low to medium height walls front the street with a mix 
of fences and planƟ ng atop. 
Landscape Elements: Low amount of landscaping. 
Some on-plot shrubs and plants, but most front 
gardens are small and paved over allowing for bin 
storage.

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:

• Two-storey terraced homes which demonstrate 
consistency in terms of scale, architectural features, 
materials and proporƟ ons. 

• Variety in architectural detailing and render colours. 
• Small front plots defi ned by consistent boundary 

treatments in the form of low walls, however there 
is variaƟ on in boundary treatment details (i.e. 
colour/material/hedges/railings).

• Steep gradient with larger sized plots further uphill.
• Cul-de-sac.

Nega  ve Features:

• Low street acƟ vity.
• Low permeability.

Figure Ground

235



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

23

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

236



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

24

2.7 Decoy Road, Newton Abbot

Type: Secondary residen  al street

Street Character
Descrip  on: Victorian residenƟ al street 
demonstraƟ ng predominantly semi-detached houses 
with generous set backs and driveways. 
Ambience: Wide, landscaped feel to the street, with 
most of the dwellings set back considerably. Though 
the street is predominantly residenƟ al, the road is 
uƟ lised by a great deal of traffi  c, including larger 
goods vehicles. 
Street Width:  Approximately 20 - 23m frontage 
to frontage with 5.5 - 5.8m carriageway. Wide, 
residenƟ al street with two way traffi  c and footpaths 
either side. Traffi  c calming measures in place in the 
form of speed bumps.
Junc  on Spacing:  25 - 100m.
Gradients: Gradual slope, though some parts of the 
road slope more than others. 
Parking: Predominantly garages and on-plot parking. 
Very liƩ le informal parking on-street. 

Built Form
Building Type: Predominantly two-storey detached 
and semi-detached Victorian suburban house types. 
Density:  Approximately 15 - 20 dph. Low density with 
suburban house types.
Use: Predominantly residenƟ al.
Scale: Mainly 2 storey dwellings set back from the 
street with a consistent building line.
Plot Width: 9 - 13m. Wide detached and semi-
detached plots with garages and driveways.
Roofl ine: Generally consistent roofl ine with 
predominantly 2 storey dwellings, though some 
variaƟ on in gables to the front elevaƟ ons. 
Materials: The street demonstrates a variety of white 
brick with red brick detailing and vice versa to one 
side, whilst white painƟ ng render is predominant on 
the other. Most dwellings demonstrate slate Ɵ le roofs.

Frontages
Setbacks: Wide verity of setbacks ranging from 1m - 
12m. Most dwellings are set back considerably with a 
variety of stone and brick boundary walls and hedges. 
Landscape Elements: The street demonstrates a 
landscaped feel, with a considerable amount of 
on-plot hedge boundaries and tree planƟ ng to the 
front of the dwellings. Many dwellings demonstrate 
landscaped front gardens behind stone or brick 
boundary walls.

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:

• Mix of Victorian/Edwardian dwellings which 
demonstrate consistent architectural style, scale 
and proporƟ ons. 

• Consistent use of materials which demonstrate 
variety in details. 

• Formal boundary treatments which vary in terms of 
materials. 

• Large plots.
• Green feel due to on-plot tree and hedge planƟ ng.

Nega  ve Features:

• Busy road uƟ lised by larger goods vehicles.
• Some more modern dwellings which relate less 

to the character of the area (parƟ cularly in the 
northern and southern parts of the road).

• The large set backs and boundary features 
along with the scale of the carriageway create 
a streetscape which feels uncomfortable for 
pedestrians

• Many of the dwellings have front doors to the side 
of the buildings, set back from the frontage. 

Figure Ground

237



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

25

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

238



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

26

2.8 North Street, Ipplepen

Type: Secondary village street

Street Elements
Descrip  on: Narrow, predominantly residenƟ al 
village street with mix of detached, semi detached 
and terraced dwellings. Variety of setbacks evident, 
with strong boundary features. Two way traffi  c street 
with footpaths on one side in the northern part of the 
street. 
Ambience: Quiet, pleasant village character. Low 
traffi  c speeds in the street create a pleasant place to 
walk despite lack of footpath.
Street Width: 13 - 20m frontage to frontage with a 3.9 
- 7.2m carriageway. 
Junc  on Spacing: -
Gradients: Sloping gently in a north west direcƟ on.
Parking: A mix of informal on-street parking and on-
plot garages and parking. 

Built Form
Building Type: Variety of building types including 
terraced coƩ ages, detached coƩ ages and larger 
detached dwellings. 
Density: Approximately 10 dph.
Use: Predominantly residenƟ al. 
Scale: Predominantly two storey residenƟ al dwellings
Plot Width: Plot widths vary widely from 5.5m wide 
terraced plots to 29m wide detached plots. 
Roofl ine: Terraced houses front onto the street with 
simple proporƟ ons and details.  Majority of buildings 
arranged with eaves facing the street, with some 
examples of gable ends and dormer windows fronƟ ng 
the road. 
Materials: Signifi cant variety of materials evident, 
from painted render to stone with brick detailing. 
Roofi ng material is predominantly slate Ɵ le with 
occasional thatch examples.

Frontages
Setbacks: Stone walls are prominent throughout 
in a variety of heights. There are some examples of 
hedgerows and railings. Setbacks are very varied 
with some terraced dwellings fronƟ ng the street and 
larger detached units demonstraƟ ng signifi cant front 
gardens (up to 25m)
Landscape Elements: Landscaping confi ned to private 
gardens with signifi cant hedge and shrub planƟ ng to 
the front of detached properƟ es. 

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:

• Consistency in scale. 
• Variety in architectural style.
• Pleasing mix of local materials.
• Signifi cant variety of boundary features and set 

backs though consistency in boundary materials. 
• Good enclosure within the streets, parƟ cularly in 

areas where terraced housing is more notable.

Nega  ve Features:

• Limited on-plot parking in some areas. 

Figure Ground

239



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

27

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

240



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

28

2.9 East Street, Ipplepen

Type: Secondary village street

Street Character
Descrip  on: Narrow residenƟ al village street with 
predominantly detached dwellings set back from 
the road. Western end of the street has terraced 
dwellings and Ɵ ghter street proporƟ ons, close to the 
village core. Two way traffi  c road with no footpath 
on either side. Strong, robust boundary features are 
predominant throughout. 
Ambience: High boundary features and considerable 
housing set backs in the eastern part of the street 
create a car dominated, movement focused space. 
Closer to the village centre, smaller set backs, stronger 
frontages and less dominant boundary features create 
a more pedestrian friendly street.
Street Width: 17.9 - 53m frontage to frontage, with a 
5.2 - 8m carriageway. 
Junc  on Spacing: -
Gradients: Generally fl at. 
Parking: A mix of informal on-street parking and on-
plot garages and parking.

Built Form
Building Type: Variety of building types including 
terraced coƩ ages, detached coƩ ages and larger 
detached dwellings (toward the east). 
Density: Approximately 15 dph. 
Use: Predominantly residenƟ al with Ipplepen 
Methodist Church on the corner of East Street and 
Dornafi eld Road. 
Scale: Predominantly two-storey residenƟ al dwellings. 
Plot Width: Plot widths vary widely from 5m wide 
terraced plots to 32m wide detached plots. 
Roofl ine: Terraced houses front onto the street with 
simple proporƟ ons and details.  Majority of buildings 
arranged with eaves facing the street, with some 
examples of gable ends and dormer windows fronƟ ng 
the road. 
Materials: Signifi cant variety of materials evident, 
from painted render with stone detailing to stone with 
brick detailing. Roofi ng materials vary from slate Ɵ le 
to thatch.

Frontages
Setbacks: Stone walls are prominent throughout 
in a variety of heights. Hedges and railings are also 
prominent. Set backs vary a great deal, with some 
terraced dwellings fronƟ ng directly on to the street 
and larger detached units demonstraƟ ng signifi cant 
front gardens (up to 25m).
Landscape Elements: Landscaping confi ned to private 
gardens with signifi cant hedge and shrub planƟ ng to 
the front of detached properƟ es.  PlanƟ ng within the 
front gardens in the western part of the street soŌ ens 
the predominately hard streetscape.

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:

• Consistency in scale. 
• Variety in architectural style.
• Pleasing mix of local materials.
• Signifi cant variety of boundary features and set 

backs though consistency in boundary materials. 
• Good enclosure within the streets in areas closer 

to the village core (where terraced housing is more 
notable).

Nega  ve Features:

• A poor relaƟ onship between building frontages and 
street with large setbacks and poor intervisibility 
contributes to a vehicle dominated street which 
could funcƟ on beƩ er in regards to pedestrians.

Figure Ground

241



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

29

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

242



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

30

2.10 Torbyran Hill

Type: Secondary village street

Street Elements
Descrip  on: Street curves through small village. 
Mixture of detached homes and short-terraces, 
predominantly two storeys high.  DisƟ ncƟ ve building 
layout, with buildings perpendicular to lane.
Ambience: Quiet village atmosphere, lack of traffi  c 
combined with low traffi  c speeds creates a pleasant 
place to walk despite lack of footpath.
Street Width: 4.5 - 7m wide gently winding two way 
road without marked footpaths.
Junc  on Spacing: -
Gradients: Gently climbing road from east to west.
Parking: Mostly on-plot due to large, informal plot 
types. Very few examples of informal on-street 
parking. 

Built Form
Building Type: Farm houses and short terraces of 
coƩ ages and some 1980s detached housing. 
Density: Low density - approximately 10-15 dph.
Use: ResidenƟ al and farm buildings.
Scale: Two storey.
Plot Width: Varies. 
Roofl ine: Majority of buildings arranged with 
ridgelines perpendicular to street, and gable end 
facing the street.
Materials: Some stone buildings, rendered coƩ ages 
and houses with slate roofs plus a few with thatch.

Frontages
Setbacks: Most properƟ es have no setbacks, some are 
posiƟ oned perpendicular to the lane, there are a few 
modern properƟ es which have a larger setback of up 
to 19m. Medium and low stone walls, naƟ ve hedges, 
Ɵ mber gates, house walls directly bounding roadway. 
Stream alongside roadway.  Some rough stone cobbles 
defi ne plot frontages.
Landscape Elements: Shrubs and trees within plots, 
fi eld hedges bordering the street together with 
countryside views.

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:

• Predominantly two-storey terraced dwellings 
which demonstrate consistency in terms of scale, 
architectural style and proporƟ ons. 

• Simple paleƩ e of materials for both buildings and 
boundary treatments.  

• Consistent boundary treatments and set backs.
• IntegraƟ on of landscape creates strong, pleasant 

character.
• Quiet village with countryside views
• Road funcƟ ons well for pedestrians and traffi  c due 

to low volume and speed.
• Perpendicular arrangement of buildings to street 

frontage.

Figure Ground

243



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

31

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

244



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

32

3.1 Chelston Road & Surrounding Streets, Newton Abbot

Type: Ter  ary residen  al streets 

Street Character
Descrip  on: Formal residenƟ al Victorian streets home 
to a mix of terraced and semi-detached dwellings with 
a variety of set backs and boundary treatments. 
Ambience: Quiet, pleasant, permeable residenƟ al 
streets which feel formal and safe. 
Street Width: Approximately 6.5 -7.5m carriageway. 
Front gardens vary a great deal street to street 
therefore frontage to frontage distances also vary 
widely. 
Junc  on Spacing: Frequent juncƟ ons determined by 
perimeter blocks.
Gradients: Moderate gradients in some areas.
Parking: Predominantly on-street parking with some  
rear garages and on-plot parking accessed via rear 
lanes. 

Built Form
Building Type: The streets are made up of 
predominantly 2 storey, Victorian terraced dwellings 
(though there are some examples of semi-detached 
dwellings). Some streets demonstrate Victorian 
verandah features which add interest to the frontage. 
Density: Approximately 40 dph. 
Use: Predominantly residenƟ al use focused around a 
church. 
Scale: 2 storey residenƟ al dwellings. 
Plot Width: Approximately 5 - 6m predominantly 
terraced plots. 
Roofl ine: The roofl ines across the streets are formal 
and consistent with a great deal of decoraƟ ve gables 
fronƟ ng the street. 
Materials: The dwellings demonstrate a variety of 
red brick dwellings with white brick detail and vice 
versa. There is a mixture of stone and brick uƟ lised for 
boundary treatments. 

Frontages
Setbacks: Setbacks range from 2.8m - 7.7m. All 
dwellings are set back from the footpath, and all 
demonstrate formal boundary treatments. These vary 
between stone and brick, oŌ en demonstraƟ ng stone 
walls with brick pillars. There is a consistent paƩ ern of 
hedgerows atop boundary walls, however there are 
also some examples of decoraƟ ve railings. 

Landscape Elements: Landscaping is confi ned to 
the front gardens, however there is a considerable 
amount of on-plot planƟ ng which gives the streets a 
fairly green feel. 

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:
• DisƟ nct, consistent formal Victorian architectural 

features and proporƟ ons. 
• Consistent scale at 2 storeys.
• Consistent boundary treatments and building 

materials street by street which demonstrate a 
variety of materials and approaches. 

• Permeable street network. 
• Quiet, pleasant feel to the streetscape. 

Nega  ve Features:
• A great deal of on-street parking. 

Figure Ground

245



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

33

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

246



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

34

3.2 Shoreside, Shaldon

Type: Residen  al cul-de-sac 

Street Character
Descrip  on: Featuring a circular landscaped park 
overlooked by new development. Rear mews type 
streets with parking courts and garages overlooked by 
two-sided homes and dwellings above garages.
Ambience: Quiet during the day with minimal 
pedestrian use. Planted circular green space soŌ ens 
buildings and the hard landscape creaƟ ng a relaxing 
streetscape. Fence surrounding landscaped space 
obstructs free movement, and does not feel like part 
of the streetscape.
Street Width: 12-18m between building frontages. 
40m between frontages across central green space. 
3-6.1m carriageway width.
Junc  on Spacing: Between 25-40m
Gradients: Flat.
Parking: Predominantly rear on-plot garages and 
allocated spaces. Some examples of coach houses. 

Built Form
Building Type: 2-2.5 storey residenƟ al homes.
Density: Approximately 55 dph.
Use: ResidenƟ al only.
Scale: 2-2.5 storey homes.
Plot Width: Between 6 - 10m.
Roofl ine: Roofl ines consistent across the street with 
eaves facing the road.
Materials: Coloured render in red, white and pastel 
shades. Slate roofs.

Frontages
Setbacks: There are a vast variety of setbacks, ranging 
from 1.5m - 6m. Boundary treatments are principally 
low white rendered walls with some hedging above 
and some black metal railings. Due to some properƟ es 
having small north facing back  gardens, in some cases 
the front gardens are used as the main garden space, 
with tables and chairs set out.
Landscape Elements: Large landscaped central space 
with varied species of trees and shrub planƟ ng. 
On-plot planƟ ng consists of occasional hedges and 
gardens shrubs. Parking areas generally harder with 
limited planƟ ng.

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:

• Modern dwellings which demonstrate consistent 
architectural style, and proporƟ ons. 

• Some variety in scale between 2 - 2.5 storeys. 
• Consistent use of materials which demonstrate 

variety in colours and details. 
• Formal boundary treatments which demonstrate 

consistent use of materials. 
• Central overlooked landscaped area.
• Pastel coloured render mirrors local character.
• Overlooked parking courts off er natural 

surveillance.

Nega  ve Features:

• Fence around landscape area limits use of green 
space.

• Cul-de-sac layout limits permeability and pedestrian 
use of space.

Figure Ground

247



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

35

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

248



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

36

3.3 The Green, Shaldon

Type: Ter  ary residen  al streets

Street Character
Descrip  on: TerƟ ary residenƟ al street looking across 
bowling green. Small front gardens and narrow streets 
with on-street parking on one side.
Ambience: Quiet streets with low levels of acƟ vity.
Street Width: Approximately 7-8m between 
building frontage and bowling green. Carriageway 
approximately 5m wide.
Junc  on Spacing: Approximately 50m.
Gradients: Flat.
Parking: Predominantly on-street parking on edge of 
central green space. Some on-plot parking to the front 
of properƟ es such as B&B and local pub. 

Built Form
Building Type: Late 18th and early 19th century 
housing with a mixture of fl at and bay windows. 
Most homes feature central front door with two 
symmetrically placed windows either side and three 
above.
Density: Approximately 30 dph (35 dph not including 
the bowling green area).
Use: ResidenƟ al street with leisure acƟ vity.
Scale: Almost exclusively two-storey with some 2.5 
storey. Floor to ceilings heights are generally quite 
low. 
Plot Width: Approximately 6m.
Roofl ine: Uniform roofl ine with slight variaƟ on in 
house heights. Eaves facing towards the street.
Materials: Rendered fi nish in white or pale pastel 
shades. Slate roofs.

Frontages
Setbacks: there is a variety of setbacks ranging from 
2.2m - 13m. Boundary treatments include a mixture of 
low rendered walls, walls with metal railings, hedges 
and stone walls.
Landscape Elements: Aside from the grass bowling 
green itself, limited planƟ ng. Few on-plot hedges and 
some on-plot planƟ ng on the western side which 
helps to soŌ en the built environment.

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:

• Consistent architectural styles, scale and proporƟ on 
throughout. 

• Consistent use of render with variaƟ on in colour.
• Variety of window details.
• Variety of set backs and boundary treatments 

which demonstrate mix of materials. 
• Streets laid out in a triangular plan surrounding the 

bowling green.   
• Building height is low despite two-storeys creaƟ ng 

an inƟ mate scale to the street.

Nega  ve Features:

• Pedestrian/vehicle confl ict in narrow streets, 
although low vehicle use.

• Lacking street trees.

Figure Ground

249



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

37

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

250



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

38

3.4 Broadhempston

Type: Mix of secondary and ter  ary village 
streets

Street Character
Descrip  on: Streets wind through village. Shops are 
clustered around a small village square which also has 
a church, school and post offi  ce. The rest of the village 
contains residenƟ al homes in varying plot sizes.
Ambience: Quiet village without much vehicle traffi  c, 
buildings close to, and facing the street, means streets 
feel safe for pedestrians.  
Street Width: Winding two way village streets 
without defi ned footpath. Occasional on street 
parking. Distance between building frontages varies 
between 27m - 5.1m. Carriageway varies between 
approximately 4.9 - 6.7m wide.
Junc  on Spacing: Not many juncƟ ons. Spacing 
between 80 - 150m between.
Gradients: Mostly level streets running east to west, 
with moderate gradient between north and south 
part of the village.
Parking: Considerable amount of informal on-street 
parking, some examples of on-plot garages and 
parking spaces. Parking square in village centre caters 
for use of local ameniƟ es. 

Built Form
Building Type: Mixture of two storey terraced and 
detached buildings and one or two bungalows.
Density: Approximately 15 - 20 dph.
Use: Largely residenƟ al with commercial, educaƟ on 
and place of worship focussed in a triangular juncƟ on 
in the north of the village.
Scale: Two storey.
Plot Width: Varies between 22m+ down to 4.7m.
Roofl ine: Eaves generally face towards street.
Materials: Buildings are stone or render, usually 
painted white slate roofs.  Consistent use of casement 
windows, predominately Ɵ mber.

Frontages
Setbacks: There are a variety of setbacks ranging from 
terraced dwellings fronƟ ng directly onto the street 
to larger detached properƟ es demonstraƟ ng up to 
17m. Some properƟ es have small front plots or more 
substanƟ al gardens bounded by stone walls.
Landscape Elements: Trees, hedges and shrub 
planƟ ng within private gardens.

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:

• Consistency in scale. 
• Variety in architectural style.
• Limited number of materials and strong vernacular 

details create consistent and pleasing built form.
• Signifi cant variety of boundary features and set 

backs though consistency in boundary materials. 
• Buildings overlooking the street create a posiƟ ve 

relaƟ onship in the public realm.
• Extensive trees and shrubs within private gardens, 

and naƟ ve trees in wider landscape, creates green 
and leafy character

• Narrow streets funcƟ on well as shared spaces.
• Limited number of materials and strong vernacular 

details create consistent and pleasing built form.

Figure Ground

251



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

39

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

252



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

40

3.5 Waltham Road, Newton Abbot

Type: Ter  ary residen  al street

Street Elements
Descrip  on: Quiet, formal, terƟ ary street which 
comprises residenƟ al Victorian terraced railway 
coƩ ages. Narrow street with single carriageway 
and parallel on-street parking to one side. Narrow 
footpaths either side of the carriageway. 
Ambience: Narrow, enclosed feeling to the street in 
contrast to neighbouring Wolborough Street. 
Street Width: 10.5 - 11m frontage to frontage with a 
carriageway of 4.8m. 
Junc  on Spacing: Lack of juncƟ ons. 
Gradients: Gently sloping northwards resulƟ ng in the 
terraced units stepping up the street.  
Parking: On-street parking. 

Built Form
Building Type: The street consists of two storey 
Victorian terraced railway coƩ ages.
Density: Approximately 80 - 85 dph. 
Use: Predominantly residenƟ al. 
Scale: Two-storey
Plot Width: Approximately 5m. The street is made up 
of terraced plots which are generally narrow.
Roofl ine: The roofl ine is consistent across the street, 
with all eaves facing the road.
Materials: Consistent materials have been used 
throughout the street with stone acƟ ng as the primary 
material with red brick detailing. Slate has been used 
as the predominant roofi ng material. 

Frontages
Setbacks: The front boundaries of the dwellings vary 
from 1.7 - 2.2m. The boundary features along the 
street are formal, with low red brick and stone walls 
with gate pillars being predominant. A mixture of 
wooden fencing, hedges and railings are also evident. 
Landscape Elements: Minimal on-plot shrub and 
perennial planƟ ng.

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:

• Uniform and historic architectural features and 
proporƟ ons which demonstrate consistent use of 
materials.

• Formal and consistent boundary features and set 
backs. 

• Good surveillance on street through strong building 
frontage with frequent doors and windows.

Nega  ve Features:

• Lack of landscape features.
• RaƟ o of parking to homes could be considered 

inadequate.
• No-through road creates impermeability. 

Figure Ground

253



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

41

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

254



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

42

3.6 Coach House Mews, Chudleigh

Type: Ter  ary mews street within a village 
se   ng

Street Character
Descrip  on: Modern gated mews development which 
comprises new terraced and coach house dwellings.
Ambience: Very quiet gated community with liƩ le to 
no street acƟ vity.
Street Width: Single sided streets which are 5.5 - 6m 
wide (frontage straight onto shared surface).
Junc  on Spacing: -
Gradients: Generally fl at.
Parking: Allocated parking within coach houses and 
on-street. 

Built Form
Building Type: Modern 2 storey terraced dwellings 
and fl ats above garages. 
Density: Approximately 30 - 35 dph. 
Use: ResidenƟ al. 
Scale: One sided street which comprises of 2 storey 
terraced dwellings and fl ats over garages. 
Plot Width: Approximately 7 - 10m.
Roofl ine: Consistent roofl ine with eaves facing the 
street. Some dormer details present. 
Materials: Smooth white painted render terraced 
dwellings and fl ats above garages which demonstrate 
white painted render buildings with stained Ɵ mber 
cladding to the upper storey. Slate or slate style Ɵ les 
are uƟ lised for a roofi ng material. 

Frontages
Setbacks: All dwellings front directly onto the mews 
street, boundaries are defi ned with contrasƟ ng block 
paving which adjoins the tarmac carriageway. 
Landscape Elements: No Landscaping evident. 

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:

• Modern development
• Consistent architectural features and proporƟ ons.
• Narrow, shared surface street.
• Boundaries defi ned through paving. 
• Cohesive colour paleƩ e. 

Nega  ve Features:

• ‘Gated community’.
• DisƟ nct lack of landscaping.
• No through road creaƟ ng impermeability.

Figure Ground

255



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

43

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

256



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

44

3.7 Huntly, Bishopsteignton

Type: Ter  ary mews street within a village 
se   ng.

Street Character
Descrip  on: Modern gated mews development which 
comprises new coach house dwellings and renovated 
stone house. 
Ambience: Very quiet with liƩ le to no street acƟ vity.
Street Width: Approximately 6m wide frontage to 
frontage. 
Junc  on Spacing: - 
Gradients: Generally fl at. 
Parking: All parking within coach house garages. 

Built Form
Building Type: Renovated local stone building and 
modern fl ats over garages
Density: 30 - 35 dph. 
Use: ResidenƟ al. 
Scale: 2 storey dwellings and fl ats over garages. 
Plot Width: -
Roofl ine: Modern fl ats over garages demonstrates 
consistent roofl ine with dormer window details across 
the roofscape. Renovated building demonstrates 
interesƟ ng roof details with varying sized gables facing 
the street. 
Materials: Red stone building facade with edges and 
window surrounds demonstraƟ ng smooth cut stone 
details. Coach house demonstrates painted render to 
the garages, with brick at the second fl oor. Slate or 
slate style Ɵ les are evident for roofi ng materials. 

Frontages
Setbacks: All properƟ es front directly onto the mews 
street. Narrow planƟ ng edge defi nes the buildings 
from the shared surface road area. This has been 
uƟ lised for poƩ ed plants. 
Landscape Elements: Boundary edging is the only 
form of soŌ  landscaping evident. Generally feels like a 
very hard streetscape. 

Summary
Dis  nc  ve Features:

• Modern example of a mews street. 
• Good quality materials used. 
• Cohesive colour paleƩ e.

Nega  ve Features:

• Quiet, ‘gated community’.
• Limited interacƟ on with the street at ground fl oor 

level.
• No through road creaƟ ng impermeability.

Figure Ground

257



T E I G N B R I D G E  D E S I G N  G U I D E

45

Street Character:

Street Sec  ons:

Built Form:

Frontages:

258



BACK COVER

259



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7a NEWTON ABBOT 17/02793/FUL, Waste Bulking Station, Brunel Road - Demolition of existing pre-cast concrete silo and erection of new portal framed unit to house new sort line and baler equipment
	7b TEIGNMOUTH - 17/02668/FUL - 44 Higher Brimley Road - Change of use of dwelling to HMO (House in Multiple Occupation)
	7c STARCROSS 17/02632/FUL, 9 Royal Way - Two storey extension and conversion of integral garage into a study
	7d STARCROSS 17/02727/FUL - Brickhouse Farm Barn, Mamhead - Conversion of storage barn to wedding/function venue including new access track, associated parking and landscaping
	7e STARCROSS 17/02759/LBC - Brickhouse Farm Barn, Mamhead - Conversion works to storage barn to use as wedding/function venue including new access track, associated parking and landscaping
	7f WOODLAND 17/02827/FUL, Chardonnay - Extension to existing authorised gypsy site to provide two additional, pitches
	8 Adoption of Criteria for Assessment of Local Heritage Assets - Register for Local Heritage Assets
	7g.Local listing report.Appendix.1 draft selection criteria.
	7g.Local listing report.Appendix 2.consultation comments

	9 Appeal Decisions
	10 Teignbridge Residential Design Guide
	7h.Design Guide Report App A
	7h.Design Guide Report App B
	7h. Design Guide  web




